University of Alberta

Regulation of secretion of parathyroid hypertensive factor

by



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**.

Department of Physiology

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2003

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisisitons et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-82171-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-82171-4

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.



University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author:

Sharla Kae Sutherland

Title of Thesis:

Regulation of secretion of parathyroid hypertensive factor

Degree:

Doctor of Philosophy

Year This Degree Granted: 2003

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Markes

Sharla Kae Sutherland

Box 13, Site 2, R. R. 3 Barrhead, Alberta Canada, T7N 1N4

<u>January 28, 2003</u> Date submitted to FGSR

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled **Regulation of secretion of parathyroid hypertensive factor** submitted by *Sharla Kae Sutherland* in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chrowtown Shew Christina, G. Benishin (Supervisor)

Johanne Tremblay (External examiner)

\$ 2

Loren W

Richard Z. Lewanczy

Sandra T. Ravidge

Susan Jacobs (Chairperson)

January 27, 2003 Date approved by committee

For mom, dad, Chris, and Marc; my family, my life. Your support, love, and understanding are invaluable.

Abstract

Low-renin hypertension, a subset representing 30-40% of all essential hypertension, displays several abnormalities in the Ca²⁺-regulating system including hypocalcemia, elevated 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25-(OH)₂D₃), and increased parathyroid gland (PTG) activity. This increased PTG activity is manifested through elevated plasma parathyroid hormone (PTH) and the newly described parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF), a substance which is believed to play a causal role in the pathogenesis of hypertension. The work presented here investigates the regulation of PHF secretion both directly, and indirectly through regulation of parathyroid cell proliferation, in the low-renin hypertensive rat model, spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) and the normotensive genetic control Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats.

SHR parathyroid cells (PTC) were shown to proliferate at a faster rate, and grow to a greater plateau density than WKY PTC. As well, exposure to either low extracellular (EC) Ca^{2+} or 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ was associated with increased PTC number. SHR PTC also secreted PHF to a greater extent than WKY PTC under basal conditions. Low EC Ca^{2+} rapidly and differentially stimulated PHF release depending on the rat strain, model used, and the density of the cell culture. The extent of stimulation may be partially explained by strain differences and cell density-related changes in calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) protein since the CaR was shown to play an important role in mediating the effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release. 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ also rapidly stimulated PHF release with enhanced sensitivity in SHR vs WKY cultures indicated by a leftward shift in the dose-response curve, whereas 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ had the converse effect. As well, evidence suggested potential involvement of the plasma membrane-bound vitamin D receptor 1,25VDR_{mem}, which was increased in SHR versus WKY parathyroid cells in the mechanism of action of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$.

These results support the idea that PTG hyperplasia exists in low-renin hypertension in rats and could indirectly contribute to elevated plasma PHF. Furthermore, these data also suggest that hypocalcemia and $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may contribute to elevated plasma PHF in the SHR.

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend an enormous thank-you to my supervisor Dr. Christina Benishin for sharing her wisdom and insights with me and providing me with guidance and friendship over the years. I am also grateful to my committee members, Dr. Richard Lewanczuk and Dr. Loren Kline for their advise and assistance throughout my PhD, as well as their support for a somewhat controversial subject area. CV Technologies and Drs Jackie Shan and Liana Urichuk in particular were also incredibly helpful and will probably prove to have been instrumental in influencing my career choices. I would also like to thank Dr. Johanne Tremblay and Dr. Sandy Davidge for their absolutely superb job in evaluating my thesis and their contributions to my education. Immense gratitude is also felt for all lab members past and present, in particular Teresa Labedz, Victoria Inglis, Meili Zhang, Haiyan Jiao, Chad Wu and the hilarious summer students over the years for making the lab such a positive, supportive, and fun environment in which to work. Thanks to Dr. Ba Fang for being such an amazing teacher and role model in life and learning as well as a tremendous friend. The special graduate students who I have been privileged enough to work with and become friends with including Deborah Sterling, Jennie Young, Elaine Sims, Amy Murphy, Rebecca Lam and Marie-Laure Baudet also receive huge thanks for making the tough moments easier and the great moments memorable. A gigantic hug and a martini goes out to my best friend Ni Lam for being a kindred spirit and being there for me in so many important ways. And of course, Dr. Marc Ridyard, with whom I share my life, deserves the greatest thanks for tolerating my slight OCD tendencies and making me always feel special and loved. Finally, thanks to my volleyball teammates, past and present who mean the world to me and who I probably owe my sanity to (or is that insanity?)—swing away!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	LITERATURE REVIEW	
	1.1 Introduction	2
	1.2 Calcium metabolism	4
	1.2.1 Overview	5
	1.2.2 Calcium-regulating hormones	6
	1.2.2.1 Calcitonin	6
	1.2.2.2 Vitamin D metabolites	6
	1.2.2.3 PTH and PTHrP	7
	1.2.3 Receptors	8
	1.2.3.1 PTH Receptors	8
	1.2.3.2 Vitamin D Receptors	. 9
	1.2.3.3 Calcitonin Receptors	12
	1.2.4 Role of bone in Ca^{2+} homeostasis	12
	1.2.5 Role of the intestines in Ca^{2+} homeostasis	14
	1.2.6 Role of the kidneys in Ca ²⁺ homeostasis	15
	1.2.7 Parathyroid Glands	16
	1.2.7.1 Regulation by EC Ca^{2+}	17
	1.2.7.2 Regulation by vitamin D metabolites	18
	1.2.7.3 Regulation by Phosphate	20
	1.2.7.4 Other substances secreted from PTG	21
	1.2.7.4.1 Chromogranin	21
	1.2.7.4.2 Endothelins	22
	1.3 Association between Hyperparathyroidism and Hypertension	23
	1.3.1 Hyperparathyroidism	23
	1.3.2 Hypertension	25
	1.3.2.1 Blood pressure	25
	1.3.2.2 Hypertension—diagnosis, prevalence, and research	25
	1.3.2.3 The Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat	26
	1.3.2.4 Disturbances in calcium metabolism in essential hypertension	27
	1.3.2.5 Renin profiling in essential hypertension	28
	1.3.2.6 Role of calcium in low-renin hypertension	29
	1.3.2.7 Role of vitamin D3 metabolites in hypertension	30
	$1.3.2.7.1 1,25-(OH)_2D_3$	30
	$1.3.2.7.2$ $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$	32
	1.3.2.8 Unifying hypothesis for essential hypertension	33
	1.3.3 Involvement of PTG in low-renin hypertension	34
	1.3.3.1 Parathyroid abnormalities in low-renin hypertension	35
	1.3.3.2 Cardiovascular effects of PTH	36
	1.4 Parathyroid Hypertensive Factor	38

	$1.4. \\ $	 Discovery of PHF Purification and source of PHF Mechanism of action Involvement of PHF in low-renin hypertension PHF Structure Regulation of PHF secretion 				
	1.5	Summary				
	1.6	Hypothesis				
	1.7	Aims of the thesis				
	1.8	Claims of Originality				
	1.9	REFERENCES				
2	ABNORMAL FEATURES OF SHR PARATHYROID CELLS					
	2.1	Introduction				
	2.2 2.2. 2.2. 2.2. 2.2. 2.2. 2.2.	Materials & Methods 83 1 Materials 83 2 Preparation of Parathyroid Cell Cultures and Determination of Parathyroid 2 Cell Viability 84 3 Morphological Characterization of Cell Death 85 4 Regulation of Parathyroid Cell Viability by Vitamin D3 Analogs and EC 85 5 Statistical Analysis 86				
	2.3 2.3.	Results				
	2.3. 2.3.	 Comparison of SHR and WKY Parathyroid Cell Proliferation Rate 87 Effect of Serum Deprivation on SHR and WKY Parathyroid Cell Death 				
	2.3. 2.3.	 4 Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on Parathyroid Cell Viability				
	2.4	Discussion				
	2.5	REFERENCES				

5		SECRETION OF PHF AND PARATHYROID	1
	INIVIUN	OLOCALIZATION	1
	3.1 Intr	oduction	•••••
	3.2 Ma	terials & Methods	•••••
	3.2.1	Materials	
	3.2.2	Detection of PHF in Culture Medium	
	3.2.3	Immunocytochemistry for PHF in parathyroid cells	•••••
	3.3 Res	sults	
	3.3.1	ELISA for PHF in Culture Media	•••••
	3.3.2	Basal Secretion of PHF	•••••
	3.3.3	Immunocytochemistry for PHF in parathyroid cells	•••••
	3.4 Dis	scussion	•••••
	3.5 RE	FERENCES	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction nterials & Methods Materials	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction uterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction tterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction iterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number	1
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.5	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction meterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction meterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction meterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.3 Res	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction tterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.3 Res 4.3.1	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction metrials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis sults Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion	1
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.3 Res 4.3.1 4.3.2	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction metrials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis sults Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Regulation of CaR protein expression	
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.3 Res 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction tterials & Methods Materials Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Regulation of CaR protein expression Role of the CaR in mediating the effects of Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secreti	on
4	EFFECT 4.1 Intr 4.2 Ma 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6 4.2.7 4.3 Res 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.4 Dis	OF EC Ca ²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION roduction tterials & Methods Detection of PHF in Culture Medium Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number Western Blots for CaR protein Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF release Statistical Analysis sults Effect of EC Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secretion Regulation of CaR protein expression Role of the CaR in mediating the effects of Ca ²⁺ on PHF Secreti scussion	on

5 EFFECT OF VITAMIN D3 ANALOGS ON PHF SECRETION...... 156

5.1	Introduction
5.2	Materials & Methods
5.2.	1 Materials
5.2.	2 PHF Secretion in Response to Vitamin D3 Analogs
5.2.	3 Sub-cellular Fractionation and Western Blots for 1,25VDR _{mem} and
	1,25VDR _{nuc} protein
5.2.	4 Statistical Analysis
5.3	Results
5.3.	1 Effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF Secretion
5.3.	2 Effect of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF Secretion
5.3.	3 VDR protein expression
5.3.	4 Role of the VDRs in mediating the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF
	Secretion164
5.4	Discussion 165
5.5	REFERENCES
DISC	CUSSION
6.1	Summary
6.2	Abnormalities in SHR parathyroid cells
6.3	Is PHF a hormone?
6.4	PHF release characteristics
6.5	Regulation by EC Ca ²⁺
6.6	Regulation by vitamin D3 metabolites
6.7	Pathophysiology of PHF in hypertension
6.8	Clinical implications
6.9	Future directions
6.10	REFERENCES
	 5.1 5.2 5.2. 5.2. 5.2. 5.2. 5.2. 5.3. 5.3. 5.3. 5.4 5.5 DISC 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 6.8 6.9 6.10

List of Tables

Table 3-1 Cross-reactivity of monoclonal anti-PHF antibody B2 with various substances in the PHF ELISA.

List of Figures

- Figure 1-1 Overview of calcium homeostasis
- Figure 1-2 Novel cell localization in the SHR parathyroid
- Figure 1-3 Regulation of PHF: hypothesis
- Figure 2-1 Metabolism of WST-1 by parathyroid cells derived from SHR and WKY rats.
- Figure 2-2 Growth curves for parathyroid cells derived from SHR and WKY rats.
- Figure 2-3 Effect of serum-deprivation on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability.
- Figure 2-4 Effect of serum-deprivation on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell nuclear morphology.
- Figure 2-5 Characterization of serum-induced SHR and WKY parathyroid cell death.
- Figure 2-6 Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability.
- Figure 2-7 Effect of proliferation blockade on effect of EC Ca²⁺ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability.
- Figure 2-8 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability.
- Figure 2-9 Effect of proliferation blockade on effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability
- Figure 3-1 Effect of culture medium on standard curves for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples
- Figure 3-2 Effect of calcium concentration on standard curves for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples
- Figure 3-3 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on standard curve for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples
- Figure 3-4 Effect of PHF-HRP conjugate dilution on final absorbance at 450 nm in ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples.
- Figure 3-5 Secretion of PHF by cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells
- Figure 3-6 Immunolocalization of PHF in cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells.

- Figure 4-1 Rapid effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release by subcultured parathyroid cells.
- Figure 4-2 Time course for effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release by subcultured parathyroid cells.
- Figure 4-3 Time course for effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release in parathyroid organ culture.
- Figure 4-4 CaR protein in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells.
- Figure 4-5 Time course for and effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on CaR expression in parathyroid cells.
- Figure 4-6 Effect of parathyroid cell culture density on CaR protein expression.
- Figure 4-7 Role of the CaR in effects of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release.
- Figure 5-1 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF secretion from sub-cultured parathyroid cells.
- Figure 5-2 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF release in parathyroid organ culture.
- Figure 5-3 Effect of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF secretion from sub-cultured parathyroid cells.
- Figure 5-4 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells.
- Figure 5-5 Sub-cellular distribution of the 1,25VDR_{mem} in parathyroid cells.
- Figure 5-6 Comparison of the 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc}.
- Figure 5-7 Role of the 1,25VDR_{nuc} in mediating effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF release.
- Figure 6-1 Model for regulation of PHF secretion in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells

Abbreviations

1,24,25-(OH) ₃ D ₃ ,	1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D3
1,25-(OH) ₂ D ₃ ,	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3
1,25VDR _{mem} ,	membrane VDR for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$
1,25VDR _{nuc} ,	nuclear VDR for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$
1α–OHase,	25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1α-hydroxylase
24,25-(OH) ₂ D ₃ ,	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3
24,25VDR _{mem} ,	membrane VDR for 24,25-(OH) $_2D_3$
24,25VDR _{nuc} ,	nuclear VDR for 24,25-(OH) ₂ D ₃
24-OHase,	25-hydroxyvitamin D3-24-hydroxylase
25-OHase,	vitamin D3-25-hydroxylase
25-OHD ₃ ,	25-hydroxyvitamin D3
AngII,	angiotensin II
ATP,	adenosine triphosphate
ATPase,	adenosine triphosphatase
AVP,	arginine vasopressin
B2,	monoclonal antibody directed against parathyroid
	hypertensive factor
BSA,	bovine serum albumin
BT,	1,24(OH) ₂ -22-ene-24-cyclopropyl-D ₃
Ca ²⁺ ,	ionized calcium
cAMP,	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CaR,	calcium-sensing receptor
cDNA,	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CRF,	chronic renal failure
DAG,	diacylglycerol
Dahl-SR,	Dahl-salt resistant
Dahl-SS,	Dahl-salt sensitive
DBP,	vitamin D binding protein
DMEM,	Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium
DNA,	deoxyribonucleic acid
DOCA,	desoxycorticosterone acetate
DTT,	dithiothreitol
EC,	extracellular
ECL,	enhanced chemiluminescense

ECM,	extracellular matrix
EDTA,	ethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid
EGTA,	ethyleneglycol-bis(b-amino ethyl ether)N,N'-tetraacetic acid
ELISA,	enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
FBS,	fetal bovine serum
FITC,	fluorescein isothiocyanate
HBSS,	Hank's balanced salt solution
HPLC,	high performance liquid chromatography
hPTH,	human PTH
IgM-3A,	polyclonal antibodies directed against parathyroid
	hypertensive factor
IP3,	inositol triphosphate
K ⁺ ,	ionized potassium
kDa,	kilodaltons
MEN,	multiple endocrine neoplasia
Mg ²⁺ ,	ionized magnesium
mmHg,	millimetres mercury
mRNA,	messenger ribonucleic acid
Na ⁺ ,	ionized sodium
NE,	norepinephrine
PAGE,	polyacrylamide-gel-electrophoresis
PBS,	phosphate-buffered saline
PDE,	phosphodiesterase
PHF,	parathyroid hypertensive factor
PKA,	protein kinase A
PKC,	protein kinase C
PLC,	phospholipase C
PTC,	parathyroid cells
PTG,	parathyroid glands
PTH,	parathyroid hormone
PTHrP,	parathyroid hormone-related peptide
RAA,	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone
RNA,	ribonucleic acid
SDS,	sodium dodecyl-sulphate
SHR,	spontaneously hypertensive rats
TBST,	tris-buffered saline with tween-20
Tween,	polyaxyethylenesorbitan monolaurate
UV,	ultraviolet radiation
VDE,	vitamin D3 responsive element
VDR,	vitamin D receptor

VSMC, WKY, vascular smooth muscle cells Wistar Kyoto rats

Chapter 1

Literature Review

1

1 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Introduction

Calcium has many diverse functions in life-sustaining processes and thus the maintenance of adequate plasma concentrations of calcium is critical to an organism's survival. The parathyroid gland (PTG) monitors and regulates plasma calcium (and phosphate) through secretion of parathyroid hormone (PTH) which subsequently acts on the principal calcium-regulating tissues, bone, kidneys and intestine to bring about increases in plasma calcium. PTH exerts its effects in concert with 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25-(OH)₂D₃), which itself is activated by PTH. A third calcium-regulating hormone, calcitonin, functions to suppress plasma calcium; although its role in calcium metabolism appears to be related to fine-tuning rather than overt control of plasma Ca^{2+} levels.

Until recently, the parathyroid glands were thought to only play a role in the physiology of calcium and phosphate homeostasis. However, with the observation of hypertension in a substantial proportion, but notably not all, of primary hyperparathyroid patients (1-8), a role for the PTG in the pathogenesis of hypertension was suspected. Several lines of evidence supported this assertion. First, parathyroidectomy of these patients often relieved hypertension (3, 8). Second, parathyroidectomy and parathyroid cross-transplantation of low-renin hypertensive rat models indicated that hypertension was linked to the PTG (9-11). In addition, plasma abnormalities indicative of hyperparathyroidism such as hypocalcemia and elevated PTH and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, were observed in both low-renin rat models (12-15) and human hypertensives (16-18). Finally,

spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) were shown to have parathyroid abnormalities such as increased mass and the presence of a "novel cell" type, the percentage of which was correlated with blood pressure (19).

These observations led to speculation regarding the role of the only known parathyroid product at the time, PTH, in hypertension. However examination of the work of Pang and others (20-23) clearly revealed that PTH was actually a hypotensive hormone and therefore was unlikely to be playing a role in the pathology of hypertension.

Concurrent with these studies were the suggestions that there was a circulating hypertensive factor in essential hypertension. Given that the PTG of low-renin hypertension was not only over-active, but a required element of hypertension, and that hypertension prevailed despite elevated PTH (which was hypotensive), the source of this hypertensive factor was postulated to be the PTG. Thus plasma derived from several low-renin hypertensive rat models and human hypertension was examined for pressor activity. The fraction of partially purified plasma in the 1-5 kDa range was indeed shown to induce a delayed rise in blood pressure that correlated with increased ionized calcium (Ca^{2+}) uptake and influx through L-type Ca^{2+} channels. The PTG were confirmed to be the source of this substance, thus it was named "parathyroid hypertensive factor" (PHF).

The trigger for enhanced PHF secretion in low-renin hypertension is unknown. Dietary salt loading has been shown to stimulate the appearance of PHF in plasma in saltsensitive hypertension, a subset which is co-existent with low-renin hypertension. As well, dietary studies have shown that calcium supplementation can suppress plasma PHF. The direct effect of extracellular (EC) Ca^{2+} on PHF release has also shown that Ca^{2+} can inhibit PHF release. PHF was quantified in these studies by the blood pressure bioassay,

however, recently an ELISA for PHF detection has been developed which has enabled more precise examination of the regulation of PHF release. The work presented here is focused on the regulation of PHF secretion and characterization of the parathyroid abnormalities in low-renin hypertension as they may ultimately relate to enhanced PHF secretory capacity. A greater knowledge of these processes will provide the basis for the investigation of potential therapeutics which may be used to treat low-renin hypertension.

The purpose of this literature review is to provide the reader with a background of the essential concepts regarding the PTG, hypertension, and PHF. This will be accomplished first through an overview of calcium metabolism and the roles of the calcium-regulating hormones. The physiology and pathophysiology of the PTG will then be reviewed along with an examination of the evidence linking hyperparathyroidism, hypocalcemia, calcium-regulating hormones, and the PTG with low-renin hypertension. Lastly, there will be a comprehensive discussion of the parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF), followed by a summary and the presentation of a hypothesis and the aims of this thesis.

1.2 Calcium metabolism

Calcium is required for a wide variety of physiological processes. It functions in both extracellular and intracellular capacities to maintain appropriate conditions for life. The extracellular actions of Ca^{2+} include neurotransmission; both exocrine and endocrine hormone secretion; stimulus-contraction coupling; and fertilization (24, 25). Regulation of vascular tone and development of contractile force in muscle cells; signal transduction

in response to extracellular cues; regulation of many enzyme activities; and regulation of cell adhesion molecules are among the diverse intracellular effects of Ca^{2+} (26, 27) In addition to the regulatory roles, calcium is a major structural component of the skeleton and teeth (28). Therefore homeostasis of plasma calcium is crucial for an organism's survival, thus a complex regulatory system has evolved for this purpose.

1.2.1 Overview

The principle calcium-regulating hormones are PTH; the biologically active vitamin D3 metabolite, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$; and calcitonin. PTH is synthesized and secreted from the PTG and ultimately functions to raise plasma calcium and lower plasma phosphate. $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ is synthesized through sequential hydroxylations, first at the liver then at the kidney, of the vitamin D3 precursor produced in the epidermis in response to ultraviolet (UV) irradiation. The actions of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ are, like PTH, to raise plasma calcium, but unlike PTH, to also raise plasma phosphate. Calcitonin is synthesized and released from the C-cells of thyroid and lowers both plasma calcium and phosphate. These three hormones act at three major target sites to bring about changes in plasma calcium and phosphate. The intestines, a classical 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ target and newly discovered PTH target (29, 30), are the site of dietary calcium and phosphate absorption. PTH, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, and calcitonin also regulate the bone processes of resorption and formation to provide a source of plasma calcium when intestinal absorption of calcium is insufficient. The kidneys are the final site of calcium and phosphate metabolism with regulation of reabsorption by all three calcium-regulating hormones. The PTG complete this endocrine axis and act as the master control center for calcium and phosphate

5

metabolism by providing the site for negative feedback control of PTH release primarily by Ca^{2+} , phosphate, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. For the sake of simplicity and the purposes of this thesis, the focus of the following sections will be on calcium metabolism (illustrated in Figure 1-1 on page 47). The regulation of phosphate homeostasis will not be reviewed.

1.2.2 Calcium-regulating hormones

1.2.2.1 Calcitonin

Calcitonin is a single chain 32 amino acid peptide and is one of two alternative splicing products of the initial mRNA transcript of the calcitonin gene (the other product being calcitonin gene-related peptide) (31, 32). Synthesis of calcitonin occurs in the C-cells of the thyroid (33, 34) and results from cleavage of a calcitonin precursor peptide (35, 36). Since the overall effect of calcitonin on plasma calcium is inhibitory, release of calcitonin from C-cells is regulated primarily by EC Ca²⁺ with high plasma Ca²⁺ stimulating release (37).

1.2.2.2 Vitamin D metabolites

Vitamin D is a secosteroid which is actually not a vitamin at all, but an endogenous prohormone. Vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) is the naturally occurring form of vitamin D whereas vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) is obtained only from plant sources. Synthesis begins in the skin with the formation of previtamin D3 from 7dehydrocholesterol following UV exposure (38). Previtamin D3 is then converted to vitamin D by a temperature-dependent isomerization process. Vitamin D3 is then absorbed into the subepidermal microcirculation and transported in the plasma bound to

the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) (39, 40). Conversion of vitamin D3 to its biologically active form occurs through two sequential hydroxylations in the liver and kidney (41). The first hydroxylation is by cytochrome P450 oxidase 27 (vitamin D3-25hydroxylase; 25-OHase) of carbon 25 of vitamin D (42). 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25-OHD₃) is then transported to the kidney where the tightly regulated cytochrome P450 oxidase 1 α (25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 α -hydroxylase; 1 α -OHase) catalyzes hydroxylation of carbon 1 of 25-OHD₃ yielding biologically active 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (43). During conditions of adequate calcium and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, 25-OHD₃ is hydroxylated at carbon 24 by cytochrome P450 oxidase 24 (25-hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase; 24-OHase) (39).

Although initial reports suggested that $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may be an agonist for the 1,25VDR_{nuc} and can exert similar effects to 1,25-(OH)_2D_3 (44, 45), the role for 24,25-(OH)_2D_3 in calcium-metabolism specifically appears to be minor (46-50). However, effects of 24,25-(OH)_2D_3 in the process of bone formation/mineralization (51, 52) and skeletal development (53, 54) and inhibitory effects on bone resorption (55) have been demonstrated, and more recently, antagonist effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ have been shown in the intestine for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and PTH-mediated Ca²⁺ absorption (56). 24-OHase is expressed nearly ubiquitously and will also inactivate the biologically active 1,25-(OH)_2D_3 to the inert 1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,24,25-(OH)_3D_3) (39).

1.2.2.3 PTH and PTHrP

Parathyroid hormone is formed by the sequential enzymatic cleavage of a 115 amino acid prepro-PTH to the 90 amino acid pro-PTH, and finally to PTH (84 amino acids) in the PTG (57). Amino acid residues 1-6 are responsible for activation of

adenylate cyclase through the PTH/PTHrP receptor whereas residues 7-34 are involved in receptor binding (57). The regulation of PTH synthesis and secretion will be discussed in detail in section 1.2.7. PTHrP is a 141 amino acid protein which shares amino acid identity with PTH for 8 of the first 13 amino acids and exerts its actions through the PTH/PTHrP receptor (58). PTHrP protein or mRNA is expressed in a variety of tissues and cell types including central nervous system (59), cardiovascular system (60, 61), pancreas (62), and keratinocytes (63). PTHrP was first discovered as a secreted product from a variety of malignant tumors (64-67) and was shown to be responsible for the hypercalcemia of malignancy (66); however, circulating levels of PTHrP are much lower than for PTH therefore PTHrP is not believed to be a physiological regulator of plasma Ca^{2+} (66, 67).

1.2.3 Receptors

PTH, vitamin D3 metabolites, and calcitonin all exert their effects through specific receptors which are differentially expressed to confer tissue-specific effects. A brief overview of the receptor sub-types and distribution for PTH, vitamin D3 metabolites, and calcitonin is useful prior to examining calcium metabolism at the major target tissues.

1.2.3.1 PTH Receptors

PTH exerts its calcium homeostatic functions through the PTH/PTHrP receptor-1. This monomeric G-protein-coupled receptor protein with 7 transmembrane domains is expressed in osteoblasts and the kidneys and is, as the name indicated, activated by both PTH and PTHrP (68-70). At least two different signaling pathways, adenylate cyclase

and phospholipase C (71-73), are coupled to this receptor and are activated by distinct domains of the PTH molecule. Specifically, the first two amino acids of the N-terminus of PTH are required for activation of adenylate cyclase (74), whereas residues 25-34 are required for activation of the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway (75). Activation of this receptor in bone and kidney tissue results in rapid increases in inositol triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG) levels (76) as well as intracellular Ca^{2+} (77, 78). The PTH/PTHrP receptor is also found in various non-classical target sites such as vascular smooth muscle (79) and keratinocytes (80). A second distinct receptor for PTH, PTH receptor type II or PTH2 has also been identified (81, 82) which is also coupled to both the AC and PLC signaling pathways (81, 83-85). This receptor is expressed in brain, pancreas, testis, placenta (82), as well as arterial and cardiac endothelium, vascular smooth muscle, lung (86), thyroid parafollicular cells (87) and possibly dermal fibroblasts (85), however is not expressed in the classical calcium-regulating tissues bone and kidney (85, 86). The physiological importance of this receptor is unclear although a role in the hypothalamus has been suggested (88). A third PTH receptor which is specific for the Cterminal region of PTH has also been described in osteoblast-like cells and rat parathyroid cells (89)

1.2.3.2 Vitamin D Receptors

The previous dogma for the mechanism of action of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ reflected the classical steroid modality of signaling via an intracellular receptor with either cytosolic or nuclear distribution. Such a receptor for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ ($1,25VDR_{nuc}$) was discovered in 1969 in the chromosomal material within nuclei of chick intestinal enterocytes (90) and

subsequently cloned from rat kidney (91), and chick (92) and human (93) intestinal tissue. This receptor belongs to the steroid hormone receptor superfamily (94) and was ultimately shown to reside largely in the nucleus where, when occupied, it functions as a transcription factor (95). For upregulatory signaling, occupation of the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ with $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ leads to formation of heterodimer signaling complexes with the retinoid X receptor followed by complex binding with upstream gene regulatory sequences of DNA (vitamin D3 responsive element, VDE) and association of appropriate accessory and regulatory proteins (95, 96). In the PTG, downregulatory signaling such as inhibition of PTH transcription occurs in a similar manner with the exception that the retinoid X receptor does not appear to be involved (97). The tissue distribution of the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ extends far beyond the classical target sites involved in calcium and phosphate metabolism as nearly every tissue is represented (98) revealing the vast array of physiological functions of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$.

Accompanying this wide range of functions was the observation that 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ could exert rapid effects in a variety of tissues in a manner analogous to peptidebased signaling. For example, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to induce rises in intracellular Ca²⁺ and stimulate phospholipid metabolism in enterocytes (99), osteoblasts (100), and parathyroid cells (101, 102). This discovery prompted the search for a rapid signal transduction mechanism. A novel cell plasma membrane-bound 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ receptor, 1,25VDR_{mem}, was identified and found to mediate a variety of rapid effects including stimulation of PKC (103) and antiproliferative effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on chondrocytes (104). The 1,25VDR_{mem} is also expressed in intestinal epithelia (105), chick kidney and brain (106) and differentiated osteoblasts (107). The ligand specificities

of the 1,25VDR_{mem} are different from that of the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} (108, 109) suggesting that the proteins are physically distinct. 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ is composed of an eight carbon side chain, a seco B-ring, and the A-ring all of which may occupy different positions resulting in numerous 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ conformers. The unique seco-steroid nature of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ allows for high conformational flexibility and rotation about the 6-7 single carbon bond yielding either 6-s-cis or 6-s-trans B-ring conformers, as well as chair-chair interconversions of the A-ring (110). The binding requirements for the 1,25VDR_{mem} include a 6-s-cis locked planar conformation, and either a side chain C-20 "S" or "R" conformation of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (110, 111). In contrast, binding of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ specifically to the 1,25VDR_{nuc} requires a B-ring orientation with either an α or β configuration, semi-rigid side chain, and a preferential side chain C-20S conformation (110).

Receptors for the important, but less studied, vitamin D3 metabolite, 24,25-(OH)₂D₃, have also been identified. Nuclear uptake of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ in cartilage (112) and high affinity binding of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ to a macromolecule in cytosolic and nuclear fractions of long bone tissue of newborn rats (53) and in differentiating skeletal mesenchyme (113) suggest the presence of a specific nuclear receptor for 24,25-(OH)₂D₃. Whether this receptor is unique from the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} and whether 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ can compete for binding is unknown, however the high binding affinity reported in one study suggests that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ binds a specific and unique receptor (53). The presence of a 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ receptor in the PTG has also been suggested (114). As for 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, rapid effects of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ have been observed suggesting the presence of a cell plasma membrane-bound receptor for 24,25-(OH)₂D₃. Such a receptor was indeed identified and is thought to mediate the rapid effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ observed in some tissues such as rapid inhibition of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and PTH-induced Ca²⁺ transport across intestinal epithelia (56). This receptor was shown to be distinct from the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ (107) and was demonstrated in chondrocytes (104), osteoblasts (107), and enterocytes (115). As described in section $1.2.2.2, 24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ appears to play only a minor role in calcium metabolism and non-calcium-regulating roles have only been described for the cardiovascular system (see section 1.3.2.7.2).

1.2.3.3 Calcitonin Receptors

The calcitonin receptor was cloned near the same time as the PTH/PTHrP receptor and, like the PTH/PTHrP receptor, was also shown to be a G-protein coupled receptor with 7 transmembrane domains. This receptor is coupled to both the adenylate cyclase and the phospholipase C (PLC) signaling pathways (116, 117) and is expressed in the classical calcitonin target sites, bone and kidneys (118, 119).

1.2.4 Role of bone in Ca²⁺ homeostasis

The immediately available pool of Ca^{2+} in bone is the first line of defense against hypocalcemia and provides for acutely required adjustments in plasma calcium. Bone can also respond to regulation by PTH, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, and calcitonin to provide for more chronic adjustments in plasma calcium through the processes of resorption and formation, liberating and sequestering calcium respectively. The reversible process of calcium incorporation into the hydroxyapatite crystal lattice of bone is mediated through the activities of osteoblasts (bone builders) and osteoclasts (bone resorbers). The formation of bone as part of routine remodeling occurs through deposition of extracellular matrix

(ECM) molecules secreted by the osteoblast. Bone resorption is facilitated by the macrophage-like osteoclasts. These specialized cells extend pseudopodia, adhere to the bone lattice, and secrete acid into this isolated compartment resulting in bone resorption.

Both 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and PTH are required for *in vivo* skeletal resorption as either one alone is incapable of fulfilling this process (120). The predominant effect of PTH on bone is stimulation of bone resorption, although anabolic effects on bone are also observed after acute exposure to low doses of PTH. PTH regulates bone activity largely through osteoblasts and expression of the PTH/PTHrP receptor protein is greatest in the less differentiated preosteoblasts (121). Since Ca²⁺ liberation is achieved through the activity of bone-resorbing osteoclasts, it is odd that receptors for PTH are not present on osteoclasts. It is believed that the bone-resorbing effects of PTH are therefore indirect and communicated from osteoblasts to osteoclasts (122), possibly through release of a secreted factor (123).

The critical role of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in normal bone physiology was established with the observation that rickets and osteomalacia induced by vitamin D deficiency could be reversed with $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ treatment (40). It was thus thought that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was primarily a bone-building hormone. This is supported by observations that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ stimulates synthesis of Type I collagen and alkaline phosphatase activity (necessary for bone mineralization and matrix maturation) in mature osteoblasts, although not in proliferating osteoblast precursors (124-126). Other bone-building associated proteins are also stimulated by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ including osteopontin (127), fibronectin (128), and osteocalcin (129). However, this bone-building activity does not seem to be in keeping with the classical role of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ as a calcemic hormone and in fact, long-term

exposure to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was shown to result in bone resorption (130). Similar to PTH, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ also regulates bone-resorbing activity largely through osteoblasts (122), which signal to osteoclasts possibly through a secreted factor (131). As well, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ stimulates transport of Ca²⁺ from the bone fluid compartment to the plasma (132, 133). Unlike PTH however, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may also contribute to bone resorption by stimulating differentiation of osteoclast precursor cells into a mature osteoclast phenotype (134).

The classical physiological effect of calcitonin is suppression of plasma calcium therefore the effect of calcitonin on bone is inhibition of bone resorption. This is accomplished through direct inhibition of osteoclast function (135, 136).

1.2.5 Role of the intestines in Ca^{2+} homeostasis

The primary calcium-regulating functions of the intestines are to absorb dietary calcium used for skeletal formation and growth, and in adulthood, to counteract the calcium lost through kidneys and urination. The high surface area of the brush-border membrane of the intestines allows for maximal calcium and phosphate reabsorption. The major route for calcium transport across the epithelial barrier is first through Ca^{2+} influx via Ca^{2+} channels followed by association with Ca^{2+} -binding proteins (calbindins) and transcellular movement within endocytic vesicles or lysosomes (137) along microtubule networks (138, 139).

 $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ plays an important role in calcium absorption. The classical, genomic functions of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ include enhanced gene transcription of calbindins (140, 141) and increased microtubule protein expression (142). $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has also

been shown to alter intestinal brush border membrane topography to bring about an increase in surface area and therefore absorption (143), and stimulate vesicular transport of Ca^{2+} (138). More recently, rapid non-genomic effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ have been demonstrated including stimulation of luminal Ca²⁺ absorption (144) through Ca²⁺ channel opening (145). Finally, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ appears to downregulate intestinal expression of the 1,25VDR_{mem} protein, the receptor which is thought to mediate the rapid effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on Ca²⁺ transport (146).

The role of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ is less clear. One report has shown that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ can antagonize Ca²⁺ transport (56) stimulated by 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and PTH in the perfused chick intestine. The inhibitory effects of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on 1,25-(OH)₂D₃- and PTH- induced stimulation of Ca²⁺ transport may be mediated by a suppression in the activities of PKC, protein kinase A (PKA), or both (56).

The intestines have historically not been a target for PTH. However, direct effects of PTH on Ca^{2+} uptake by isolated intestinal cells were first demonstrated by Nemere et al in 1981 (29, 147). Subsequent studies indicated that PTH rapidly stimulates Ca^{2+} transport across perfused, isolated, chick duodenal loops (30). The mechanism of action of PTH appears to occur through stimulation of both voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channel currents (148) and adenylate cyclase (149), followed by downstream activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (150). These results suggest a role for PTH in Ca^{2+} absorption in the intestines.

1.2.6 Role of the kidneys in Ca^{2+} homeostasis

The primary calcium-regulating function of the kidneys is to reabsorb most

(~99%) of filtered Ca^{2+} in the proximal tubule of the nephron, and fine-tune Ca^{2+} reabsorption according to physiological need through regulation in the distal tubule of the nephron. Reabsorption of filtered Ca^{2+} occurs in a similar manner as Ca^{2+} absorption in the intestine. Following entry through Ca^{2+} channels or endocytosis, Ca^{2+} binds calbindins, is transported across the cell, and absorbed across the basolateral membrane through Ca^{2+} -ATPase (adenosine triphosphatase) and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger activities. Some Ca^{2+} may also be reabsorbed through the small spaces between tubular cells.

The site of regulation of these processes by PTH and $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ is the distal tubule of the nephron. PTH and $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ both stimulate Ca^{2+} reabsorption through activation of basolateral Ca^{2+}/Na^+ exchangers (39, 40, 151). $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, like in the intestines, stimulates renal expression of calbindins (152, 153). Furthermore, as mentioned above, PTH also facilitates Ca^{2+} retention and absorption by activating the circulating precursor of bioactive vitamin D3, 25-OHD₃, through stimulation of renal 1-OHase (154-156). The activity of 1-OHase is inhibited, in classic product inhibition fashion, by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ (155, 156). Conversely, activity of the vitamin D3 inactivating enzyme, 24-OHase, is inhibited by PTH and stimulated by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and Ca^{2+} (156, 157).

1.2.7 Parathyroid Glands

The critical role of the PTG in maintenance of plasma calcium was discovered when high mortality rates due to hypocalcemia were observed in a substantial proportion of post-operative thyroidectomy patients (158). In these patients, parathyroid tissue was inadvertantly removed during thyroidectomy due to the localization of a pair of

parathyroid glands on each lobe of the thyroid. It was then realized that the parathyroid glands were vital for life.

The unique calcium homeostatic property of the PTG lies in their ability to sense and respond to changes in plasma Ca^{2+} with secretion of the calciotropic hormone, PTH. The plasma Ca^{2+} setpoint in normal humans is approximately 1.2 mM (159). There is a clear inverse sigmoidal relationship between plasma ionized calcium and PTH release (160); that is, small deviations in plasma calcium result in rapid PTH secretion responses from the PTG. This is not surprising since both hypo- and hyper- calcemia have lifethreatening consequences.

1.2.7.1 Regulation by EC Ca^{2+}

The major regulator of PTH synthesis and/or secretion from the PTG is EC Ca²⁺. Hypocalcemia has been shown to stimulate both PTH synthesis (161, 162) and secretion (163-166). The mechanism of action of EC Ca²⁺ involves the recently cloned G-proteincoupled calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) (167) and has been reviewed elsewhere (168). The pivotal role of EC Ca²⁺ in regulation of the PTG is demonstrated by parathyroid pathologies in which the plasma ionized calcium level is abnormal. Inactivating (familial hypercalcemia hypercalciuria and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism (169) and the CaR mouse knockout model (170)) or activating (autosomal dominant hypocalcemia (171)) mutations in the CaR and corresponding hyper- or hypo- secretion of PTH provide strong evidence for the importance of the CaR in regulation of plasma Ca²⁺.

EC Ca²⁺ regulates both PTH release through a variety of signal transduction pathways. Exposure to high EC Ca²⁺ results in activation of PLC and accumulation of

DAG and IP3 (172). Classical signaling dogma states that this would be followed by receptor-operated release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores, and indeed EC Ca^{2+} can induce elevations in cytosolic Ca^{2+} (173), and activation of PKC. Since high EC Ca^{2+} inhibits PTH release and stimulates accumulation of IP3 and DAG, PKC might be expected to mediate this inhibition of PTH release. However, under high EC Ca^{2+} conditions, PKC actually *stimulates* PTH release (174, 175) in part by suppressing the EC Ca^{2+} -induced rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} (176). These unusual observations may be resolved, at least partially, by the observation that DAG stimulates production of sphingosine which inhibits PKC activity in parathyroid cells (177). In a simplified view then, EC Ca^{2+} may induce rises in IP3, intracellular Ca^{2+} , and DAG; DAG in turn stimulates production of sphingosine which inhibits PKC which ultimately leads to reduced PTH release. Other signaling pathways are likely involved in regulation of PTH release, such as adenylate cyclase and PKA (178), although the role in EC Ca^{2+} -regulated PTH release is not clear.

Normally, as with many endocrine tissues, parathyroid tissue grows at a very slow rate (179). For example, the calculated parathyroid cell birth rate in young rats was reported as 53.2% of the total parathyroid cell number/year (180). However, under certain conditions, parathyroid cell proliferation can be induced; usually as a response to pathological disruptions in Ca^{2+} and phosphate metabolism. Hypocalcemia, for example, can stimulate an increase in the rate of parathyroid cell (PTC) proliferation (180-183) through a mechanism which appears to involve the calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) (184).

1.2.7.2 Regulation by vitamin D metabolites

The importance of the biologically active metabolite, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, in regulation
of PTH synthesis and secretion is second only to EC Ca^{2+} . 1,25-(OH)₂D₃

transcriptionally suppresses PTH synthesis, inhibits PTH release, and inhibits parathyroid cell proliferation (185). As mentioned above, the PTG contain the classical nuclear receptor for 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, 1,25VDR_{nuc} (186, 187) which is upregulated by its ligand (188). Both genomic and non-genomic effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ have been described. The rapid effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ include increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ (101) and phospholipid metabolism (189) although it is not known whether these effects are directly correlated to effects on PTH secretion. The rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ in parathyroid cells appeared to be specific to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ as neither 25-OHD₃ nor 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ had significant effects. The Ca²⁺ channel blockers diltiazem and verapamil were also without effect suggesting that Ca²⁺ channels were not voltage-gated, but perhaps receptor operated leaving open the possibility for involvement of the 1,25VDR_{mem}. The classical genomic effects are mediated through 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ association with the 1,25VDR_{nuc}, followed by binding with a unique down-regulatory DRE (185) upstream to the PTH gene and association of appropriate accessory and regulatory proteins. In this fashion, the occupied receptor acts as a transcription factor to elicit suppression of PTH gene transcription.

As described above for EC Ca²⁺, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ also appears to play an important role in the regulation of parathyroid cell proliferation. Anti-proliferative effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ have clearly been demonstrated *in vitro* (190). Not surprisingly then, vitamin D3 deficiency has been associated with parathyroid cell hyperplasia and is believed to play an important role in the pathogenesis of secondary hyperparathyroidism (described below).

Few studies have addressed the potential role of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ in regulation of the PTG. In parathyroid tissue derived from primary and secondary hyperparathyroid patients (discussed in section 1.3.1), both 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ inhibited isoproterenol- and sodium fluoride- stimulated adenylate cyclase activity (44). As mentioned above, the existence of a nuclear 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ receptor in parathyroid tissue has been suggested (114). Some studies have shown that supraphysiological concentrations of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ have minor inhibitory effects on PTH release in rat and bovine parathyroid cells (47, 191), however subsequent reports failed to show any effect of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PTH release from normal or hyperplastic canine and bovine (48, 192), rat (192), and human (193) parathyroid tissue, even at relatively high doses. As well, indirect effects of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PTH activity *in vivo* and direct effects on plasma PTH levels could not be demonstrated in rats (49, 192)

1.2.7.3 Regulation by Phosphate

Dietary studies with phosphorus also revealed that high phosphate intake could stimulate PTH secretion under physiological conditions (180). Elevated plasma phosphate as a consequence of chronic renal failure has also been shown to enhance PTH release *in vivo* (183). The stimulatory effects of phosphate on the PTG were initially explained by phosphate binding of ionized calcium thus reducing plasma Ca^{2+} and indirectly affecting the PTG. Indirect effects were also believed to occur through high phosphate-mediated reductions in 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ synthesis, thus resulting in the diminution of a potent PTG inhibitor. However, subsequent *in vitro* studies where EC Ca^{2+} was adjusted to a constant for various concentrations of phosphate revealed that

phosphate exerted direct (i.e. independent from changes in EC Ca^{2+} or 1,25-(OH)₂D₃) stimulatory effects on both PTH release (194) and parathyroid cell proliferation (195) in parathyroid cell cultures. The mechanism of action of phosphate is unclear, but the existence of a specific phosphate receptor similar to other ion-sensing receptors (such as the CaR) has been postulated (196). It is now believed that dietary phosphorus restriction can play a significant role in ameliorating the symptoms of secondary hyperparathyroidism (discussed below).

1.2.7.4 Other substances secreted from PTG

Only a few substances have been described which are released from the PTG. These include the ubiquitous endocrine products, the chromogranins (earlier referred to as secretory product-I) and various fragments thereof, and endothelins. These substances appear to play a predominantly paracrine/autocrine role in the regulation of PTG secretory activity. The secretion characteristics of these substances and metabolism by the PTG will be briefly reviewed.

1.2.7.4.1 Chromogranin

Chromogranin A is colocalized with the secretory products of a variety of endocrine tissues, including PTH in the PTG. Previously known as secretory protein-I (197), chromogranin A was shown to be, like PTH, negatively regulated by EC Ca²⁺ (198-200). Unlike for PTH, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to stimulate chromogranin A secretion from cultured parathyroid cells (201) and following administration to normal rats (202). The only known function of parathyroid-derived chromogranin A appears to be inhibition of both PTH and its own release in a paracrine/autocrine fashion (198-200).

In addition, chromogranin A is a prohormone for several smaller peptides including pancreastatin (198) and betagranin (203). Both pancreastatin (198, 199, 204) and betagranin (203) act in a paracrine/autocrine manner to inhibit both chromogranin A and PTH synthesis and release from parathyroid cells. The physiological significance of the parathyroid production of chromogranin A and related peptides is not clear, but initial studies seem to indicate that they are involved in mediating and "fine-tuning" the effects of EC Ca²⁺ and possibly 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PTG activity.

1.2.7.4.2 Endothelins

Immunoreactivity for endothelin (ET)-1 protein and the presence of mRNA for ET-1 have indicated that the PTG synthesize this substance (205). It is believed to behave as an autocrine factor as highly specific receptors for ET-1 (ETA and ETB) have been detected on parathyroid cells (205, 206). An autocrine/paracrine role for endothelin-1 would be consistent with the observation that it appears to be degraded in the medium or taken up by parathyroid cells (205). A physiological role for ET-1 in modulating the regulation of PTH synthesis/secretion by EC Ca²⁺ has been suggested based on the responsiveness of endothelin-1 mRNA levels to ambient EC Ca²⁺ (205), and in fact, ET-1 was shown to stimulate PTH release (206). Regulation of PTH by ET-1 may be mediated by changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ and IP3 in parathyroid cells, although there are differential effects of ET-1 on cytosolic Ca²⁺ depending on exposure time (206). Thus the role of ET-1 in parathyroid cells appears to be somewhat complex. It is possible that ET-1 modulates the sensitivity of the parathyroid PTH response to EC Ca²⁺ (206).

1.3 Association between Hyperparathyroidism and Hypertension

1.3.1 Hyperparathyroidism

Hyperparathyroidism is defined by elevated plasma PTH as a result of PTG overactivity (primary hyperparathyroidism) or excessive parathyroid responses to chronically suppressed plasma Ca^{2+} and $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ (secondary hyperparathyroidism). The causes and contributors to hyperparathyroidism are varied and explanations are more readily available for secondary than for primary hyperparathyroidism.

Secondary hyperparathyroidism most commonly is the result of complications related to chronic renal failure, such as hypocalcemia and vitamin D3 deficiency. Reports of downregulated CaR (184) and 1,25VDR_{nuc} (207, 208) also suggest reduced inhibition of PTH synthesis and secretion at the site of the PTG. Alterations in the expression of these receptor proteins are likely secondary to the changes in plasma components accompanying chronic renal failure. Oncogene mutations have also been described in the hyperplastic parathyroid cells of secondary hyperparathyroidism (209). All of these complications would clearly aggravate the PTG overactivity resulting in even greater secretion of PTH than would be predicted based on the plasma profiles of Ca²⁺ and 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ alone.

In primary hyperparathyroidism, the causes are more elusive, and, as the name implies, related to some defect originating in the PTG. In primary hyperparathyroidism, as for secondary hyperparathyroidism, parathyroid cell hyperplasia results in increased maximal PTG secretory capacity and thus contributes to increased plasma PTH. Most diagnoses of primary hyperparathyroidism are of benign parathyroid cell hyperplasia or

adenoma, alone, or in association with multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN).

Abnormalities in cell cycle regulation in some parathyroid adenomas have been reported (for review, see (210)) although no clear cause of primary hyperparathyroidism has been identified. PTG of primary hyperparathyroidism also have a higher set-point for suppression of PTH release by plasma Ca^{2+} which was correlated with reduced expression of the CaR (211, 212) suggesting that both protein levels of the CaR and post-CaR signaling are abnormal in primary hyperparathyroidism. As well, variations in the 1,25VDR_{nuc} gene have been linked to decreased 1,25VDR_{nuc} mRNA in primary hyperparathyroid patients (213).

Therefore although the PTG of both forms of hyperparathyroidism are hyperplastic and secreting excessive amounts of PTH, the distinction between primary and secondary hyperparathyroidism depends on whether this PTG response is appropriate (secondary hyperparathyroidism) or inappropriate (primary hyperparathyroidism) in the face of altered plasma Ca^{2+} , phosphate, and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ concentrations.

In addition to the obvious disruptions in Ca^{2+} and phosphate metabolism present in hyperparathyroidism, these patients are also frequently hypertensive. Depending on the study examined, a significant proportion (18-78%) of primary hyperparathyroid patients are also hypertensive (1-8). The cause of hypertension in these patients may be related to hypercalcemia, however this would not explain why not all primary hyperparathyroid patients are hypertensive. Parathyroidectomy has been shown to alleviate hypertension in some cases (3), but exacerbate in others (214). This has lead to substantial investigation of the role of the PTG, PTH, and calcium metabolism in hypertension. Similarly, a significant proportion of essential hypertensives exhibit

features of secondary hyperparathyroidism. This relationship is explored in the proceeding sections.

1.3.2 Hypertension

1.3.2.1 Blood pressure

Blood pressure regulation is critical to survival of an organism and thus involves the input of many regulatory networks throughout the body. The maintenance of adequate blood pressure is necessary in order to have adequate tissue blood perfusion, and therefore adequate oxygen and nutrient delivery to and waste removal from tissues. Blood pressure is directly related to cardiac output (which itself is a function of heart rate and stroke volume) and inversely related to total peripheral resistance. Thus regulation of blood pressure may occur at a wide variety of target sites aimed at maintaining appropriate extracellular fluid volume, heart contractility and rate, and diameter of resistance vessels (arterioles). Blood pressure changes are detected by sensitive baroreceptors in the carotid and aortic arteries and transmitted to the vasomotor centre in the medulla via sympathetic sensory fibres. Increased firing of these fibres in response to an increase in blood pressure results ultimately in decreased sympathetic activity resulting in an overall decrease in blood pressure.

1.3.2.2 Hypertension-diagnosis, prevalence, and research

Hypertension, diagnosed when blood pressure exceeds either 140 mmHg systolic pressure or 90 mmHg diastolic pressure or both, is the result of a complex combination of genetic and dietary factors. Although itself mostly benign (except in the case of

aneurysm), hypertension contributes to both cardiovascular disease and stroke (215), an association which is thought to be at least partially related to the excessive stress placed upon the vasculature and the pathological responses to this stress. Approximately one quarter of the North American population are hypertensive (216), however in only about 5% of cases can hypertension be attributed to an identifiable cause. The remaining 95% are termed "essential hypertensives".

In an attempt to reveal the etiology of essential hypertension, several animal models of hypertension, both genetic and experimentally induced, have been developed. Use of these animal models and studies of hypertensive humans have lead to the conclusion that hypertension is a condition with heterogeneous etiologies and may result from metabolic, endocrine, and/or other cellular abnormalities. An extensive analysis of the causal components of hypertension is beyond the scope of this thesis. However a discussion of the relationship between hyperparathyroidism and hypertension is particularly relevant and significant insight into the pathophysiology of hypertension has been gained by categorization of the renin profile.

1.3.2.3 The Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat

The spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) is the most studied rat model of hypertension (217). It was developed by Okamoto and Aoki in 1963 through inbreeding of normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats (217). SHR first become hypertensive at approximately 5-6 weeks of age and attain a systolic blood pressure usually in the range of 180-200 mmHg. The survival of these animals varies between 10-21 months and death is related to the end-organ damage which is often, but not always (217), associated with

hypertension. Complications exhibited by SHR include cardiac hypertrophy (218), cardiac failure (at 18-24 months of age) (219), kidney dysfunction indicated by proteinuria and decreased creatinine clearance (220, 221), and impaired endotheliumdependent relaxation (222). The SHR model however does not exhibit other signs of vascular dysfunction such as stroke, macroscopic atherosclerosis, and vascular thrombosis (217). The SHR also displays abnormalities at the cellular level. Hamet et al reported increased apoptosis in a variety of tissues including heart, brain, vascular smooth muscle and kidney cells (223) as well as increased vascular smooth muscle proliferation *in vitro* (224). Anti-hypertensive effects have been observed following treatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors (225, 226) or Ca²⁺ channel antagonists (226, 227). The complications of cardiac hypertrophy (225, 228), cardiac failure (229, 230), and endothelium impairment (231) have all been improved with both ACE inhibitor and Ca²⁺ channel blocker treatment. The pathophysiological abnormalities of the SHR associated with Ca²⁺ metabolism are discussed in subsequent sections.

1.3.2.4 Disturbances in calcium metabolism in essential hypertension

Disturbances in plasma ionized calcium and the calcium-regulating hormones in essential hypertension have been known for many years. It has been reported that patients with essential hypertension have an increased risk for developing hyperparathyroidism (1). As well, in rat models such as the SHR, suppressed plasma ionized calcium and elevated PTH have been observed (12, 13). Other abnormalities in SHR related to calcium homeostasis include renal calcium leak (232-234), decreased bone density and calcium content (235), and disturbances in intestinal calcium absorption

(236). Alterations in intestinal calcium absorption seem to depend on the age of the SHR, with pre-hypertensive young SHR exhibiting increased Ca2+ uptake in association with increased plasma 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (237), whereas adult SHR appear to exhibit decreased Ca2+ absorption (235, 238). These findings all suggest a role for calcium and the calcium-regulating system in hypertension.

1.3.2.5 Renin profiling in essential hypertension

Renin profiling has resulted in significant insights into the heterogeneity of essential hypertension; in particular, the relationship between hyperparathyroidism and hypertension, as different renin subsets are associated with altered Ca^{2+} metabolism and corresponding shifts in the Ca^{2+} -regulating hormones (16). Plasma renin activity provides an index for the extent of activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone (RAA) system (239), a system which has both direct vasopressor activities on the vasculature and indirect pressor activities due to volume retention effects.

The renin profile breakdown of essential hypertensives is approximately 30-40% low-renin, 20% normal renin, and 30-40% high-renin (239). The high renin hypertensives are hypercalcemic and thus have suppressed PTH and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and elevated calcitonin. Hypertension in this subset is believed to result largely from hyperactivation of the RAA system. The suspected cause(s) of hypertension in the normal-renin proportion is unknown.

Low-renin hypertension is the subset of interest as it exhibits the defects in calcium metabolism indicative of secondary hyperparathyroidism. This subset is characterized by both intracellular and extracellular abnormalities and is often associated

with salt-sensitivity (i.e. dietary salt induces a pressor response) (17, 240). The intracellular abnormalities include elevated Ca^{2+} and Na^+ , along with decreased intracellular Mg²⁺, and pH (241-243). Alterations in the intracellular concentrations of these ions ultimately results in elevated intracellular Ca^{2+} which contributes directly to vascular smooth muscle contraction and thus vascular tone.

The plasma (extracellular) abnormalities of low-renin hypertension include suppressed plasma ionized calcium, and the anticipated shifts in the calcium-regulating hormones of increased $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and PTH (12) and reduced calcitonin versus normotension (16, 17). Thus low-renin hypertension exhibits features of secondary hyperparathyroidism and therefore prompts examination of the roles of calcium and the calcium-regulating hormones in cardiovascular physiology and pathophysiology.

1.3.2.6 Role of calcium in low-renin hypertension

Dietary calcium studies in essential hypertension have yielded inconsistent results with some suggesting that calcium supplementation can ameliorate hypertension (244-246) and others showing no effect (247-249), or even a hypertensive effect (for review, see (250)). However, when plasma renin profile is taken into account, a high calcium diet has been shown to ameliorate hypertension in both low-renin rat models (251-254) and human hypertension (17, 255-257). Furthermore, only the subset of hypertensives with elevated PTH responded to dietary calcium supplementation with a reduction in blood pressure (258). In addition, salt-sensitive hypertension has also been shown to improve with dietary calcium loading (259). These studies are somewhat surprising given that hypercalcemia due to Ca²⁺ infusion can directly raise blood pressure under physiological conditions (i.e. in normotension) (260), partially through increasing Ca^{2+} availability to vascular smooth muscle. Concurrent with the anti-hypertensive effects of calcium-loading is the observation that Ca^{2+} channel blockers also have anti-hypertensive effects in low-renin hypertension (254, 261). This is a paradox since one treatment raises plasma Ca^{2+} , yet the other prevents its entry into cells. This paradox may be resolved with examination of the parathyroid gland's role in hypertension (discussed below) and further discussion of the roles of the calcium-regulating hormones (vitamin D3 metabolites and PTH) in the cardiovascular system and in hypertension.

1.3.2.7 Role of vitamin D3 metabolites in hypertension

$1.3.2.7.1 \quad 1,25-(OH)_2D_3$

Although 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ is classically known for its role in Ca²⁺ and phosphate homeostasis, a significant role has been defined in the cardiovascular system. Effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ have been demonstrated on both cardiac and vascular smooth muscle. 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to stimulate voltage-sensitive Ca²⁺ channel currents in classical vitamin D3 target sites, for example, intestines (145), therefore it is not surprising to find that 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ acts as a Ca²⁺ channel agonist in other tissues. Acute stimulation of L-type Ca²⁺ channel currents and increased intracellular Ca²⁺ (262) in vascular smooth muscle cells and positive inotropic actions in cardiomyocytes (263) are thus some of the important cardiovascular effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to enhance vascular contractility in response to classical vasopressors (264).

The overt effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on blood pressure are more complicated to

discern. In some studies, bolus administration of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in normotensive rats has not been shown to enhance blood pressure directly (i.e. independently from increases in plasma Ca²⁺) after 24 hours but has been shown to augment the pressor responses to norepinephrine (NE) and angiotensin II (AngII) in vessels *ex vivo* (265) and increase vascular resistance in renal vascular beds *in vivo* (266). However in other studies, chronic administration of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in normotensive rats resulted in a significant increase in blood pressure first apparent after 7 days of daily $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ administration in the absence of any changes in plasma calcium (267). The effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on blood pressure at more acute time points was also examined in these studies, however, consistent with human data (268), $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was not shown to have any early effects.

A chronic effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in blood pressure regulation suggests several possibilities. A genomic mechanism of action of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ could account for the time lag and in fact, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has been shown to increase synthesis of myosin light chain subunits (proteins which are involved in vascular smooth muscle contraction) in selected vascular beds (269). Alternatively, overt blood pressure effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may not be detected because $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ plays more of a modulatory role and influences the contractile responses of vascular smooth muscle to other more potent regulators.

Altered plasma concentration of and cardiovascular reactivity to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ have suggested a role for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in experimental and human hypertension. Plasma $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has been shown to be elevated in low-renin and salt-sensitive rat models (14, 15, 270) and human hypertension (18). In some rat models, for example Dahl-salt sensitive (Dahl-SS) rats, this elevation in $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ actually precedes the

development of hypertension (15). In SHR however, elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ appears to exist only in the young animal (237, 271) as there appears to be an age-related decline in 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (272). In addition to altered plasma 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, chronic 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ administration has been shown to potentiate induced contractility in vitro in resistance vessels taken from SHR (264, 267, 273, 274) to a greater extent than for vessels derived from normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. As in normotension, studies of the effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on blood pressure have yielded inconsistent results. Transient effects on systolic blood pressure in male hypertensive patients (but not in normotensive volunteers) have been reported (268). In SHR, one report showed that sub-acute (7 day) treatment with $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ did not result in any significant effect on blood pressure (274), however, chronic administration (5-9 weeks) has been shown to accelerate the development of hypertension in the SHR (275). Although the studies of human hypertension yield a slightly different picture, the findings in SHR imply that 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ may exacerbate some pathway or predisposition to hypertension and thus contribute to the development of hypertension in the young SHR, but have no significant role in the maintenance of hypertension in the adult animal.

1.3.2.7.2 24,25-(OH)₂D₃

In contrast to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ has been shown to exert rapid inhibition of both tonic and phasic vascular contraction induced by KCl, NE, or arginine vasopressin (AVP) treatment (276). These effects are observed in conjunction with inhibition of L-type Ca²⁺ currents in vascular smooth muscle cells (276). Of particular interest is the observation that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ levels diminish during the progression of salt-sensitive hypertension in Dahl-SS rats leaving open the possibility that reduced

 $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ -dependent inhibition of vascular contractility may contribute to saltsensitive hypertension (277). *In vivo* however, administration of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ for two weeks in normotensive rats did not have direct hypotensive effects, as might be predicted, nor did it reduce the blood pressure and vascular responses to AngII and NE (265). Therefore the importance of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in blood pressure modulation is not clear.

1.3.2.8 Unifying hypothesis for essential hypertension

Resnick et al have developed a hypothesis which generally accounts for the discrepancies observed in essential hypertension with respect to calcium metabolism (278, 279). All essential hypertension may be said to result from raised intracellular Ca²⁺ in vascular smooth muscle tissue. The cause of this rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ is what distinguishes the low-renin and high-renin forms of hypertension. In low-renin hypertension, characterized by hypocalcemia and elevated PTH and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, hypertension would result from increased Ca²⁺ uptake from the extracellular space through the actions of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and possibly other calcium-responsive hormones. The efficacy of therapeutic maneuvers such as increasing dietary calcium and Ca²⁺ channel blockers could then at least partially be explained through their ability to suppress plasma 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and prevent Ca²⁺ influx into vascular smooth muscle tissue. The role of dietary salt in the pathogenesis of low-renin hypertension is unclear, but it is known salt loading also results in elevated intracellular Ca²⁺. Elevated plasma Na⁺ may also have indirect effects on intracellular Ca²⁺ content by stimulating 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ production (262).

In contrast, high-renin hypertension involves increased Ca²⁺ release from

intracellular stores in response to agonists, such as AngII, which are elevated in the plasma. In these cases, increasing dietary calcium and Ca²⁺ channel blockers would have no beneficial anti-hypertensive actions.

In summary, Na^+ - and Ca^{2+} -regulating hormones transduce environmental signals, such as dietary calcium and salt intake, at the level of vascular smooth muscle cells and the cellular responses to these hormones may be altered genetically in essential hypertension (280).

1.3.3 Involvement of PTG in low-renin hypertension

In addition to the association of hyperparathyroidism with low-renin hypertension, there are several lines of evidence which implicate the involvement of the PTG in hypertension. Parathyroidectomy in adult (9-11) and young (281) rat models of low-renin hypertension have resulted in a reduction of blood pressure. In human primary hyperparathyroid hypertensive patients however, parathyroidectomy resulted a decrease in blood pressure in some patients, but an increase or no effect in others (282). The diversity in responses to parathyroidectomy in these patients may be related to removal of both hypertensive and anti-hypertensive substances and will be discussed in subsequent sections. Furthermore, parathyroid cross-transplantation (9, 283, 284) studies have indicated that there is a linkage between hypertension and the PTG. These findings suggest that the PTG may be required for the pathology of low-renin hypertansion. The association of hypertension with a subset of patients with primary hyperparathyroidism resulted in substantial speculation about the involvement of the PTG, and it's only known product at the time, PTH, in the pathogenesis or maintenance of low-renin hypertension.

1.3.3.1 Parathyroid abnormalities in low-renin hypertension

Somewhat surprisingly in light of the evidence indicating an association of the PTG with low-renin hypertension, parathyroid cell biology or regulation thereof in hypertension has been studied infrequently. Rather, the focus shifted to examination of the role of PTH in hypertension (discussed below). In one of the few published studies, SHR parathyroid tissue was shown to have an increased wet weight versus the normotensive genetic control strain, Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats (285). The study indicated that the increase in mass was due to hyperplasia rather than gland hypertrophy, although the glands were not examined histologically. This same study also reported enhanced maximal specific $[^{3}H]$ -1,25-(OH)₂D₃ binding in SHR parathyroid cell extracts. This is somewhat surprising since the SHR shares several features of secondary hyperparathyroidism due to chronic renal insufficiency in which reduced 1,25VDR_{nuc} expression has been reported (286). One explanation is that this enhanced maximal 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ parathyroid binding in the SHR may represent binding to the 1,25VDR_{mem} which has unknown parathyroid expression levels. Alternatively, the downregulation of the 1,25VDR_{nuc} in secondary hyperparathyroidism due to chronic renal failure may be an important part of the pathology of this condition in light of the drastically reduced plasma $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ levels and anti-proliferative effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in the PTG. In contrast, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ is actually elevated in low-renin hypertension suggesting that hyperplasia is not related to insufficient $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$.

A histological study of the SHR PTG showed that it possessed a novel cell type (19) shown in Figure 1-2. This cell type stained more darkly using hemotoxylin/eosin, carbohydrate, and lipid staining techniques. The cells were also highly vacuolated and

the nuclei were pyknotic versus the surrounding normal parathyroid epithelial cells. The observation of these cells could not simply reflect an artifact due to tissue processing or staining procedures since novel cells represented approximately 15% of SHR PTG but were absent in glands derived from WKY rats. This implies that this cell phenotype may play a role in hypertension. This was supported by the observation of a correlation of the percentage of novel cells with blood pressure. These results suggest that these cells may either secrete or activate a substance which plays an important role in blood pressure regulation. Since PTH is elevated in low-renin hypertension, it is logical to examine the role of PTH in blood pressure regulation.

1.3.3.2 Cardiovascular effects of PTH

The hypotensive actions of a parathyroid extract were first demonstrated by Collip and Clark in 1925 (287). These effects were investigated in greater detail in studies by Charbon (23), Schleiffer et al (288), and Lindner et al (289). The most recent studies, spanning the last twenty years, have yielded an extensive body of evidence documenting the cardiovascular effects of PTH (20-22). The *in vivo* effects of PTH have been obscured by the ability of PTH administration to result in the plasma augmentation of two pressor elements, plasma 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and Ca²⁺. Therefore there has been at least one report of chronic PTH administration resulting in blood pressure-raising effects (290). None-the-less, most studies have shown a hypotensive effect of PTH. However, pharmacological doses are often required for the pressor effect of PTH which may indicate that secondary effects on 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and ionized Ca²⁺ levels are occurring and interfering with the depressor actions of PTH. Alternatively, the requirement for

supraphysiological concentrations of PTH may indicate that PTHrP (which can accumulate to relatively higher local concentrations), is actually the native ligand since comparative studies between PTH and PTHrP revealed that not only was PTHrP capable of exerting these effects, but that it exhibited substantially greater potency (291).

The specific hypotensive properties of PTH have been described in a variety of species and for many vascular beds (20-23). The mechanism of this inhibition appears to be related, at least in part, to the inhibition of L-type Ca²⁺ currents in vascular smooth muscle cells (292, 293). In contrast, in cardiomyocytes, L-type Ca^{2+} currents are stimulated by PTH which accounts for the positive inotropic and chronotropic effects of PTH (294, 295). It is believed that PTH exerts its effects on L-type Ca²⁺ channels through cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) signaling (296). The cardiovascular effects of PTH appear to have different peptide structural requirements from those of the classical Ca²⁺-regulating effects (297). The calcemic effects of PTH are mostly confined to the first two N-terminal amino acid residues. However, the cardiovascular effects of PTH appear to be localized to amino acids 25-27 as native human PTH (hPTH(1-34)), but not alanine substituted PTH ([Ala25,26,27]hPTH(1-34)) was shown to be bioactive in relaxing precontracted rat tail arteries, inducing hypotension, and inhibiting the KClinduced rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) in rats (298). These studies clearly indicate that the hypotensive properties of PTH can be attributed to distinct regions of the molecule separate from the region responsible for the hypercalcemic actions of PTH. Therefore, it is highly unlikely that PTH is contributing to the hypertension described in primary hyperparathyroidism and in fact, PTH has been shown to have hypotensive actions in primary hyperparathyroid patients (299).

1.4 Parathyroid Hypertensive Factor

1.4.1 Discovery of PHF

Parabiotic experiments whereby the circulation of a hypertensive rat was made continuous with the circulation of a normotensive rat had previously suggested the existence of a circulating hypertensive factor (300). With the PTG implicated in hypertension, many groups attributed hypertensive actions to PTH. However, as described above, the work of Pang and others has clearly demonstrated the hypotensive nature of PTH (20-22, 244). Since PTH is elevated in low-renin hypertension, the existence of a circulating antagonist of the hypotensive actions of PTH was suggested. In primary hyperparathyroid patients with hypertension, plasma ultrafiltrate was shown to raise platelet cytosolic Ca^{2+} *in vitro*; however, exposure to plasma processed from normotensive uremic patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism had no effect, despite equivalent levels of plasma PTH (10). These studies suggested the presence of a unique pressor molecule derived from or activated by the PTG in low-renin hypertension and hypertension of hyperparathyroidism.

In an attempt to detect and characterize this hypertensive factor, Lewanczuk and Pang injected partially purified plasma from SHR and normotensive WKY rats into normotensive assay animals and measured the blood pressure response over several hours. SHR, but not WKY plasma was shown not only to inhibit the hypotensive actions of PTH in the blood pressure bioassay (301), but to exert delayed hypertensive actions with peak activity 45-60 minutes after bolus injection (302). Small vasopressors and

vasoactive ions which typically exert rapid pressor effects (within minutes) were removed by dialysis at a 1 kDa molecular weight cut-off and thus were not responsible for this delayed hypertensive action of SHR plasma extract. Therefore a circulating hypertensive factor in the plasma of SHR was proposed.

1.4.2 Purification and source of PHF

Because the PTG was associated with hypertension, the origin of the putative hypertensive factor was suspected to be the PTG. A 1-5 kDa fraction purified from culture medium of parathyroid gland and cell cultures was found to exert the classic delayed pressor response in the blood pressure bioassay suggesting that the major source of this hypertensive factor was indeed the PTG (303, 304), prompting the authors to term it "parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF)" (305). PHF was subsequently shown to be sensitive to degradation by the enzymes trypsin, chymotrypsin, phospholipase C, and phospholipase D suggesting the presence of both a peptide and lipid component to PHF (306). The exact structure of PHF has yet to be determined although a partial peptide sequence has been obtained (see section 1.4.5).

Additional groups were also able to isolate substances of a similar molecular weight from the parathyroid tissue derived from human hyperparathyroid patients (10, 307) and from SHR plasma (308, 309) that share some of the unique structural and hypertensive features of PHF. One hypertensive substance in particular has been shown to be elevated in the plasma of SHR, however structural features such as a molecular mass of approximately 1 kDa, a hydrophilic nature, heat resistance, and insensitivity to trypsin or carboxypeptidase, suggest that the described substance is not PHF (310). This

substance did not appear to be acting through the classical vasoconstriction pathways as antagonists to receptors for AngII, NE, thromboxane, or serotonin did not abolish the pressor effect of the substance (310).

The parathyroid origin of PHF was suggested by the absence of PHF activity following parathyroidectomy of hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients (10, 282) and cross-transplantation studies between SHR and normotensive rat strains (9). Bioactivity and biochemical purification properties (such as high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) retention times) confirmed that PHF derived from parathyroid cell cultures was identical (303) to that isolated from the plasma of SHR (311) and lowrenin hypertensive humans (312).

PHF was ultimately also shown to be elevated in other low-renin rat models of hypertension (313, 314), hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients (282), and low-renin hypertensive patients (312). Subsequently, PHF has been detected in plasma of normotensive humans (315), although the physiological role of PHF is unknown. Since PHF was shown to be released from the PTG, a tissue which is negatively regulated by plasma Ca^{2+} , the efficacy of dietary calcium in low-renin hypertension can be explained by the properties of PHF.

1.4.3 Mechanism of action

Concurrent with the blood pressure studies of SHR plasma extracts, were vascular smooth muscle Ca^{2+} uptake studies. Partially purified plasma from SHR, but not WKY rats, enhanced Ca^{2+} uptake into isolated rat tail arteries derived from normotensive animals (302). Subsequent studies demonstrated that although PHF did not have direct

effects on L-type Ca^{2+} channels of VSMC, PHF enhanced both the influx and the rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} induced by NE and KCl (316). PHF was also shown to potentiate the pressor effects of classical vasoconstrictors *in vivo* (317). However, in red blood cells, PHF was shown to directly stimulate an increase in cytosolic Ca^{2+} (318). These findings are supported by the observation that the L-type Ca^{2+} channel blocker, nifedipine, inhibited the pressor effects of PHF in the blood pressure bioassay (316). The time courses for all of these effects are consistent with that of PHF in the blood pressure bioassay with peak activity occurring between 45-60 minutes. Based on this proposed mechanism of action, it is not surprising that plasma PHF levels are able to predict the efficacy of Ca^{2+} channel blockers in treating essential hypertension (319). The actions of PHF are not confined to VSMC as PHF has been implicated in other conditions which exhibit pathological elevations in intracellular Ca^{2+} in the relevant tissues. For example, elevated PHF has been shown in a significant proportion of patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus (320).

Additional mechanisms of action for PHF have been investigated including stimulation of phosphodiesterase (PDE) activity. PDE catalyzes the cleavage of the cyclical form of cAMP to the linear, inactive form. A decrease in cAMP is associated with increased contractility in vascular smooth muscle. PHF has been shown to stimulate PDE activity, thus decreasing cAMP and contributing to vasoconstriction (316).

A third mechanism of action of PHF involves regulation of K^+ channels. PHF has been shown to inhibit the delayed rectifier type potassium current with the same time course as for PHF-induced effects on Ca²⁺ uptake and blood pressure (321). This inhibition of the delayed rectifier K⁺ channel was associated with a decrease in the resting

membrane potential suggesting that PHF may contribute to enhanced vascular contractility by bringing the membrane potential closer to that required for activation of L-type Ca^{2+} channels.

1.4.4 Involvement of PHF in low-renin hypertension

Studies utilizing parathyroidectomy and PTG cross-transplantation would seem to indicate the importance of PHF in the progression or maintenance of low-renin hypertension. These studies showed not only the linkage between the PTG and hypertension, but that appearance of plasma PHF could be correlated with hypertension. None-the-less, these data do not unequivocally demonstrate the fundamental role of PHF in the pathology of hypertension. Recently the important role of PHF in hypertension has been demonstrated using antisera to PHF. Injection of this antisera reduced mean arterial blood pressure to within a normal range (approximately 110 mmHg) in SHR and preincubation of the antisera with partially purified PHF abolished the pressor activity of PHF in the blood pressure bioassay (322). Subsequent studies performed using the purified monoclonal anti-PHF antibody (described below) have confirmed these results. This is the strongest evidence for the role of PHF in hypertension to date. Until recently, PHF was only detected in biological samples derived from SHR animals suggesting that PHF may represent some aberrant by-product of PTG overactivity in low-renin hypertension. However, PHF is now detectable in parathyroid cell and organ cultures derived from normotensive WKY rats and in the plasma of normotensive humans (315). The physiological role of PHF is purely speculative, but may represent the first description of a systemic regulator of intracellular calcium. PHF physiology will be

explored in greater detail in the Discussion section of this thesis.

1.4.5 PHF Structure

Recently a monoclonal antibody has been raised against PHF which has been used for a variety of applications. An ELISA for the detection of PHF has been developed which has simplified the quantitation of PHF levels in biological samples (315, 323), which were previously measured by bioassay. The monoclonal antibody has also been used for immunocytochemistry and immunohistochemistry (reported here), Western blotting, and affinity purification of PHF. The structure of PHF prior to production of affinity-purified PHF was unknown but believed to be a peptide-lipid complex of approximately 3-4 kDa (306). However, subsequent studies of chromatography purified PHF have indicated a structure of approximately 4 kDa. This material is currently being purified in mass production to obtain adequate concentrations to allow peptide sequencing.

1.4.6 Regulation of PHF secretion

The regulation of PHF synthesis and secretion is poorly understood. Since the low-renin subset of hypertension coincides with the salt-sensitive subset, and normotensive rats could be made hypertensive by desoxycorticosterone acetate-salt (DOCA-NaCl) treatment, it is logical to examine the effect of salt intake on plasma PHF. Several dietary studies have revealed that a high salt intake may increase plasma PHF, or PHF-like bioactivity in human essential hypertension (241, 312). Dietary salt loading also induced expression of PHF in the plasma of Dahl-SS hypertensive rats (314), and stimulated PHF-like bioactivity in SHR animals (309).

Since PHF was shown to originate in the PTG, it was also hypothesized that calcium would negatively regulate PHF as for PTH. Inhibition of PHF synthesis or secretion by calcium would account for the efficacy of dietary calcium supplementation in treatment of low-renin hypertension. Dietary studies in both SHR and DOCA-NaCl hypertensive rats showed that increased calcium intake was associated with lower plasma PHF or PHF-like pressor activity (324, 325). However dietary studies with calcium, although useful clinically, introduce multiple variables (including decreased plasma 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$) which may confound the picture and thus do not provide evidence of a direct effect of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF synthesis or secretion. As a result, studies were undertaken utilizing parathyroid organ cultures derived from SHR and WKY rats with PHF detected by the blood pressure bioassay. The results yielded two important pieces of information: first, that reduction of Ca²⁺ in culture media was associated with detectable PHF, and second, that WKY parathyroid organ cultures did not produce detectable PHF (303). The recent development of the PHF enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA) has enabled more precise studies of the direct effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release from cultured intact PTG or dispersed parathyroid cells.

1.5 Summary

The parathyroid glands represent the control center for calcium and phosphate metabolism. They sense minute changes in EC Ca^{2+} through the CaR and respond with changes in PTH synthesis and secretion. If necessary, the PTG can also be stimulated to proliferate as part of an appropriate response to hypocalcemia and vitamin D3 deficiency

(as in secondary hyperparathyroidism) or an inappropriate response in the face of hypercalcemia (as in primary hyperparathyroidism). There is a clear association between hyperparathyroidism and hypertension. A substantial proportion of primary hyperparathyroid patients are hypertensive and similarly, the low-renin subset of hypertensives is characterized by abnormalities in calcium homeostasis indicative of secondary hyperparathyroidism. Specifically, low-renin hypertension displays hypocalcemia and elevations in both PTH and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. Studies of this apparent relationship between hyperparathyroidism and hypertension have indicated a role of the PTG in hypertension. Parathyroid abnormalities such as hyperplasia and the detection of a novel cell type have been observed in the SHR (a model of low-renin hypertension), however the factors which contribute to these anomalies are unknown. Parallel to these parathyroid studies, a paradox emerged in which both dietary calcium and Ca²⁺ channel blockers were effective in ameliorating low-renin hypertension. This paradox could be resolved by the introduction of the "parathyroid hypertensive factor"; a vasopressor substance which is secreted from the PTG and appears to act through potentiation of Ltype Ca²⁺ channel currents. PHF was found to be elevated in low-renin experimental and human hypertension. Dietary studies and parathyroid organ culture studies have suggested that EC Ca²⁺ may directly inhibit secretion of PHF, but the precise regulation of PHF synthesis and secretion is largely unknown. Although PHF structure remains elusive, the development of an ELISA for PHF detection has allowed for the pursuit of the potential regulators of PHF secretion. Identification of key regulators of PHF release and characterization of the signal transduction pathways they utilize will have important therapeutic potential for the development of antagonists of PHF secretion.

1.6 Hypothesis

Based on the literature reviewed above, my hypothesis for this thesis is as follows. Parathyroid cells derived from SHR share several features with the parathyroid cells of hyperparathyroidism, however do not display features consistent with a transformation to a cancerous phenotype. In addition, all parathyroid tissue secretes PHF, however SHR PTG secrete more PHF than WKY PTG. This release is inhibited by EC Ca²⁺ and stimulated by 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ based on the observed plasma ionic and hormonal profiles of low-renin hypertension and the fact that both EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ are key parathyroid regulators. Furthermore, to account for the elevated plasma PHF of the SHR, parathyroid cells of SHR secrete more PHF and proliferate to a greater extent than WKY partially due to increased sensitivity to stimulation by low EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. This differential sensitivity is related to alterations in expression of the receptors which mediate the effects of EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃; namely, the CaR, 1,25VDR_{mem}, and the 1,25VDR_{muc}.

1.7 Aims of the thesis

The aims of this thesis are diagramed in Figure 1-3 and are as follows:

 To characterize the parathyroid cell biology of the current model of primary parathyroid cell culture derived from SHR and WKY rats. The proliferative and metabolic properties will be compared and contrasted as will the response to serum-deprivation induced cell death. In addition, the regulation of

parathyroid cell viability by EC Ca^{2+} and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ will be examined and compared between the two strains.

2. To confirm and extend the information suggesting an inhibitory effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF secretion. Parathyroid cell and organ cultures will be exposed to varying concentrations of EC Ca²⁺ under various conditions to better understand the complex regulation of PHF release by Ca²⁺. Furthermore, the role of the CaR in mediating these potential effects will be examined and any strain differences in sensitivity to EC Ca²⁺, which may be related to CaR expression, will be noted.

3. To examine the effect of vitamin D3 on PHF secretion. Parathyroid cell and organ cultures will be exposed to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (and other vitamin D3 analogs as relevant), under various conditions to determine the role of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ in regulation of PHF release. The mechanism of potential effects will be investigated including the roles of the two VDR, 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc} in mediating these effects.

1.8 Claims of Originality

The novel findings of this thesis are as follows:

 SHR PTC display abnormalities suggestive of a hyperplastic cell condition. These abnormalities include increased proliferation rate and growth to a greater plateau cell density and possibly increased metabolic rate and resistance to spontaneous apoptosis under normal culture conditions.

- 2. Acute exposure to EC Ca^{2+} under high density culture conditions results in an enhanced number of viable cells for both SHR and WKY PTC. Similarly, acute and to a greater extent, sub-acute exposure to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ results in an increase in the number of viable cells for both SHR and WKY PTC.
- 3. SHR and WKY PTC are not differentially regulated by EC Ca²⁺ with respect to effects on the number of viable cells. Differential effects are observed however with 48 hours of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ treatment. These differences are likely secondary to the increased proliferation rate of SHR PTC.
- 4. Normal parathyroid tissue (represented by WKY PTC and PTG organ cultures) secretes PHF.
- SHR parathyroid tissue produces more PHF under basal conditions than WKY PTC suggesting the existence of some intrinsic abnormality in PHF release in the SHR PTG.
- 6. Acute exposure to low EC Ca²⁺ stimulates PHF release from both SHR and WKY parathyroid tissue. For cultured PTC, significant stimulation of PHF release by low EC Ca²⁺ occurs at approximately the same cell density in culture for SHR and WKY PTC.
- Both WKY and to a greater extent, SHR PTC express CaR protein. Decreased expression of this protein is associated with low EC Ca²⁺ and a rapidly proliferating cell population.
- The CaR appears to mediate the effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release in both SHR and WKY PTC.
- 9. Acute and sub-acute exposure to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ stimulates PHF release in a

dose-dependent and 1,25VDR_{nuc}-independent manner for both SHR and WKY PTC.

- 10. Acute and sub-acute exposure to $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ inhibits PHF release in a dosedependent manner for both SHR and WKY PTC.
- 11. Rapid stimulation of PHF release by 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ occurs with increased sensitivity in SHR PTC, whereas rapid inhibition of PHF release by 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ occurs with decreased sensitivity in SHR PTC.
- 12. Both WKY, and to a greater extent, SHR PTC express 1,25VDR_{mem} protein. Similar amounts of the 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein are observed in SHR and WKY PTC.



Figure 1-1—Overview of calcium homeostasis. Solid lines indicate activation or stimulatory effects and dashed lines indicate inhibitory effects.



Figure 1-2—Novel cell localization in the SHR parathyroid. Parathyroid sections from SHR (a) and WKY (b) rats were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Arrows indicate clusters of darkly stained "novel" cells, which are visible in SHR, but not WKY, parathyroid sections (Unpublished results of histochemistry performed by Toyoji Kaneko).



Developing SHR



Figure 1-3—Regulation of PHF secretion: hypothesis. Solid lines indicate activation or stimulatory effects and dashed lines indicate inhibitory effects. Question marks indicate unknown alterations in receptor protein expression levels in SHR parathyroid cells

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1.9 REFERENCES

- 1. **Rosenthal FD, Roy S** 1972 Hypertension and hyperparathyroidism. British Medical Journal 4:396-7
- 2. Lueg MC 1982 Hypertension and primary hyperparathyroidism: a five-year case review. Southern Medical Journal. 75:1371-4
- 3. **Ringe JD** 1984 Reversible hypertension in primary hyperparathyroidism--preand posteroperative blood pressure in 75 cases. Klinische Wochenschrift. 62:465-9
- 4. **Rapado A** 1986 Arterial hypertension and primary hyperparathyroidism. Incidence and follow-up after parathyroidectomy. American Journal of Nephrology. 6:49-50
- 5. Hellstrom J, Birke G, Edvall CA 1958 Hypertension in hyperparathyroidism. British Journal of Urology 30:13-24
- 6. **Madhaven T, Frame B, Block MA** 1970 Influence of surgical correction of primary hyperparathyroidism on associated hypertension. Archives of Surgery 100:212-3
- 7. **Jones DB, Jones JH, Lloyd HJ, al. e** 1983 Changes in blood pressure and renal function after parathyroidectomy in primary hyperparathyroidism. Postgraduate Medical Journal 59:350-3
- 8. **Niederle B, Roka R, Woloszczyk W, al. e** 1987 Successful parathyroidectomy in primary hyperparathyroidism: a clinical follow-up study of 212 consecutive patients. Surgery 102:903-9
- 9. **Pang PK, Lewanczuk RZ** 1989 Parathyroid origin of a new circulating hypertensive factor in spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:898-902
- 10. Schiffl H, Sitter T, Lang SM 1997 Noradrenergic blood pressure dysregulation and cytosolic calcium in primary hyperparathyroidism. Kidney & Blood Pressure Research 20:290-6
- 11. **Mann JF, Wiecek A, Bommer J, Ganten U, Ritz E** 1987 Effects of parathyroidectomy on blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Nephron. 45:46-52
- 12. McCarron DA, Yung NN, Ugoretz BA, Krutzik S 1981 Disturbances of calcium metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension 3:I162-7
- 13. Stern N, Lee DB, Silis V, et al. 1984 Effects of high calcium intake on blood

pressure and calcium metabolism in young SHR. Hypertension. 6:639-46

- 14. **DiPette DJ, Greilich PE, Nickols GA, et al.** 1990 Effect of dietary calcium supplementation on blood pressure and calciotropic hormones in mineralocorticoid-salt hypertension. J Hypertens 8:515-20
- 15. Kotchen TA, Ott CE, Whitescarver SA, Resnick LM, Gertner JM, Blehschmidt NG 1990 Calcium, parathyroid hormone, and vitamin D in the "prehypertensive" Dahl salt-sensitive rat. Am J Hypertens 3:167S-170S
- 16. **Resnick LM, Muller FB, Laragh JH** 1986 Calcium-regulating hormones in essential hypertension. Relation to plasma renin activity and sodium metabolism. Annals of Internal Medicine. 105:649-54
- 17. **Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH** 1986 Calcium metabolism in essential hypertension: relationship to altered renin system activity. Federation Proceedings. 45:2739-45
- Resnick LM 1986 Alterations of dietary calcium intake as a therapeutic modality in essential hypertension. Canadian Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology. 64:803-7
- 19. Kaneko T, Ohtani R, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1989 A novel cell type in the parathyroid glands of spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:549-52
- 20. Crass MF, 3rd, Pang PK 1980 Parathyroid hormone: a coronary artery vasodilator. Science 207:1087-9
- 21. **Pang PK, Janssen HF, Yee JA** 1980 Effects of synthetic parathyroid hormone on vascular beds of dogs. Pharmacology 21:213-22
- 22. **Pang PK, Tenner TE, Jr., Yee JA, Yang M, Janssen HF** 1980 Hypotensive action of parathyroid hormone preparations on rats and dogs. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 77:675-8
- 23. **Charbon GA** 1968 A rapid and selective vasodilator effect of parathyroid hormone. European Journal of Pharmacology 3:375-8
- 24. **Rubin RP** 1970 The role of calcium in the release of neurotransmitter substances and hormones. Pharmacological Reviews 22:389-428
- 25. Chaudhry A, Rubin RP 1990 Mediators of Ca2+-dependent secretion. Environmental Health Perspectives 84:35-9
- 26. **Bootman MD, Collins TJ, Peppiatt CM, et al.** 2001 Calcium signalling--an overview. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 12:3-10
- 27. Morgan JP, Perreault CL, Morgan KG 1991 The cellular basis of contraction and relaxation in cardiac and vascular smooth muscle. American Heart Journal 121:961-8
- 28. **Parsons J** 1982 Bone tissue: an overview of structure and function. Clinical and Investigative Medicine Medecine Clinique et Experimentale 5:141-6
- 29. **Nemere I, Szego CM** 1981 Early actions of parathyroid hormone and 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol on isolated epithelial cells from rat intestine: I. Limited lysosomal enzyme release and calcium uptake. Endocrinology 108:1450-62
- 30. Nemere I, Norman AW 1986 Parathyroid hormone stimulates calcium transport in perfused duodena from normal chicks: comparison with the rapid (transcaltachic) effect of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Endocrinology 119:1406-8
- 31. **Jacobs JW, Goodman RH, Chin WW, et al.** 1981 Calcitonin messenger RNA encodes multiple polypeptides in a single precursor. Science 213:457-9
- 32. Nelkin BD, Rosenfeld KI, de Bustros A, Leong SS, Roos BA, Baylin SB 1984 Structure and expression of a gene encoding human calcitonin and calcitonin gene related peptide. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications. 123:648-55
- 33. Lietz H 1971 C-cells: source of calcitonin. A morphological review. Current Topics in Pathology 55:109-46
- 34. **Jacobs JW, Simpson E, Penschow J, Hudson P, Coghlan J, Niall H** 1983 Characterization and localization of calcitonin messenger ribonucleic acid in rat thyroid. Endocrinology. 113:1616-22
- 35. **Moya F, Nieto A, JL RC** 1975 Calcitonin biosynthesis: evidence for a precursor. European Journal of Biochemistry 55:407-13
- 36. Amara SG, David DN, Rosenfeld MG, Roos BA, Evans RM 1980 Characterization of rat calcitonin mRNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 77:4444-8
- 37. Bell NH, Queener S 1974 Stimulation of calcitonin synthesis and release in vitro by calcium and dibutyryl cyclic AMP. Nature 248:343-4
- 38. Webb AR, Holick MF 1988 The role of sunlight in the cutaneous production of vitamin D3. Annual Review of Nutrition. 8:375-99
- 39. Walters MR 1992 Newly identified actions of the vitamin D endocrine system. Endocrine Reviews 13:719-64
- 40. **Reichel H, Koeffler HP, Norman AW** 1989 The role of the vitamin D endocrine

system in health and disease. New England Journal of Medicine 320:980-91

- 41. **DeLuca HF, Schnoes HK** 1976 Metabolism and mechanism of action of vitamin D. Annual Review of Biochemistry 45:631-66
- 42. **Horsting M, DeLuca HF** 1969 In vitro production of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 36:251-6
- 43. **Ghazarian JG, Jefcoate CR, Knutson JC, Orme-Johnson WH, DeLuca HF** 1974 Mitochondrial cytochrome p450. A component of chick kidney 25hydrocholecalciferol-1alpha-hydroxylase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 249:3026-33
- 44. Cloix JF, Ulmann A, Monet JD, Funck-Brentano JL 1981 Human parathyroid gland adenylate cyclase activity: inhibition by 24,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol in vitro. Clinical Science 60:339-41
- 45. **Friedlaender MM, Kornberg Z, Wald H, Popovtzer MM** 1983 Renal effect of vitamin D metabolites: evidence for the essential role of the 25(OH) group. American Journal of Physiology 244:F674-8
- 46. **Kugai N, Koide Y, Kimura S, Yamashita K, Ogata E** 1981 Inhibitory effects of 1 alpha, 25-dihydroxycholecalciferol on parathyroid hormone secretion in rats. Endocrinologia Japonica 28:653-61
- 47. **Gruson M, Demignon J, Del Pino Montes J, Miravet L** 1982 Comparative effects of some hydroxylated vitamin D metabolites on parathyrin secretion by dispersed rat parathyroid cells in vitro. Steroids 40:275-85
- 48. **Rothstein M, Olgaard K, Arbelaez M, Finco D, Klahr S, Slatopolsky E** 1983 Lack of influence of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on parathyroid hormone secretion from normal or hyperplastic glands. Calcified Tissue International 35:449-54
- 49. Kugai N, Koide Y, Kimura S, Yamashita K 1984 Inhibitory effects of active vitamin D preparations on PTH secretion in rats. Endocrinologia Japonica 31:151-8
- 50. Wald H, Traves J, Popovtzer MM 1987 24,25(OH)2D3 enhances the calcemic effect of 1,25(OH)2D3 in PTX rats. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology & Medicine 184:47-9
- 51. **Tam CS, Heersche JN, Jones G, Murray TM, Rasmussen H** 1986 The effect of vitamin D on bone in vivo. Endocrinology 118:2217-24
- 52. See EG, Norman AW 1997 Three-fold induction of renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-24-hydroxylase activity and increased serum 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 levels are correlated with the healing process after chick tibial fracture. Journal of

Bone & Mineral Research 12:598-606

- 53. Somjen D, Somjen GJ, Weisman Y, Binderman I 1982 Evidence for 24,25dihydroxycholecalciferol receptors in long bones of newborn rats. Biochemical Journal. 204:31-6
- 54. **Narbaitz R, Tsang CP** 1989 Vitamin D deficiency in the chick embryo: effects on prehatching motility and on the growth and differentiation of bones, muscles, and parathyroid glands. Calcified Tissue International 44:348-55
- 55. **Pavlovitch JH, Cournot-Witmer G, Bourdeau A, Balsan S, Fischer JA, Heynen G** 1981 Suppressive effects of 24,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol on bone resorption induced by acute bilateral nephrectomy in rats. Journal of Clinical Investigation 68:803-810
- 56. **Nemere I** 1999 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses the rapid actions of 1, 25dihydroxyvitamin D3 and parathyroid hormone on calcium transport in chick intestine. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 14:1543-9
- 57. **Orloff JJ**, **Wu TL**, **Stewart AF** 1989 Parathyroid hormone-like proteins: biochemical responses and receptor interactions. Endocrine Reviews 10:476-95
- 58. **Soifer NE, Dee KE, Insogna KL, et al.** 1992 Parathyroid hormone-related protein. Evidence for secretion of a novel mid-region fragment by three different cell types. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:18236-43
- 59. Weir EC, Brines ML, Ikeda K, Burtis WJ, Broadus AE, Robbins RJ 1990 Parathyroid hormone-related peptide gene is expressed in the mammalian central nervous system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87:108-12
- 60. **Thiede MA, Daifotis AG, Weir EC, et al.** 1990 Intrauterine occupancy controls expression of the parathyroid hormone-related peptide gene in preterm rat myometrium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87:6969-73
- 61. **Hongo T, Kupfer J, Enomoto H, et al.** 1991 Abundant expression of parathyroid hormone-related protein in primary rat aortic smooth muscle cells accompanies serum-induced proliferation. Journal of Clinical Investigation 88:1841-7
- 62. **Drucker DJ, Asa SL, Henderson J, Goltzman D** 1989 The parathyroid hormone-like peptide gene is expressed in the normal and neoplastic human endocrine pancreas. Molecular Endocrinology 3:1589-95
- 63. **Orloff JJ, Reddy D, de Papp AE, Yang KH, Soifer NE, Stewart AF** 1994 Parathyroid hormone-related protein as a prohormone: posttranslational processing and receptor interactions. Endocrine Reviews 15:40-60

- 64. Stewart AF, Horst R, Deftos LJ, Cadman EC, Lang R, Broadus AE 1980 Biochemical evaluation of patients with cancer-associated hypercalcemia: evidence for humoral and nonhumoral groups. New England Journal of Medicine 303:1377-83
- 65. **Budayr AA, Nissenson RA, Klein RF, et al.** 1989 Increased serum levels of a parathyroid hormone-like protein in malignancy-associated hypercalcemia. Annals of Internal Medicine 111:807-12
- 66. **Burtis WJ, Brady TG, Orloff JJ, et al.** 1990 Immunochemical characterization of circulating parathyroid hormone-related protein in patients with humoral hypercalcemia of cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 322:1106-12
- 67. **Bilezikian JP** 1992 Clinical utility of assays for parathyroid hormone-related protein. Clinical Chemistry 38:179-81
- 68. Schipani E, Karga H, Karaplis AC, et al. 1993 Identical complementary deoxyribonucleic acids encode a human renal and bone parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide receptor. Endocrinology 132:2157-65
- 69. **Juppner H, Abou-Samra AB, Freeman M, et al.** 1991 A G protein-linked receptor for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide. Science 254:1024-6
- 70. **Rouleau MF, Warshawsky H, Goltzman D** 1986 Parathyroid hormone binding in vivo to renal, hepatic, and skeletal tissues of the rat using a radioautographic approach. Endocrinology. 118:919-31
- 71. **Abou-Samra AB, Juppner H, Force T, et al.** 1992 Expression cloning of a common receptor for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide from rat osteoblast-like cells: a single receptor stimulates intracellular accumulation of both cAMP and inositol trisphosphates and increases intracellular free calcium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89:2732-6
- 72. **Dunlay R, Hruska K** 1990 PTH receptor coupling to phospholipase C is an alternate pathway of signal transduction in bone and kidney. American Journal of Physiology 258:F223-31
- 73. Smith DP, Zhang XY, Frolik CA, et al. 1996 Structure and functional expression of a complementary DNA for porcine parathyroid hormone/parathyroid hormone-related peptide receptor. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1307:339-47
- 74. **Fujimori A, Cheng SL, Avioli LV, Civitelli R** 1991 Dissociation of second messenger activation by parathyroid hormone fragments in osteosarcoma cells. Endocrinology 128:3032-9

- 75. **Jouishomme H, Whitfield JF, Chakravarthy B, et al.** 1992 The protein kinase-C activation domain of the parathyroid hormone. Endocrinology 130:53-60
- 76. **Hruska KA, Moskowitz D, Esbrit P, Civitelli R, Westbrook S, Huskey M** 1987 Stimulation of inositol trisphosphate and diacylglycerol production in renal tubular cells by parathyroid hormone. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 79:230-9
- 77. Lowik CW, van Leeuwen JP, van der Meer JM, van Zeeland JK, Scheven BA, Herrmann-Erlee MP 1985 A two-receptor model for the action of parathyroid hormone on osteoblasts: a role for intracellular free calcium and cAMP. Cell Calcium. 6:311-26
- Hruska KA, Goligorsky M, Scoble J, Tsutsumi M, Westbrook S, Moskowitz D 1986 Effects of parathyroid hormone on cytosolic calcium in renal proximal tubular primary cultures. American Journal of Physiology. 251:F188-98
- 79. Mok LL, Nickols GA, Thompson JC, Cooper CW 1989 Parathyroid hormone as a smooth muscle relaxant. Endocrine Reviews 10:420-36
- 80. **Henderson JE, Kremer R, Rhim JS, Goltzman D** 1992 Identification and functional characterization of adenylate cyclase-linked receptors for parathyroid hormone-like peptides on immortalized human keratinocytes. Endocrinology 130:449-57
- 81. **Behar V, Pines M, Nakamoto C, et al.** 1996 The human PTH2 receptor: binding and signal transduction properties of the stably expressed recombinant receptor. Endocrinology 137:2748-57
- 82. Usdin TB, Gruber C, Bonner TI 1995 Identification and functional expression of a receptor selectively recognizing parathyroid hormone, the PTH2 receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:15455-8
- 83. **Hesch RD, Herrmann G, Perris AD, Atkinson MJ** 1986 Type II PTH receptoroperated calcium channel and its importance for PTH peptide elevations in coronary artery disease. American Journal of Nephrology. 6:155-61
- 84. Hesch RD, Brabant G, Rittinghaus EF, Atkinson MJ, Harms H 1988 Pulsatile secretion of parathyroid hormone and its action on a type I and type II PTH receptor: a hypothesis for understanding osteoporosis. Calcified Tissue International. 42:341-4
- 85. **Pun KK, Ho PW** 1989 Identification and characterization of parathyroid hormone receptors on dog kidney, human kidney, chick bone and human dermal fibroblast. A comparative study of functional and structural properties. Biochemical Journal 259:785-9
- 86. **Usdin TB, Bonner TI, Harta G, Mezey E** 1996 Distribution of parathyroid hormone-2 receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in rat. Endocrinology 137:4285-

- 87. Usdin TB, Hilton J, Vertesi T, Harta G, Segre G, Mezey E 1999 Distribution of the parathyroid hormone 2 receptor in rat: immunolocalization reveals expression by several endocrine cells. Endocrinology. 140:3363-71
- 88. **Hoare SR, Bonner TI, Usdin TB** 1999 Comparison of rat and human parathyroid hormone 2 (PTH2) receptor activation: PTH is a low potency partial agonist at the rat PTH2 receptor. Endocrinology. 140:4419-25
- 89. **Inomata N, Akiyama M, Kubota N, Juppner H** 1995 Characterization of a novel parathyroid hormone (PTH) receptor with specificity for the carboxyl-terminal region of PTH-(1-84). Endocrinology 136:4732-40
- 90. Haussler MR, Norman AW 1969 Chromosomal receptor for a vitamin D metabolite. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 62:155-62
- 91. **Burmester JK, Maeda N, DeLuca HF** 1988 Isolation and expression of rat 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor cDNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 85:1005-9
- 92. McDonnell DP, Mangelsdorf DJ, Pike JW, Haussler MR, O'Malley BW 1987 Molecular cloning of complementary DNA encoding the avian receptor for vitamin D. Science. 235:1214-7
- 93. **Baker AR, McDonnell DP, Hughes M, et al.** 1988 Cloning and expression of full-length cDNA encoding human vitamin D receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 85:3294-8
- 94. **Evans RM** 1988 The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science. 240:889-95
- 95. **Pike JW** 1991 Vitamin D3 receptors: structure and function in transcription. Annual Review of Nutrition 11:189-216
- 96. **Kato S** 2000 The function of vitamin D receptor in vitamin D action. Journal of Biochemistry 127:717-22
- 97. Mackey SL, Heymont JL, Kronenberg HM, Demay MB 1996 Vitamin D receptor binding to the negative human parathyroid hormone vitamin D response element does not require the retinoid x receptor. Molecular Endocrinology 10:298-305
- 98. **Bouillon R, Okamura WH, Norman AW** 1995 Structure-function relationships in the vitamin D endocrine system. Endocrine Reviews 16:200-57
- 99. Wali RK, Baum CL, Sitrin MD, Brasitus TA 1990 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3

97

stimulates membrane phosphoinositide turnover, activates protein kinase C, and increases cytosolic calcium in rat colonic epithelium. Journal of Clinical Investigation 85:1296-303

- 100. Oshima J, Watanabe M, Hirosumi J, Orimo H 1987 1,25(OH)2D3 increases cytosolic Ca++ concentration of osteoblastic cells, clone MC3T3-E1. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications. 145:956-60
- 101. Sugimoto T, Ritter C, Ried I, Morrissey J, Slatopolsky E 1988 Effect of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 on cytosolic calcium in dispersed parathyroid cells. Kidney International 33:850-4
- 102. **Sugimoto T, Ritter C, Slatopolsky E, Morrissey J** 1988 Effect of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 on phospholipid metabolism in cultured bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 122:2387-92
- 103. Nemere I, Schwartz Z, Pedrozo H, Sylvia VL, Dean DD, Boyan BD 1998 Identification of a membrane receptor for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 which mediates rapid activation of protein kinase C. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 13:1353-9
- 104. **Pedrozo HA, Schwartz Z, Rimes S, et al.** 1999 Physiological importance of the 1,25(OH)2D3 membrane receptor and evidence for a membrane receptor specific for 24,25(OH)2D3. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 14:856-67
- 105. Nemere I, Ray R, McManus W 2000 Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1, 25(OH)(2)D(3). I. Chick intestine. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology & Metabolism 278:E1104-14
- Jia Z, Nemere I 1999 Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 II. Chick kidney and brain. Steroids. 64:541-50
- 107. **Boyan BD, Bonewald LF, Sylvia VL, et al.** 2002 Evidence for distinct membrane receptors for 1 alpha,25-(OH)(2)D(3) and 24R,25-(OH)(2)D(3) in osteoblasts. Steroids. 67:235-46
- 108. **Zhou LX, Nemere I, Norman AW** 1992 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 analog structure-function assessment of the rapid stimulation of intestinal calcium absorption (transcaltachia). Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 7:457-63
- 109. Dormanen MC, Bishop JE, Hammond MW, Okamura WH, Nemere I, Norman AW 1994 Nonnuclear effects of the steroid hormone 1 alpha,25(OH)2vitamin D3: analogs are able to functionally differentiate between nuclear and membrane receptors. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 201:394-401
- 110. Norman AW, Silva FR 2001 Structure function studies: identification of vitamin

D analogs for the ligand-binding domains of important proteins in the vitamin Dendocrine system. Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders. 2:229-38

- 111. Norman AW, Bishop JE, Collins ED, et al. 1996 Differing shapes of 1 alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 function as ligands for the D-binding protein, nuclear receptor and membrane receptor: a status report. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 56:13-22
- 112. Corvol M, Ulmann A, Garabedian M 1980 Specific nuclear uptake of 24,25dihydroxycholecalciferol, a vitamin D3 metabolite biologically active in cartilage. FEBS Letters 116:273-6
- 113. **Somjen D, Somjen GJ, Harell A, Mechanic GL, Binderman I** 1982 Partial characterization of a specific high affinity binding macromolecule for 24R,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 in differentiating skeletal mesenchyme. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications. 106:644-51
- 114. **Merke J, Norman AW** 1981 Studies on the mode of action of calciferol, XXXII. Evidence for a 24(R),25(OH)2-vitamin D3 receptor in the parathyroid gland of the rachitic chick. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 100:551-8
- 115. **Nemere I, Yazzie-Atkinson D, Johns DO, Larsson D** 2002 Biochemical characterization and purification of a binding protein for 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 from chick intestine. Journal of Endocrinology. 172:211-9
- 116. Lin HY, Harris TL, Flannery MS, et al. 1991 Expression cloning of an adenylate cyclase-coupled calcitonin receptor. Science 254:1022-4
- 117. **Chabre O, Conklin BR, Lin HY, et al.** 1992 A recombinant calcitonin receptor independently stimulates 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate and Ca2+/inositol phosphate signaling pathways. Molecular Endocrinology 6:551-6
- 118. Warshawsky H, Goltzman D, Rouleau MF, Bergeron JJ 1980 Direct in vivo demonstration by radioautography of specific binding sites for calcitonin in skeletal and renal tissues of the rat. Journal of Cell Biology 85:682-94
- 119. Heersche JN, Marcus R, Aurbach GD 1974 Calcitonin and the formation of 3',5'-AMP in bone and kidney. Endocrinology 94:241-7
- 120. Garabedian M, Tanaka Y, Holick MF, Deluca HF 1974 Response of intestinal calcium transport and bone calcium mobilization to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in thyroparathyroidectomized rats. Endocrinology 94:1022-7
- 121. **Rouleau MF, Mitchell J, Goltzman D** 1988 In vivo distribution of parathyroid hormone receptors in bone: evidence that a predominant osseous target cell is not the mature osteoblast. Endocrinology. 123:187-91
- 122. Rodan GA, Martin TJ 1981 Role of osteoblasts in hormonal control of bone

resorption--a hypothesis. Calcified Tissue International 33:349-51

- 123. **McSheehy PM, Chambers TJ** 1986 Osteoblast-like cells in the presence of parathyroid hormone release soluble factor that stimulates osteoclastic bone resorption. Endocrinology. 119:1654-9
- 124. **Owen TA, Aronow MS, Barone LM, Bettencourt B, Stein GS, Lian JB** 1991 Pleiotropic effects of vitamin D on osteoblast gene expression are related to the proliferative and differentiated state of the bone cell phenotype: dependency upon basal levels of gene expression, duration of exposure, and bone matrix competency in normal rat osteoblast cultures. Endocrinology 128:1496-504
- 125. Ishida H, Bellows CG, Aubin JE, Heersche JN 1993 Characterization of the 1,25-(OH)2D3-induced inhibition of bone nodule formation in long-term cultures of fetal rat calvaria cells. Endocrinology 132:61-6
- 126. **Beresford JN, Gallagher JA, Russell RG** 1986 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and human bone-derived cells in vitro: effects on alkaline phosphatase, type I collagen and proliferation. Endocrinology. 119:1776-85
- 127. **Prince CW, Butler WT** 1987 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates the biosynthesis of osteopontin, a bone-derived cell attachment protein, in clonal osteoblast-like osteosarcoma cells. Collagen & Related Research. 7:305-13
- 128. **Franceschi RT, James WM, Zerlauth G** 1985 1 alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 specific regulation of growth, morphology, and fibronectin in a human osteosarcoma cell line. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 123:401-9
- 129. **Demay MB, Gerardi JM, DeLuca HF, Kronenberg HM** 1990 DNA sequences in the rat osteocalcin gene that bind the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and confer responsiveness to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87:369-73
- 130. Stern PH 1980 The D vitamins and bone. Pharmacological Reviews 32:47-80
- 131. **McSheehy PM, Chambers TJ** 1987 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates rat osteoblastic cells to release a soluble factor that increases osteoclastic bone resorption. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 80:425-9
- 132. Holick MF, Garabedian M, DeLuca HF 1972 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol: metabolite of vitamin D3 active on bone in anephric rats. Science 176:1146-7
- 133. **Tanaka Y, Frank H, DeLuca HF** 1973 Biological activity of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the rat. Endocrinology 92:417-22
- 134. **Bar-Shavit Z, Teitelbaum SL, Reitsma P, et al.** 1983 Induction of monocytic differentiation and bone resorption by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proceedings of

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 80:5907-11

- 135. Chambers TJ, McSheehy PM, Thomson BM, Fuller K 1985 The effect of calcium-regulating hormones and prostaglandins on bone resorption by osteoclasts disaggregated from neonatal rabbit bones. Endocrinology. 116:234-9
- 136. **Chambers TJ, Hall TJ** 1991 Cellular and molecular mechanisms in the regulation and function of osteoclasts. Vitamins & Hormones 46:41-86
- 137. **Nemere I** 1992 Vesicular calcium transport in chick intestine. Journal of Nutrition 122:657-61
- 138. Nemere I, Norman AW 1988 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3-mediated vesicular transport of calcium in intestine: time-course studies. Endocrinology 122:2962-9
- 139. Nemere I, Norman AW 1990 Transcaltachia, vesicular calcium transport, and microtubule-associated calbindin-D28K: emerging views of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3-mediated intestinal calcium absorption. Mineral & Electrolyte Metabolism 16:109-14
- 140. **King MW, Norman AW** 1986 Analysis of the mRNA coding for the chick vitamin D-induced calbindin and its regulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Archives of Biochemistry & Biophysics 248:612-9
- 141. **Strom M, Krisinger J, Darwish H, DeLuca HF** 1992 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D and not calcium is the major regulator of calbindin-D 9-kDa mRNA levels in vivo. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology & Medicine 199:369-71
- 142. **Nemere I, Feld C, Norman AW** 1991 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3-mediated alterations in microtubule proteins isolated from chick intestinal epithelium: analyses by isoelectric focusing. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 47:369-79
- 143. Nemere I, Putkey JA, Norman AW 1983 Vitamin D-mediated alterations in the topography of intestinal brush border proteins: effect of papain on hydrolase release and calcium uptake. Archives of Biochemistry & Biophysics 222:610-20
- 144. Nemere I, Yoshimoto Y, Norman AW 1984 Calcium transport in perfused duodena from normal chicks: enhancement within fourteen minutes of exposure to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Endocrinology 115:1476-83
- 145. de Boland AR, Nemere I, Norman AW 1990 Ca2(+)-channel agonist BAY K8644 mimics 1,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 rapid enhancement of Ca2+ transport in chick perfused duodenum. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 166:217-22
- 146. **Nemere I, Campbell K** 2000 Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3). III. Vitamin D status.

Steroids 65:451-7

- 147. Nemere I, Szego CM 1981 Early actions of parathyroid hormone and 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol on isolated epithelial cells from rat intestine: II. Analyses of additivity, contribution of calcium, and modulatory influence of indomethacin. Endocrinology 109:2180-7
- 148. **Picotto G** 2001 Rapid effects of calciotropic hormones on female rat enterocytes: combined actions of 1,25(OH)2-vitamin D3, PTH and 17beta-estradiol on intracellular Ca2+ regulation. Hormone & Metabolic Research. 33:733-8
- 149. **Picotto G, Massheimer V, Boland R** 1997 Parathyroid hormone stimulates calcium influx and the cAMP messenger system in rat enterocytes. American Journal of Physiology. 273:C1349-53
- 150. Gentili C, Morelli S, Boland R, de Boland AR 2001 Parathyroid hormone activation of map kinase in rat duodenal cells is mediated by 3',5'-cyclic AMP and Ca(2+). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1540:201-12
- 151. **Jayakumar A, Cheng L, Liang CT, Sacktor B** 1984 Sodium gradient-dependent calcium uptake in renal basolateral membrane vesicles. Effect of parathyroid hormone. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 259:10827-33
- 152. Hall AK, Norman AW 1990 Regulation of calbindin-D28K gene expression in the chick intestine: effects of serum calcium status and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5:331-6
- 153. Hall AK, Norman AW 1990 Regulation of calbindin-D28K gene expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in chick kidney. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5:325-30
- 154. **Tahaka Y, Lorenc RS, DeLuca HF** 1975 The role of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and parathyroid hormone in the regulation of chick renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-24-hydroxylase. Archives of Biochemistry & Biophysics 171:521-6
- 155. Armbrecht HJ, Wongsurawat N, Zenser TV, Davis BB 1984 Effect of PTH and 1,25(OH)2D3 on renal 25(OH)D3 metabolism, adenylate cyclase, and protein kinase. American Journal of Physiology. 246:E102-7
- 156. Tanaka Y, DeLuca HF 1984 Rat renal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 1- and 24hydroxylases: their in vivo regulation. American Journal of Physiology 246:E168-73
- 157. **Juan D, De LH** 1977 The regulation of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 production in cultures of monkey kidney cells. Endocrinology 101:1184-93
- 158. **Breimer L, Sourander P** 1981 The discovery of the parathyroid glands in 1880: triumph and tragedy of Ivar Sandstrom. Bulletin of the History of Medicine

55:558-63

- 159. **Ramirez JA, Goodman WG, Gornbein J, et al.** 1993 Direct in vivo comparison of calcium-regulated parathyroid hormone secretion in normal volunteers and patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 76:1489-94
- 160. **Mayer GP, Hurst JG** 1978 Sigmoidal relationship between parathyroid hormone secretion rate and plasma calcium concentration in calves. Endocrinology 102:1036-42
- 161. Yamamoto M, Igarashi T, Muramatsu M, Fukagawa M, Motokura T, Ogata E 1989 Hypocalcemia increases and hypercalcemia decreases the steady-state level of parathyroid hormone messenger RNA in the rat. Journal of Clinical Investigation 83:1053-6
- 162. **Naveh-Many T, Silver J** 1990 Regulation of parathyroid hormone gene expression by hypocalcemia, hypercalcemia, and vitamin D in the rat. Journal of Clinical Investigation 86:1313-9
- 163. Sherwood LM, Mayer GP, Ramberg CF, Kronfeld DS, Aurbach GD, Potts JT 1968 Regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion: proportional control by calcium, lack of effect of phosphate. Endocrinology 83:1043-51
- 164. **Hamilton JW, Cohn DV** 1969 Studies on the biosynthesis in vitro of parathyroid hormone. I. Synthesis of parathyroid hormone by bovine-parathyroid gland slices and its control by calcium. Journal of Biological Chemistry 244:5421-9
- 165. Tohme JF, Bilezikian JP, Clemens TL, Silverberg SJ, Shane E, Lindsay R 1990 Suppression of parathyroid hormone secretion with oral calcium in normal subjects and patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 70:951-6
- 166. Wagner PK, Knuth A, Krause U, Gabbert H, Scharfe T, Rothmund M 1982 An in vitro model for the study of human parathyroid gland tissue: single cell suspensions and monolayer cultures. Research in Experimental Medicine 181:147-54
- 167. **Brown EM, Pollak M, Chou YH, Seidman CE, Seidman JG, Hebert SC** 1995 Cloning and functional characterization of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptors from parathyroid and kidney. Bone 17:7S-11S
- 168. **Brown EM** 1991 Extracellular Ca2+ sensing, regulation of parathyroid cell function, and role of Ca2+ and other ions as extracellular (first) messengers. Physiological Reviews 71:371-411
- 169. **Pollak MR, Brown EM, Chou YH, et al.** 1993 Mutations in the human Ca(2+)sensing receptor gene cause familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal

severe hyperparathyroidism. Cell 75:1297-303

- 170. **Ho C, Conner DA, Pollak MR, et al.** 1995 A mouse model of human familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. Nature Genetics 11:389-94
- 171. **Pollak MR, Brown EM, Estep HL, et al.** 1994 Autosomal dominant hypocalcaemia caused by a Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene mutation. Nature Genetics 8:303-7
- 172. Saxe AW 1987 The effect of phorbol ester on in vitro release of parathyroid hormone from abnormal human parathyroid cells. Surgery 102:932-40
- 173. Nemeth EF, Wallace J, Scarpa A 1986 Stimulus-secretion coupling in bovine parathyroid cells. Dissociation between secretion and net changes in cytosolic Ca2+. Journal of Biological Chemistry 261:2668-74
- 174. **Membreno L, Chen TH, Woodley S, Gagucas R, Shoback D** 1989 The effects of protein kinase-C agonists on parathyroid hormone release and intracellular free Ca2+ in bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 124:789-97
- 175. **Clarke BL, Hassager C, Fitzpatrick LA** 1993 Regulation of parathyroid hormone release by protein kinase-C is dependent on extracellular calcium in bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 132:1168-75
- 176. **Racke FK, Nemeth EF** 1993 Protein kinase C modulates hormone secretion regulated by extracellular polycations in bovine parathyroid cells. Journal of Physiology 468:163-76
- 177. **McKay C, Miller A** 1996 Relationship among cellular diacylglycerol, sphingosine formation, protein kinase C activity, and parathyroid hormone secretion from dispersed bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 137:2473-9
- 178. **Brown EM, Thatcher JG** 1982 Adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate (cAMP)dependent protein kinase and the regulation of parathyroid hormone release by divalent cations and agents elevating cellular cAMP in dispersed bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 110:1374-80
- 179. **Drueke TB** 2000 Cell biology of parathyroid gland hyperplasia in chronic renal failure. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 11:1141-52
- 180. Wang Q, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM 1996 Parathyroid cell proliferation in the rat: effect of age and of phosphate administration and recovery. Endocrinology 137:4558-62
- 181. **Brandi ML, Fitzpatrick LA, Coon HG, Aurbach GD** 1986 Bovine parathyroid cells: cultures maintained for more than 140 population doublings. Proceedings of

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 83:1709-13

- 182. Sakaguchi K 1992 Acidic fibroblast growth factor autocrine system as a mediator of calcium-regulated parathyroid cell growth. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:24554-62
- 183. Naveh-Many T, Rahamimov R, Livni N, Silver J 1995 Parathyroid cell proliferation in normal and chronic renal failure rats. The effects of calcium, phosphate, and vitamin D. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:1786-93
- 184. Wada M, Furuya Y, Sakiyama J, et al. 1997 The calcimimetic compound NPS R-568 suppresses parathyroid cell proliferation in rats with renal insufficiency. Control of parathyroid cell growth via a calcium receptor. Journal of Clinical Investigation 100:2977-83
- 185. Demay MB, Kiernan MS, DeLuca HF, Kronenberg HM 1992 Sequences in the human parathyroid hormone gene that bind the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and mediate transcriptional repression in response to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89:8097-101
- 186. Henry HL, Norman AW 1975 Studies on the mechanism of action of calciferol VII. Localization of 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3 in chick parathyroid glands. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 62:781-8
- 187. **Hughes MR, Haussler MR** 1978 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors in parathyroid glands. Preliminary characterization of cytoplasmic and nuclear binding components. Journal of Biological Chemistry 253:1065-73
- 188. Naveh-Many T, Marx R, Keshet E, Pike JW, Silver J 1990 Regulation of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor gene expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the parathyroid in vivo. Journal of Clinical Investigation 86:1968-75
- 189. **Bourdeau A, Atmani F, Grosse B, Lieberherr M** 1990 Rapid effects of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 and extracellular Ca2+ on phospholipid metabolism in dispersed porcine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 127:2738-43
- 190. Nygren P, Larsson R, Johansson H, Ljunghall S, Rastad J, Akerstrom G 1988 1,25(OH)2D3 inhibits hormone secretion and proliferation but not functional dedifferentiation of cultured bovine parathyroid cells. Calcified Tissue International 43:213-8
- 191. **Cantley LK, Russell JB, Lettieri DS, Sherwood LM** 1987 Effects of vitamin D3, 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, and 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on parathyroid hormone secretion. Calcified Tissue International 41:48-51
- 192. Magliola L, Anast CS, Forte LR 1986 Vitamin D metabolites do not alter

parathyroid hormone secretion acutely. Bone & Mineral 1:495-505

- 193. **Rudberg C, Akerstrom G, Johansson H, Ljunghall S, Malmaeus J, Wide L** 1984 Effects of 1,25- and 24,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol on parathyroid hormone release from human parathyroid cells in vitro. Acta Endocrinologica 105:354-9
- 194. Nielsen PK, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Olgaard K 1996 A direct effect in vitro of phosphate on PTH release from bovine parathyroid tissue slices but not from dispersed parathyroid cells. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation 11:1762-8
- 195. Roussanne MC, Lieberherr M, Souberbielle JC, Sarfati E, Drueke T, Bourdeau A 2001 Human parathyroid cell proliferation in response to calcium, NPS R-467, calcitriol and phosphate. European Journal of Clinical Investigation 31:610-6
- 196. Silver J, Moallem E, Kilav R, Epstein E, Sela A, Naveh-Many T 1996 New insights into the regulation of parathyroid hormone synthesis and secretion in chronic renal failure. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation 11:2-5
- 197. Cohn DV, Elting J 1983 Biosynthesis, processing, and secretion of parathormone and secretory protein-I. Recent Progress in Hormone Research 39:181-209
- 198. Fasciotto BH, Gorr SU, DeFranco DJ, Levine MA, Cohn DV 1989 Pancreastatin, a presumed product of chromogranin-A (secretory protein-I) processing, inhibits secretion from porcine parathyroid cells in culture. Endocrinology 125:1617-22
- 199. **Fasciotto BH, Gorr SU, Bourdeau AM, Cohn DV** 1990 Autocrine regulation of parathyroid secretion: inhibition of secretion by chromogranin-A (secretory protein-I) and potentiation of secretion by chromogranin-A and pancreastatin antibodies. Endocrinology 127:1329-35
- 200. Zhang JX, Fasciotto BH, Cohn DV 1993 Dexamethasone and calcium interact in the regulation of parathormone and chromogranin-A secretion and messenger ribonucleic acid levels in parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 133:152-8
- Ritchie CK, Cohn DV, Fitzpatrick LA 1992 Chromogranin-A secretion from individual parathyroid cells: effects of 1,25-(OH)2 vitamin D3 and calcium. Bone & Mineral 18:31-40
- 202. Soliman E, Canaff L, Fox J, Hendy GN 1997 In vivo regulation of chromogranin A messenger ribonucleic acid in the parathyroid by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D: studies in normal rats and in chronic renal insufficiency. Endocrinology 138:2596-600
- 203. **Drees BM, Rouse J, Johnson J, Hamilton JW** 1991 Bovine parathyroid glands secrete a 26-kDa N-terminal fragment of chromogranin-A which inhibits

parathyroid cell secretion. Endocrinology 129:3381-7

- 204. **Zhang JX, Fasciotto BH, Darling DS, Cohn DV** 1994 Pancreastatin, a chromogranin A-derived peptide, inhibits transcription of the parathyroid hormone and chromogranin A genes and decreases the stability of the respective messenger ribonucleic acids in parathyroid cells in culture. Endocrinology 134:1310-6
- 205. **Fujii Y, Moreira JE, Orlando C, et al.** 1991 Endothelin as an autocrine factor in the regulation of parathyroid cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:4235-9
- 206. **Fujii Y, Tomic M, Stojilkovic SS, et al.** 1995 Effects of endothelin-1 on Ca2+ signaling and secretion in parathyroid cells. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 10:716-25
- 207. Denda M, Finch J, Brown AJ, Nishii Y, Kubodera N, Slatopolsky E 1996 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and 22-oxacalcitriol prevent the decrease in vitamin D receptor content in the parathyroid glands of uremic rats. Kidney International 50:34-9
- 208. **Fukuda N, Tanaka H, Tominaga Y, Fukagawa M, Kurokawa K, Seino Y** 1993 Decreased 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor density is associated with a more severe form of parathyroid hyperplasia in chronic uremic patients. Journal of Clinical Investigation 92:1436-43
- 209. **Drueke TB** 2001 Genetic aspects of secondary hyperparathyroidism in uremia. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 38:S143-6
- 210. Silver J, Sela SB, Naveh-Many T 1997 Regulation of parathyroid cell proliferation. Current Opinion in Nephrology & Hypertension 6:321-6
- 211. Cetani F, Picone A, Cerrai P, et al. 2000 Parathyroid expression of calciumsensing receptor protein and in vivo parathyroid hormone-Ca(2+) set-point in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. 85:4789-94
- 212. Ho C, Conner DA, Pollak MR, et al. 1995 A mouse model of human familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. 11:389-94
- 213. **Carling T, Rastad J, Akerstrom G, Westin G** 1998 Vitamin D receptor (VDR) and parathyroid hormone messenger ribonucleic acid levels correspond to polymorphic VDR alleles in human parathyroid tumors. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 83:2255-9
- 214. Jones DB, Jones JH, Lloyd HJ, Lucas PA, Wilkins WE, Walker DA 1983 Changes in blood pressure and renal function after parathyroidectomy in primary hyperparathyroidism. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 59:350-3

- 215. MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, et al. 1990 Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. Lancet 335:765-74
- 216. **Rowland M, Robert J** 1982 National Center for Health Statistics Advance Data, Vital and Health Statistics of the National Center for Health Statistics. United States Department of Health and Human Services 84
- 217. **Pinto YM, Paul M, Ganten D** 1998 Lessons from rat models of hypertension: from Goldblatt to genetic engineering. Cardiovascular Research. 39:77-88
- 218. **Conrad CH, Brooks WW, Robinson KG, Bing OH** 1991 Impaired myocardial function in spontaneously hypertensive rats with heart failure. American Journal of Physiology 260:H136-45
- 219. **Pfeffer JM, Pfeffer MA, Fishbein MC, Frohlich ED** 1979 Cardiac function and morphology with aging in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. American Journal of Physiology 237:H461-8
- 220. Feld LG, Van Liew JB, Galaske RG, Boylan JW 1977 Selectivity of renal injury and proteinuria in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Kidney International 12:332-43
- 221. Komatsu K, Frohlich ED, Ono H, Ono Y, Numabe A, Willis GW 1995 Glomerular dynamics and morphology of aged spontaneously hypertensive rats. Effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition. Hypertension 25:207-13
- 222. Luscher TF, Aarhus LL, Vanhoutte PM 1990 Indomethacin improves the impaired endothelium-dependent relaxations in small mesenteric arteries of the spontaneously hypertensive rat. American Journal of Hypertension 3:55-8
- 223. Hamet P, Richard L, Dam TV, et al. 1995 Apoptosis in target organs of hypertension. Hypertension. 26:642-8
- 224. Hamet P, Hadrava V, Kruppa U, Tremblay J 1988 Vascular smooth muscle cell hyper-responsiveness to growth factors in hypertension. Journal of Hypertension Supplement. 6:S36-9
- 225. Limas C, Westrum B, Limas CJ 1984 Comparative effects of hydralazine and captopril on the cardiovascular changes in spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Pathology. 117:360-71
- 226. **Ieki K, Yazaki Y, Yamaoki K, et al.** 1989 Effect of long-term treatment with beta-blocker on cardiac hypertrophy in SHR. Journal of Molecular & Cellular Cardiology 21:113-9
- 227. **Takenaka T, Asano M, Shiono K, Shibasaki M, Inagaki O** 1985 Cardiovascular pharmacology of nicardipine in animals. British Journal of

Clinical Pharmacology. 20:7S-22S

- 228. Karam H, Heudes D, Bruneval P, et al. 1996 Endothelin antagonism in endorgan damage of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Comparison with angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition and calcium antagonism. Hypertension 28:379-85
- 229. **Pfeffer JM, Pfeffer MA, Mirsky I, Braunwald E** 1982 Regression of left ventricular hypertrophy and prevention of left ventricular dysfunction by captopril in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 79:3310-4
- 230. **Stasch JP, Kazda S, Hirth C, Morich F** 1987 Role of nisoldipine on blood pressure, cardiac hypertrophy, and atrial natriuretic peptides in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension. 10:303-7
- 231. **Dohi Y, Thiel MA, Buhler FR, Luscher TF** 1990 Activation of endothelial Larginine pathway in resistance arteries. Effect of age and hypertension. Hypertension 16:170-9
- 232. Strazzullo P, Nunziata V, Cirillo M, et al. 1983 Abnormalities of calcium metabolism in essential hypertension. Clinical Science. 65:137-41
- 233. Umemura S, Smyth DD, Nicar M, Rapp JP, Pettinger WA 1986 Altered calcium homeostasis in Dahl hypertensive rats: physiological and biochemical studies. Journal of Hypertension. 4:19-26
- 234. Hsu CH, Yang CS, Patel SR, Stevens MG 1987 Calcium and vitamin D metabolism in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 253:F712-8
- 235. Lucas PA, Brown RC, Drueke T, Lacour B, Metz JA, McCarron DA 1986 Abnormal vitamin D metabolism, intestinal calcium transport, and bone calcium status in the spontaneously hypertensive rat compared with its genetic control. J Clin Invest 78:221-7
- 236. Gafter U, Eby B, Martin C, Lau K 1986 Response of spontaneously hypertensive rats to 1,25(OH)2D3 in vivo. Kidney Int 30:497-502
- 237. Lau K, Langman CB, Gafter U, Dudeja PK, Brasitus TA 1986 Increased calcium absorption in prehypertensive spontaneously hypertensive rat. Role of serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 levels and intestinal brush border membrane fluidity. J Clin Invest 78:1083-90
- 238. Lucas PA, Roullet C, Ben Nasr L, et al. 1988 Reduced duodenal enterocyte calcium fluxes, decreased 1,25(OH)2D3 and abnormal brush border membrane in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Prog Clin Biol Res 252:365-9
- 239. Laragh JH, Resnick LM 1988 Recognizing and treating two types of long-term

vasoconstriction in hypertension. Kidney International - Supplement. 25:S162-74

- 240. **Resnick LM** 1986 Calcium as a mediator of salt sensitive hypertension. Advances in Experimental Medicine & Biology. 208:397-404
- 241. **Resnick LM, Gupta RK, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK, Laragh JH** 1991 Intracellular ions in salt-sensitive essential hypertension: possible role of calciumregulating hormones. Contributions to Nephrology 90:88-93
- 242. **Resnick LM, Gupta RK, Sosa RE, Corbett ML, Laragh JH** 1987 Intracellular pH in human and experimental hypertension. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 84:7663-7
- 243. **Resnick LM, Gupta RK, Sosa RE, Corbett ML, Sealey JE, Laragh JH** 1986 Effects of altered dietary calcium intake in experimental hypertension: role of intracellular free magnesium. Journal of Hypertension - Supplement. 4:S182-5
- 244. Belizan JM, Villar J, Pineda O, et al. 1983 Reduction of blood pressure with calcium supplementation in young adults. Jama. 249:1161-5
- 245. **McCarron DA, Morris CD** 1985 Blood pressure response to oral calcium in persons with mild to moderate hypertension. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. Annals of Internal Medicine. 103:825-31
- 246. **Grobbee DE, Hofman A** 1986 Effect of calcium supplementation on diastolic blood pressure in young people with mild hypertension. Lancet. 2:703-7
- 247. **Zoccali C, Mallamaci F, Delfino D, et al.** 1988 Double-blind randomized, crossover trial of calcium supplementation in essential hypertension. Journal of Hypertension. 6:451-5
- 248. Cappuccio FP, Markandu ND, Singer DR, Smith SJ, Shore AC, MacGregor GA 1987 Does oral calcium supplementation lower high blood pressure? A double blind study. Journal of Hypertension. 5:67-71
- 249. Siani A, Strazzullo P, Guglielmi S, et al. 1988 Controlled trial of low calcium versus high calcium intake in mild hypertension. Journal of Hypertension. 6:253-6
- 250. **Hatton DC, McCarron DA** 1994 Dietary calcium and blood pressure in experimental models of hypertension. A review. Hypertension 23:513-30
- 251. Ayachi S 1979 Increased dietary calcium lowers blood pressure in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental 28:1234-8
- 252. Berthelot A, Gairard A, Goyault M, Pernot F 1980 Relation between calcium and cardiovascular reactivity in mineralocorticoid-induced hypertension in the rat. British Journal of Pharmacology 70:301-6

- 253. Yang MC, Lee MY, Kuo JS, Pang PK 1989 Effect of calcium diet on the vascular reactivity of DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. Clinical & Experimental Hypertension Part A, Theory & Practice 11:501-19
- 254. **Pang PK, Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ** 1992 Combined effect of dietary calcium and calcium antagonists on blood pressure reduction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 19:442-6
- 255. **Bukoski RD, McCarron DA** 1986 Altered aortic reactivity and lowered blood pressure associated with high calcium intake. American Journal of Physiology 251:H976-83
- 256. **Tabuchi Y, Ogihara T, Hashizume K, Saito H, Kumahara Y** 1986 Hypotensive effect of long-term oral calcium supplementation in elderly patients with essential hypertension. Journal of Clinical Hypertension 2:254-62
- 257. **Resnick LM** 1987 Dietary calcium and hypertension. Journal of Nutrition. 117:1806-8
- 258. Lyle RM, Melby CL, Hyner GC 1988 Metabolic differences between subjects whose blood pressure did or did not respond to oral calcium supplementation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 47:1030-5
- 259. **Bravo EL, Kageyama Y** 1994 Dietary calcium supplementation prevents the development of hypertension in deoxycorticosterone-salt-treated dogs. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S27-30
- 260. Marone C, Beretta-Piccoli C, Weidmann P 1980 Role of haemodynamics, catecholamines and renin in acute hypercalcaemic hypertension in man. Clinical Science 59:369s-371s
- 261. **Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH** 1988 The antihypertensive effects of calcium channel blockade: role of sodium and calcium metabolism. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 12:S114-6
- 262. Shan J, Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Karpinski E, Li B, Pang PK 1993 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D as a cardiovascular hormone. Effects on calcium current and cytosolic free calcium in vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Hypertens 6:983-8
- 263. Jahn H, Schohn D, Omichi A, Miller R 1991 Effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 on cardiovascular function. Contributions to Nephrology 90:79-87
- 264. **Bukoski RD, Wang DB, Wagman DW** 1990 Injection of 1,25-(OH)2 vitamin D3 enhances resistance artery contractile properties. Hypertension 16:523-31
- 265. Shimosawa T, Ando K, Fujita T 1993 Enhancement of vasoconstrictor response by a noncalcemic analogue of vitamin D3. Hypertension 21:253-8

- 266. **Roca-Cusachs A, DiPette DJ, Carson J, Graham GA, Holland OB** 1992 Systemic and regional hemodynamic effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 administration. Journal of Hypertension 10:939-47
- 267. **Bukoski RD, Xue H** 1993 On the vascular inotropic action of 1,25-(OH)2 vitamin D3. American Journal of Hypertension 6:388-96
- 268. Jespersen B, Randlov A, Abrahamsen J, Fogh-Andersen N, Olsen NV, Kanstrup IL 1998 Acute cardiovascular effect of 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol in essential hypertension. American Journal of Hypertension. 11:659-66
- 269. Ishibashi K, Evans A, Shingu T, Bian K, Bukoski RD 1995 Differential expression and effect of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on myosin in arterial tree of rats. American Journal of Physiology 269:C443-50
- 270. Wu X, Vieth R, Milojevic S, Sonnenberg H, Melo LG 2000 Regulation of sodium, calcium and vitamin D metabolism in Dahl rats on a high-salt/low-potassium diet: genetic and neural influences. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 27:378-83
- 271. Kawashima H, Sokabe H 1986 Altered vitamin D metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Hypertens Suppl 4:S287-9
- 272. **Bourgouin P, Lucas P, Roullet C, et al.** 1990 Developmental changes of Ca2+, PO4, and calcitriol metabolism in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 259:F104-10
- 273. **Bukoski RD, DeWan P, McCarron DA** 1989 1,25 (OH)2 vitamin D3 modifies growth and contractile function of vascular smooth muscle of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Hypertens 2:553-6
- 274. Hatton DC, Xue H, DeMerritt JA, McCarron DA 1994 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3induced alterations in vascular reactivity in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Am J Med Sci 307 Suppl 1:S154-8
- 275. **Bukoski RD, Li J, Bo J** 1993 Effect of long-term administration of 1,25 (OH)2 vitamin D3 on blood pressure and resistance artery contractility in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Am J Hypertens 6:944-50
- 276. Shan JJ, Li B, Taniguchi N, Pang PK 1996 Inhibition of membrane L-type calcium channel activity and intracellular calcium concentration by 24R, 25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in vascular smooth muscle. Steroids 61:657-63
- 277. **Thierry-Palmer M, Tewolde TK, Forte C, et al.** 2002 Plasma 24,25dihydroxyvitamin D concentration of Dahl salt-sensitive rats decreases during high salt intake. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 80:315-21
- 278. Resnick LM 1991 Calcium metabolism in hypertension and allied metabolic

disorders. Diabetes Care 14:505-20

- 279. **Resnick LM** 1987 Uniformity and diversity of calcium metabolism in hypertension. A conceptual framework. American Journal of Medicine. 82:16-26
- 280. **Resnick LM** 1990 The effects of sodium and calcium in clinical hypertension: mediating role of vitamin D metabolism. Advances in Second Messenger & Phosphoprotein Research 24:535-41
- 281. Schleiffer R, Berthelot A, Pernot F, Gairard A 1981 Parathyroids, thyroid and development of hypertension in SHR. Japanese Circulation Journal 45:1272-9
- 282. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Expression of parathyroid hypertensive factor in hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients. Blood Pressure 2:22-7
- 283. Pernot F, Burkard C, Vincent M, Ferrari P, Sassard J, Gairard A 1993 [Genetic hypertension in the rat is partially dependent of parathyroid glands. Results of a crossed transplantation trial]. Archives des Maladies du Coeur et des Vaisseaux 86:1207-11
- 284. **Pernot F, Burkhard C, Gairard A** 1994 Parathyroid cross-transplantation and development of high blood pressure in rats. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S18-22
- 285. Merke J, Lucas PA, Szabo A, et al. 1989 Hyperparathyroidism and abnormal calcitriol metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension 13:233-42
- 286. **Korkor AB** 1987 Reduced binding of [3H]1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the parathyroid glands of patients with renal failure. New England Journal of Medicine. 316:1573-7
- 287. Collip JB, Clark EP 1925 Further studies on the physiological action of a parathyroid hormone. Journal of Biological Chemistry 64:485
- 288. Schleiffer R, Berthelot A, Gairard A 1979 Effects of parathyroid extract on blood pressure and arterial contraction and on 45Ca exchange in isolated aorta in the rat. Blood Vessels 16:220
- 289. Lindner A, Tremann JA, Plantier J, et al. 1978 Effects of parathyroid hormone on the renal circulation and renin secretion in unanesthetized dogs. Mineral and Electrolyte Metabolism 1:155
- 290. Kishimoto H, Tsumura K, Fujioka S, Uchimoto S, Morii H 1993 Chronic parathyroid hormone administration reverses the antihypertensive effect of calcium loading in young spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:234-40

- 291. Shan J, Pang PK, Lin HC, Yang MC 1994 Cardiovascular effects of human parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S38-41
- 292. Pang PK, Wang R, Shan J, Karpinski E, Benishin CG 1990 Specific inhibition of long-lasting, L-type calcium channels by synthetic parathyroid hormone. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87:623-7
- 293. Wang R, Karpinski E, Pang PK 1991 Parathyroid hormone selectively inhibits L-type calcium channels in single vascular smooth muscle cells of the rat. Journal of Physiology 441:325-46
- 294. Wang R, Karpinski E, Pang PK 1991 Two types of voltage-dependent calcium channel currents and their modulation by parathyroid hormone in neonatal rat ventricular cells. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 17:990-8
- 295. **Tenner TE, Jr., Ramanadham S, Yang MC, Pang PK** 1983 Chronotropic actions of bPTH-(1-34) in the right atrium of the rat. Canadian Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology. 61:1162-7
- 296. Wang R, Wu LY, Karpinski E, Pang PK 1991 The effects of parathyroid hormone on L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel currents in vascular smooth muscle cells and ventricular myocytes are mediated by a cyclic AMP dependent mechanism. FEBS Letters 282:331-4
- 297. **Pang PK, Yang MC, Keutmann HT, Kenny AD** 1983 Structure activity relationship of parathyroid hormone: separation of the hypotensive and the hypercalcemic properties. Endocrinology. 112:284-9
- 298. Shan J, Wu X, Pang PK 1994 Human parathyroid hormone fragment(1-34) and human [Ala25,26,27]parathyroid hormone fragment(1-34): their vascular and intracellular calcium regulating action in vascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics 268:19-24
- 299. **Baksi SN** 1988 Hypotensive action of parathyroid hormone in hypoparathyroid and hyperparathyroid rats. Hypertension. 11:509-13
- 300. **Dahl LK, Knudsen KD, Iwai J** 1969 Humoral transmission of hypertension: evidence from parabiosis. Circulation Research 24:Suppl:21-33
- 301. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1990 Vascular and calcemic effects of plasma of spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 3:189S-194S
- 302. Lewanczuk RZ, Wang J, Zhang ZR, Pang PK 1989 Effects of spontaneously hypertensive rat plasma on blood pressure and tail artery calcium uptake in normotensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:26-31

- 303. Benishin CG, Labedz T, Guo DD, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Identification and purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from organ culture of parathyroid glands from spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:134-40
- 304. Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan JJ, Pang PK 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion from subcultured spontaneously hypertensive rat parathyroid cells. American Journal of Hypertension 12:1260-3
- 305. **Pang PK, Kaneko T, Lewanczuk RZ** 1990 Parathyroid origin of a new hypertensive factor. Experimental Gerontology 25:269-77
- 306. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan J, Pang PK** 1994 Purification and structural characterization of parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S9-13
- 307. Schluter H, Quante C, Buchholz B, et al. 1992 A vasopressor factor partially purified from human parathyroid glands. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 188:323-9
- 308. **Chang E, Hamet P, Tremblay J** 1994 Biochemical characteristics of a calmodulin-phosphodiesterase activator increased in spontaneously hypertensive mice and rats. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S42-9
- 309. **Tikkanen I, Teravainen TL, Mervaala E, Karppanen H** 1997 Delayed increase in blood pressure induced by spontaneously hypertensive rat plasma after high sodium intake. Blood Pressure 6:188-91
- 310. Schluter H, Kluth B, Borjesson-Stoll R, Nordhoff E, Zidek W 1993 Partial purification and characterization of a circulating hypertensive factor in spontaneously hypertensive rats. European Journal of Biochemistry 218:67-73
- 311. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK** 1991 Purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from plasma of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:6372-6
- 312. **Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Laragh JH, Pang PK** 1993 Parathyroid hypertensive factor-like activity in human essential hypertension: relationship to plasma renin activity and dietary salt sensitivity. Journal of Hypertension 11:1235-41
- 313. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1991 Parathyroid hypertensive factor is present in DOCA-salt but not two-kidney-one-clip hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 4:802-5
- 314. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 The occurrence of parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF) in Dahl rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:758-62

- 315. Krylova SM, Labedz T, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG Generation, characterization, and use of monoclonal antibodies against parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Clinical Chemistry submitted
- 316. Shan J, Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1994 Mechanism of the vascular action of parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S1-8
- 317. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1989 In vivo potentiation of vasopressors by spontaneously hypertensive rat plasma: correlation with blood pressure and calcium uptake. Clinical & Experimental Hypertension Part A, Theory & Practice 11:1471-85
- 318. **Barbagallo M, Gupta RK, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK, Resnick LM** 1994 Serum-mediated intracellular calcium changes in normotensive and hypertensive red blood cells: role of parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S14-7
- 319. Lewanczuk RZ, Hamilton PG 1996 Parathyroid hypertensive factor predicts efficacy in the treatment of essential hypertension with verapamil. Blood Pressure 5:98-104
- 320. Ho MS, Lewanczuk RZ, Teh BH, Lee SC, Pang PK 1994 Parathyroid hypertensive factor and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S31-4
- 321. **Ren J, Zhang L, Benishin CG** 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor inhibits voltage-gated K+ channels in vascular smooth muscle cells. Canadian Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology 77:860-5
- 322. Benishin CG, Tang L, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Production of polyclonal antisera to parathyroid hypertensive factor from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Journal of Hypertension 11:245-51
- 323. Krylova SM, Pang PK, Shan J, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG 2000 Quantitative determination of parathyroid hypertensive factor by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. American Journal of Hypertension 13:1173-9
- 324. Lewanczuk RZ, Chen A, Pang PK 1990 The effects of dietary calcium on blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats may be mediated by parathyroid hypertensive factor. American Journal of Hypertension 3:349-53
- 325. Lin CM, Saito K, Tsujino T, Yokoyama M 1994 Calcium supplementation inhibits the expression of parathyroid hypertensive factor in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 7:201-4

Chapter 2

Abnormal growth properties of parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats and regulation by extracellular calcium and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3¹

¹ Portions of this chapter are being submitted to Endocrinology for publication as: Sutherland, S. K. and C. G. Benishin. Abnormal growth properties of parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats and regulation by extracellular calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3.

2 ABNORMAL FEATURES OF SHR PARATHYROID CELLS

2.1 Introduction

The parathyroid glands, like many endocrine tissues, exhibit a low cell turnover rate and long cell lifespan. Several key physiological regulators function to either maintain this net zero growth or to induce proliferation under conditions which require enhanced PTH secretion, namely hypocalcemia and vitamin D3 deficiency. Low EC Ca²⁺ can stimulate an increase in PTC proliferation (1-3) via the CaR (4). The biologically active vitamin D3 metabolite, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, has not always been shown to exert effects on parathyroid proliferation *in vivo* (3), however inhibitory effects have clearly been demonstrated *in vitro* (5). A third emerging regulator which is receiving increasing attention for its importance in chronic renal failure is phosphate. Dietary studies have shown that phosphate stimulates parathyroid cell proliferation in both normal rats (6) and experimental models of hyperparathyroidism *in vivo* (3) and direct effects have been confirmed *in vitro* in parathyroid cell cultures (7).

Abnormal parathyroid proliferation is one of the hallmarks of both primary and secondary hyperparathyroidism. The pathogenesis of hyperplasia in secondary hyperparathyroidism due to renal failure has been reviewed elsewhere (8) but appears to involve a variety of factors; several of which also apply to primary hyperparathyroidism. Not surprisingly, abnormalities in cell cycle regulation in some parathyroid adenomas have been reported (for review, see ref (9)) and mutations of oncogenes have also been suggested for the hyperplasia of secondary hyperparathyroidism (10). In addition to these compounding genetic factors, hypocalcemia and vitamin D3 deficiency due to renal

disease may further exacerbate the parathyroid hyperplasia. The CaR appears to play a key role in the mechanism of hypocalcemia-induced secondary hyperparathyroidism due to chronic renal insufficiency (4). Downregulation of the CaR would then present one mechanism by which parathyroid hyperplasia could develop and in fact, several studies have indicated reduced parathyroid expression of the CaR in both primary (11, 12) and secondary hyperparathyroidism (13). In a similar manner, both vitamin D3 deficiency and the reported downregulation of the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} in parathyroid tissue of chronic renal failure patients (14) and experimental animals (15) may contribute to the pathogenesis of hyperparathyroidism.

Some of the features of secondary hyperparathyroidism are manifested in lowrenin hypertension. This subset of hypertension, representing approximately 30-40% of all essential hypertension, exhibits hypocalcemia accompanied by appropriate shifting of the calcium-regulating hormones, i.e. increased plasma PTH, elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, and suppressed calcitonin (16). Since low-renin hypertension is accompanied by elevated PTH, it is reasonable to predict that another feature of hyperparathyroidism, parathyroid hyperplasia, may also be present. Very little is known about parathyroid cell turnover in low-renin hypertension. The only study to date published on the subject revealed that parathyroids derived from SHR (a hypertensive model with reduced plasma renin activity (17)), had increased parathyroid wet weight, due to hyperplasia rather than hypertrophy, compared with parathyroids taken from the normotensive genetic control WKY rats (18). In addition, the PTG of SHR but not WKY rats express a distinct cell type (denoted as "novel cells"), the percentage of which was found to be correlated with the magnitude of hypertension (19). These cells were also correlated with plasma levels of PHF, a

substance found to be elevated and believed to play a causal role in low-renin hypertension (for review, see (20)).

We have previously shown that secretion of PHF from cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells is stimulated by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ (21) (see section 5.3.1) and low EC Ca²⁺ (22) (see section 4.3.1) as measured by ELISA for PHF. Here we describe their roles in regulation of SHR and WKY parathyroid cell proliferation in an *in vitro* culture system. We also characterized the cell growth properties and responses to induced cell death in this system and show that SHR parathyroid cells share many features with cultured parathyroid cell lines developed from rat experimental models of secondary hyperparathyroidism. The results support the hypothesis that SHR parathyroid cells and abnormal regulation thereof may be contributing to the elevated plasma PHF observed in this model through an overall increase in parathyroid mass.

2.2 Materials & Methods

2.2.1 Materials

Vitamin D3 analog 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 was obtained from Roussell UCLAS and Sigma Aldrich Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO, USA) and 1,24(OH)₂-22-ene-24-cyclopropyl-D₃ (BT) was a generous gift from Leo Pharmaceuticals (Copenhagen, Denmark). All cell culture media were obtained from Gibco/BRL (Burlington, ON). WST-1 cell proliferation reagent, 4',6-Diamidine-2'-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI), and annexin-V-FLUOS were obtained from Roche Biochemicals (Mannheim, Germany). Vectashield was obtained from Vector

Laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA). All other chemicals were purchased from either Sigma/Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) or Fisher chemicals (Fairlawn, NJ, USA).

2.2.2 Preparation of Parathyroid Cell Cultures and Determination of Parathyroid Cell Viability

Parathyroid cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS were obtained as previously described (23). Briefly, thyroparathyroid complexes were removed from male 12-14 week old SHR and WKY rats, washed in ice-cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) containing 1% penicillin/streptomycin/neomycin (PSN), and parathyroid tissue dissected and minced and placed in a minimal amount of medium to allow attachment to the culture flasks. Following attachment of the explants (approximately 48 hours later), additional culture medium was added and cells were maintained in 15% FBS in DMEM until confluent. A continuous cell culture was established by harvesting following trypsin-induced detachment and plating in 10% FBS in DMEM.

Parathyroid cell number was determined by using either the trypan blue exclusion method or the WST-1 cell proliferation assay. For cell number determination on 96-well culture plates, 10 μ l WST-1 reagent was added to each well (containing 100 μ l of 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ phenol red-free Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS) and the plates incubated 2 hours at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. Optical density at 450 nm (with reference wavelength of 650 nm) was then measured by a Labsystem Multiskan MCC microplate reader. Absorbance was compared to a cell standard curve prepared just prior to addition of WST-1 (allowing a 4 hour attachment period), with cell number determined by the trypan blue exclusion

method. For all other experiments, parathyroid cell suspensions were obtained by trypsin treatment and cell viability determined using the trypan blue exclusion method.

2.2.3 Morphological Characterization of Cell Death

Serum is required for normal cell proliferation and for the prevention of apoptosis. Removal of essential growth factors and serum components such as iron results initially in cell cycle arrest, followed by induction of apoptosis. To compare the response to serum-induced apoptosis in SHR and WKY PTC, parathyroid cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS were obtained as described above. Cells were seeded at an intermediate cell density directly onto coverslips and allowed to attach for 48 hours. Medium was then changed to Ham's F12 medium adjusted to 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ supplemented with either 5% FBS or 0.2% FBS to induce apoptosis and incubated for 96 hours at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. To label all cell nuclei, coverslips were washed once with 1 μ g/ml DAPI in methanol and then incubated with 1 μ g/ml DAPI in methanol for 15 minutes at 37 C in darkness. To label dying cells, coverslips were exposed to 1:50 diluted annexin-V-FLUOS labeling reagent and 1 μ g/ml propidium iodide in an incubation buffer containing 10 mM Hepes/NaOH, 140 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, pH 7.4 for 10 minutes at room temperature. Coverslips were then rinsed in PBS, mounted on slides with Vectashield and photographed using a SPOT-2 digital camera and an Olympus BX40 fluorescence microscope.

2.2.4 Regulation of Parathyroid Cell Viability by Vitamin D3 Analogs and EC Ca²⁺

For investigation of the effects of EC Ca²⁺ and different vitamin D3 analogs on parathyroid cell viability at various cell densities, cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS were obtained as previously described (23), seeded in 96well plates for approximately 48 hours to achieve a density of 0.3, 2, and 4 x 10⁴ cells/well representing low (LDCC), intermediate (IDCC), and high (HDCC) density culture conditions. The effect of EC Ca²⁺ was examined by changing media to control medium (Ham's F12 medium supplemented with 5% FBS) adjusted to 0.5 mM (low), 1.2 mM (normal), or 1.8 mM (high) EC Ca²⁺ in the presence or absence of 10 μ M cytosinearabinoside and incubating plates for a further 4 or 48 hours at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. The effect of vitamin D3 analogs was examined as for EC Ca²⁺ experiments. Analogs were prepared in ethanol and diluted in 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ control medium so that the final concentration of ethanol was less than 0.1% (v/v).

2.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as the mean \pm SEM and statistical evaluation for differences between treatment groups was performed using t-tests, one-way ANOVA, or two-way ANOVA where appropriate.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Basal Metabolic Rate in Sub-cultured SHR and WKY Parathyroid Cells

When experiments utilizing SHR and WKY PTC were initially performed,

differences were observed in the absorbance in the WST-1 proliferation assay for the same number of SHR and WKY PTC. Comparison of the cell standard curves for SHR and WKY PTC are shown in Figure 2-1. Since the cellular mitochondrial enzymes are responsible for the metabolism of WST-1 to the colored formazan product, increased absorbance generated by the SHR PTC standard curve versus the WKY PTC standard curve may indicate an increased basal metabolic rate by SHR PTC.

2.3.2 Comparison of SHR and WKY Parathyroid Cell Proliferation Rate

SHR and WKY parathyroid cell growth over time is shown in Figure 2-2. Both SHR and WKY PTC were seeded at 0.2×10^4 cells/well. After 1 day to allow attachment, the number of viable PTC was equal to or exceeded 0.2×10^4 cells/well for WKY and SHR PTC respectively indicating that PTC derived from both strains initially attached to the plates and exhibited high viability. SHR parathyroid cells were shown to proliferate at a much faster rate during both the early linear phase of growth and the later exponential phase and reached a higher plateau cell number. SHR PTC doubling time was significantly shorter than that of WKY PTC (30 vs 54 hours) whereas plateau cell density was increased (approximately 5×10^4 cells/well vs 2×10^4 cells/well). These values for SHR PTC were somewhat comparable with those reported for PT-r cells, a model of vitamin D3 deficiency-induced secondary hyperparathyroidism (24). The doubling time for 4 different clonal PT-r cell lines ranged from 14-20 hours and, when adjusted for a 96well surface area, the calculated plateau cell density was approximately 7×10^4 cells/well.

2.3.3 Effect of Serum Deprivation on SHR and WKY Parathyroid Cell

Death

Serum starvation of PTC derived from SHR and WKY rats resulted in growth restriction and/or cell death to approximately the same final cell number for SHR and WKY PTC (Figure 2-3). However, the extent of this reduction was greater for SHR (31.7% vs 23.0% decrease) than WKY PTC due to a greater final cell number in the SHR PTC control 5% FBS group.

Apoptosis is associated with cellular changes such as nuclear condensation and fragmentation. The effect of serum deprivation on PTC nuclear morphology was studied utilizing the nuclear stain, DAPI. Figure 2-4 shows DAPI-stained nuclei from SHR (a, b) and WKY (c, d) PTC grown in normal (a, c) and serum-starved (b, d) conditions. Fragmented and condensed nuclei were seen in similar proportions for both SHR and WKY PTC under both serum-starved and normal serum conditions. As observed with WST-1 studies, SHR PTC proliferated to a greater extent over the 96 hour period than the WKY PTC.

Figure 2-5 shows cell death under both normal and serum-deprived conditions for SHR (a-d) and WKY (e-h). Apoptotic cell death was detected through annexin-V-Fluos labeling of phosphatidylserine residues. These residues are translocated from the inner to the outer leaflet of the lipid bilayer of the cell plasma membrane during early apoptotic cell death, however since the membrane integrity is disrupted during necrotic cell death, annexin-V-Fluos can permeate and stain necrotic cells. To distinguish apoptotic and necrotic cell death, the nuclear stain propidium iodide, which can only permeate necrotic cell membranes, was used. The staining patterns indicated that low levels of apoptosis and necrosis were observed in SHR PTC under normal serum conditions (Fig. 2-5 a, b),

however apoptosis and necrosis were seen to a greater extent in WKY PTC under normal serum conditions (Fig. 2-5 e, f). Under serum-starved conditions, both SHR and WKY PTC exhibited apoptosis and necrosis to a similar extent (Fig. 2-5 c, d, g, h). These results are in agreement with those obtained using WST-1 detection of cell viability and suggest that the reduced cell number for WKY PTC under normal serum conditions may be related to increased cell death versus SHR PTC.

2.3.4 Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on Parathyroid Cell Viability

The effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PTC viability was examined at various time points and cell culture densities. Cells were seeded at various densities and allowed to completely attach to the culture plates for 48 hours before initiation of an experiment. Following the attachment phase, exposure to various concentrations of EC Ca²⁺ for 4 hours resulted in a significantly greater number of viable parathyroid cells in the lowest (0.5 mM) EC Ca²⁺ group for both the IDCC and HDCC groups for SHR PTC, but only the HDCC group for WKY PTC (Figure 2-6a). The maximum percentage change in cell number was nearly 20% which was deemed appropriate for the 4 hour incubation period based on doubling time calculations. It was expected that a greater change in cell number would occur following exposure to different concentrations of EC Ca²⁺ for 48 hours. However, in both SHR and WKY PTC, no significant effects were observed (Figure 2-6b).

In order to determine whether the effect of EC Ca^{2+} was due to stimulation of proliferation by the low EC Ca^{2+} group or induction/enhancement of cell death by the higher EC Ca^{2+} groups, higher density SHR and WKY PTC cultures were exposed to various concentrations of EC Ca^{2+} in the presence or absence of the mitotic inhibitor,

cytosine-arabinoside. Figure 2-7 shows that a small, but significant inhibitory effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PTC number was maintained in the presence of cytosine-arabinoside for both SHR and WKY PTC. Incubation of cell cultures with 10 μ M cytosine-arabinoside for 48 hours arrested proliferation of cells, with minimal cell death (data not shown). Since all proliferation was prevented by cytosine-arabinoside, the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PTC number was due to induction or enhancement of parathyroid cell death.

2.3.5 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and Analog BT on Parathyroid Cell Viability

The effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PTC viability was examined as for EC Ca²⁺. Exposure to 100 nM 1,25-(OH)_2D_3 for 4 hours resulted in a small, but significant stimulation of PTC viability for both the IDCC and HDCC groups for SHR PTC, but only the HDCC group for WKY PTC (Figure 2-8a). After 48 hours however, a marked stimulation of cell number was observed in the LDCC groups for both SHR and WKY PTC, in addition to small but significant stimulatory effects in the IDCC and HDCC WKY PTC groups (Figure 2-8b).

To examine whether $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was able to alter PTC number in the absence of proliferation and also to address the potential role of the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ in mediating the effects after 48 hours, we exposed cells to the mitotic inhibitor, cytosine-arabinoside, as for EC Ca²⁺ studies, in the presence of absence of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ or the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ specific vitamin D3 agonist, BT. Figure 2-9a shows that both $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and analog BT significantly stimulated SHR PTC viability which was abolished in the presence of cytosine-arabinoside. No effects of either $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ or analog BT were observed for WKY PTC (Figure 2-9b). Since proliferation did not occur over the 48 hour time period
for WKY PTC, the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ are likely cell growth-dependent for these cells as well.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, parathyroid cells derived from the hypertensive model SHR, which exhibits some features of secondary hyperparathyroidism, were compared with cells derived from the normotensive control strain, WKY rats, and the effects of EC Ca²⁺ and vitamin D3 analogs in regulation of cell proliferation were examined. Cultured SHR PTC were shown to proliferate much faster and to a greater saturation density versus WKY parathyroid cells. Low EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ were both shown to enhance parathyroid cell viability by different mechanisms. The results from this study suggest that the parathyroid tissue of the SHR may be hyperplastic which may result in enhanced maximal PHF secretion and lead to the elevated plasma PHF observed in this model. PHF secretion studies under both basal conditions and in response to EC Ca²⁺ and vitamin D3 metabolites are reported in subsequent chapters of this thesis.

SHR parathyroid cells grew at a much faster rate than WKY parathyroid cells supporting an earlier study which suggested that SHR PTG were hyperplastic (18). Increased proliferation rates have been observed in other SHR tissues such as vascular smooth muscle (25). The PTC growth curves generated in this study were compared with those of subclones derived from the rat parathyroid cell line, PT-r (26). This line is derived from a rat model of secondary hyperparathyroidism induced by vitamin D3 deficiency. The range of doubling times for PT-r subclones was 14-20 hours. This was

more comparable with the SHR PTC doubling time of 30 hours than the WKY PTC doubling time of 54 hours. The saturation or plateau density reported for the hyperplastic PT-r subclones was also much closer to the saturation density observed for SHR PTC than for WKY PTC. Furthermore, cultured parathyroid cells from the normotensive WKY rats became senescent after several weeks in culture indicated by a cessation in growth and secretion of PHF, however SHR parathyroid cells continued to secrete PHF and grow to a much greater extent. We also observed that SHR parathyroid cells metabolized the tetrazolium salt, WST-1, to a greater extent than the same number of WKY cells. Since WST-1 is broken down by the mitochondrial enzymes involved in cellular metabolism, this indicates that SHR PTC may have a higher basal metabolic rate than WKY PTC. These features are all consistent with the hypothesis that SHR parathyroid tissue is hyperplastic.

The finding that SHR PTC grew to a greater plateau density prompted the question of whether these cells were abnormally resistant to contact inhibition and apoptosis. Serum deprivation experiments utilizing WST-1 indicated that SHR PTC underwent a greater decrease in cell number than WKY PTC seeded at the same starting density. This likely was due to a combination of increased proliferation by SHR PTC, and greater apoptosis for WKY PTC under normal serum conditions as suggested by increased annexin-labeling. Cell morphology after serum deprivation was examined and compared between the two cell lines by utilizing the nuclear specific dye, DAPI. The results confirmed those from the WST-1 studies. To determine whether this serum-deprivation induced cell death was apoptotic or necrotic in nature, we utilized annexin and propidium iodide staining of necrotic cells. These studies revealed that the majority

of cell death was apoptotic in nature and that SHR and WKY parathyroid cells responded to serum starvation with similar levels of apoptosis. The relevance of these in vitro observation to an *in vivo* setting is unclear since normal parathyroid tissue undergoes a relatively slow rate of cell turnover (27). Several in vivo studies which involved nutritional induction of secondary hyperparathyroidism in rats found no detectable apoptosis in either hyperplastic or normal parathyroid tissue (3, 6, 28). This may be due to the nature of the *in vivo* dietary studies which examined endpoint PTG tissue for evidence of apoptosis—a process which likely occurs at a low level and over relatively short time periods. However, subsequent studies have shown that apoptosis occurs at a comparable level to proliferation in normal parathyroid tissue, and at a higher rate in hyperplastic parathyroid tissue (29). A higher rate of apoptosis in the hyperplastic parathyroid of secondary hyperparathyroidism (29) is more likely due to increased cell turnover and is secondary to the increase in proliferation. However, we observed no difference in apoptosis between SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. In fact, SHR parathyroid cells were shown to be more resistant to apoptosis under normal conditions than WKY cells. This discrepancy may be due to inherent differences in the parathyroid of low-renin hypertension versus the parathyroid of secondary hyperparathyroidism, or alternatively, may be an *in vitro* observation which is not reflected *in vivo*.

Based on previous studies, low EC Ca^{2+} was hypothesized to stimulate parathyroid cell proliferation. Our studies showed that low EC Ca^{2+} indeed enhanced cell viability under HDCC, but the effect of calcium was not prevented by chemical blockade of proliferation by the anti-mitotic agent, cytosine-arabinoside. This indicates that high EC Ca^{2+} either induced parathyroid cell death, or enhanced apoptosis induced by the

high-density culture system. High EC Ca²⁺ was also shown to inhibit parathyroid cell viability at acute time points, but not by 48 hours; an observation which was also seen in studies of regulation of PHF secretion (30). The cause of this loss of sensitivity to EC Ca^{2+} is unknown but may be related to cellular changes which are induced by short term exposure to high EC Ca^{2+} , or may be due to biphasic effects of EC Ca^{2+} in this culture system. Although it is widely accepted that hypocalcemia stimulates proliferation in vivo, the *in vitro* effects of EC Ca^{2+} on parathyroid cell proliferation are not as clear. In addition to the predicted inhibitory effects (24), there have been reports of EC Ca^{2+} stimulating proliferation (7), biphasic effects (1, 7), and no effects (31). It is possible that EC Ca²⁺ influences multiple pathways in the control of proliferation *in vitro* and that there is a balance of both stimulatory and inhibitory effects. In fact, Roussanne et al have suggested that EC Ca²⁺ may both inhibit and stimulate parathyroid cell proliferation depending on whether CaR expression is high or low respectively (7) (CaR protein levels in the SHR and WKY PTC culture system are reported in Chapter 4). These findings may explain the small magnitude of change in cell number at 4 hours, and the lack of difference in cell number at 48 hours.

Although bovine parathyroid cells lose the ability to be regulated by EC Ca²⁺ (32) related to downregulation of the CaR, several other long-term parathyroid cell culture systems in addition to our own model (30), have successfully retained regulation by EC calcium, and when examined, expression of the CaR (1, 24, 33). We've previously shown that expression of the CaR protein is increased in cultured SHR PTC and that CaR protein is reduced at lower cell densities which normally exhibit parathyroid proliferation versus high-density, quiescent populations (22). Brown et al concluded that

downregulation of the CaR is not related to uremia per se, but to parathyroid proliferation in a study of phosphate-induced hyperparathyroidism concurrent with 5/6 nephrectomy (13). This may explain why EC Ca^{2+} effects on cell number are only observed at high densities presumably representing quiescent and possibly apoptotic populations, but not at lower densities which presumably represent populations in the linear or exponential proliferative phase.

We also examined regulation of parathyroid cell proliferation by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and the 1,25VDR_{nuc} agonist, BT. 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ is known for its anti-proliferative effects on parathyroid cells, however in our system, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ was associated with increased parathyroid cell viability after only a 4 hour exposure in high density culture conditions for both SHR and WKY PTC, as well as in intermediate density culture conditions for SHR PTC. In contrast, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ enhanced viability after 48 hours in low density culture conditions for SHR PTC and for all density conditions for WKY PTC. These results suggest that 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ may increase cell viability by prevention of overproliferation and thus high-density induced apoptosis. This would explain why the SHR PTC, which display a faster growth rate, may be affected at both intermediate and high densities at 4 hours whereas WKY PTC are most affected after 48 hours. It would also account for the observation that only the low density group was affected after 48 hours for SHR PTC since the higher density groups would presumably have sufficient time to overcome the anti-proliferative (and therefore anti-apoptotic) effects of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$. When we included cytosine-arabinoside in incubation with $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ for 48 hours, we found that the effects on cell viability were abolished indicating that cell proliferation was required for the effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. Inhibition of apoptosis related

to inhibition of overproliferation has been reported before in parathyroid tissue derived from normal dogs and patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism (34).

We also addressed whether the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ involved the newly described membrane $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ receptor $(1,25VDR_{mem})$ (35), or the classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$. We have recently shown that $1,25VDR_{mem}$ is increased in SHR versus WKY parathyroid cells and may be involved in mediating the rapid effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF secretion, whereas no difference in expression of the classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ was observed (36) (see section 5.3.3). Here we showed that the vitamin D3 analog, BT which has been shown to bind the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ but be incapable of exerting the rapid effects $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ observed in some tissues (37), was also capable of the same $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ effects on viability which indicates that the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ are likely $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ -dependent.

These results, taken together, support the hypothesis that the parathyroid tissue of SHR is hyperplastic, but maintains responsiveness to classical parathyroid regulators such as EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. They also indicate that cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells are an appropriate model for studying the pathophysiology of parathyroid hyperplasia in this model of hypertension. Since the PTG is the source of the PHF, the development of therapeutics which target parathyroid hyperplasia may be effective in reducing the elevated plasma PHF observed in low-renin hypertension.



Figure 2-1—Metabolism of WST-1 by parathyroid cells derived from SHR and WKY rats. SHR (unfilled symbols) and WKY (filled symbols) parathyroid cell suspensions in Ham's F12 medium adjusted to 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ and supplemented with 5% FBS were seeded in 96-well plates at the indicated densities and the WST-1 cell proliferation assay was performed. Results are presented as the mean \pm SEM of 6 replicate wells per group for one representative standard curve experiment.



Figure 2-2— Growth curves for parathyroid cells derived from SHR and WKY rats. SHR (unfilled symbols) and WKY (filled symbols) parathyroid cell suspensions in Ham's F12 medium adjusted to 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ and supplemented with 5% FBS were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of approximately 0.2 x 10⁴ cells/well. At the indicated time points, the WST-1 cell proliferation assay was performed. Culture medium was changed on day 4, 8, 11 and every third day after. Results are presented as the mean \pm SEM of 4 experiments with 6 replicate wells per group for each experiment. Results of 2-Way ANOVA indicate that parathyroid cell number increases over time for both SHR and WKY parathyroid cell growth curves and that the two growth curves are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 2-3—Effect of serum-deprivation on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. For investigation of the effect of serum deprivation on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability, cells were seeded at an intermediate density on a 96-well plate. After a 48 hour attachment period, media were changed for 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's supplemented with 5% (solid bars) or 0.2% (unshaded bars) FBS for a further 96 hours. The WST-1 cell proliferation assay was then performed. *Indicates significantly decreased versus corresponding 5% FBS treatment group (P < 0.05; t-test).



Figure 2-4—Effect of serum-deprivation on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell nuclear morphology. For investigation of the effect of serum deprivation on SHR (a, b) and WKY (c, d) nuclear morphology, cells were seeded at an intermediate density onto coverslips. After a 48 hour attachment period, media were changed for 5% (a,c) or 0.2% (b, d) FBS for a further 96 hours. Cells were stained with DAPI to visualize all nuclei. Arrows indicate fragmented or condensed nuclei.

Figure 2-5—Characterization of serum-induced SHR and WKY parathyroid cell death. To determine whether serum deprivation induced apoptosis or necrosis and to compare these processes for SHR (a-d) and WKY (e-h) parathyroid cells, cells were seeded at an intermediate density onto coverslips, allowed to attach for 48 hour and exposed to 5% (a, b, e, f) or 0.2% (c, d, g, h) FBS for a further 96 hours. Cells were stained with annexin-V-Fluos (a, c, e, g) to indicate apoptosis and propidium iodide (b, d, f, h) to visualize necrotic cells. Arrows indicate apoptotic cells and the arrowhead indicates necrotic cells.

Figure 2-5





Figure 2-6—Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. Parathyroid cells were seeded at a variety of densities to achieve the indicated cell densities at the start of the incubation period in 0.5 mM (SHR, horizontal hatched bar; WKY, dotted bar), 1.2 mM (SHR, solid bar; WKY, diagonal hatched bar), or 1.8 mM EC Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS. Cells were incubated for 4 (a) or 48 (b) hours and analyzed for cell viability in the WST-1 proliferation assay. Results shown are the mean ± SEM for 4 separate experiments with a minimum of 6 wells/treatment group and are expressed relative to the 1.8 mM EC Ca²⁺ treatment group. *Indicates significantly different (P < 0.05; one-way ANOVA) versus 1.2 and 1.8 mM Ca²⁺ group for corresponding rat strain using actual cell numbers.

а



Figure 2-7—Effect of proliferation blockade on effect of EC Ca²⁺ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. Parathyroid cells at a high cell density were incubated in 0.5 mM (SHR, horizontal hatched bar; WKY, dotted bar), 1.2 mM (SHR, solid bar; WKY, diagonal hatched bar), or 1.8 mM EC Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS in the presence (Cyt-Arab) or absence (Control) of 10 μ M cytosine-arabinoside. Cells were incubated for 4 hours and analyzed for cell viability in the WST-1 proliferation assay. Results shown are the mean \pm SEM for 4 separate experiments with a minimum of 6 wells/treatment group and are expressed relative to the appropriate 1.8 mM EC Ca²⁺ group. *Indicates significantly different (P < 0.05; one-way ANOVA) versus 1.2 and 1.8 mM Ca²⁺ group for corresponding rat strain using actual cell numbers.



Figure 2-8—Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. Parathyroid cells were seeded at a variety of densities to achieve the indicated cell densities at the start of the incubation period in 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS containing ethanol vehicle (control) or 100 nM 1,25-(OH)₂D₃. SHR (horizontal hatched bars) and WKY (dotted bars) parathyroid cells were incubated for 4 (a) or 48 (b) hours and analyzed for cell viability in the WST-1 proliferation assay. Results shown are the mean \pm SEM for 4 separate experiments with a minimum of 6 wells/treatment group and are expressed relative to the control group. *Indicates significantly different (*P* < 0.05; t-test) versus control group for corresponding rat strain determined using actual cell numbers.



Figure 2-9—Effect of proliferation blockade on effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. SHR (a) and WKY (b) parathyroid cells at a low cell density were incubated with 100 nM 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$, analog BT, or ethanol vehicle (control) in 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS in the presence (solid bars) or absence (unshaded bars) of 10 μ M cytosine-arabinoside. Cells were incubated for 48 hours and analyzed for cell viability in the WST-1 proliferation assay. Results shown are the mean \pm SEM for 4 separate experiments with a minimum of 6 wells/treatment group and are expressed relative to the control group without cytosine-arabinoside. *Indicates significantly different (P < 0.05; t-test) versus control group determined using actual cell numbers.

2.5 REFERENCES

- 1. **Brandi ML, Fitzpatrick LA, Coon HG, Aurbach GD** 1986 Bovine parathyroid cells: cultures maintained for more than 140 population doublings. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 83:1709-13
- 2. Sakaguchi K 1992 Acidic fibroblast growth factor autocrine system as a mediator of calcium-regulated parathyroid cell growth. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:24554-62
- 3. Naveh-Many T, Rahamimov R, Livni N, Silver J 1995 Parathyroid cell proliferation in normal and chronic renal failure rats. The effects of calcium, phosphate, and vitamin D. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:1786-93
- 4. Wada M, Furuya Y, Sakiyama J, et al. 1997 The calcimimetic compound NPS R-568 suppresses parathyroid cell proliferation in rats with renal insufficiency. Control of parathyroid cell growth via a calcium receptor. Journal of Clinical Investigation 100:2977-83
- 5. Nygren P, Larsson R, Johansson H, Ljunghall S, Rastad J, Akerstrom G 1988 1,25(OH)2D3 inhibits hormone secretion and proliferation but not functional dedifferentiation of cultured bovine parathyroid cells. Calcified Tissue International 43:213-8
- 6. **Wang Q, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM** 1996 Parathyroid cell proliferation in the rat: effect of age and of phosphate administration and recovery. Endocrinology 137:4558-62
- Roussanne MC, Lieberherr M, Souberbielle JC, Sarfati E, Drueke T, Bourdeau A 2001 Human parathyroid cell proliferation in response to calcium, NPS R-467, calcitriol and phosphate. European Journal of Clinical Investigation 31:610-6
- 8. **Fukagawa M** 1999 Cell biology of parathyroid hyperplasia in uremia. American Journal of the Medical Sciences. 317:377-82
- 9. Silver J, Sela SB, Naveh-Many T 1997 Regulation of parathyroid cell proliferation. Current Opinion in Nephrology & Hypertension 6:321-6
- 10. **Drueke TB** 2001 Genetic aspects of secondary hyperparathyroidism in uremia. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 38:S143-6
- 11. **Cetani F, Picone A, Cerrai P, et al.** 2000 Parathyroid expression of calciumsensing receptor protein and in vivo parathyroid hormone-Ca(2+) set-point in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. 85:4789-94
- 12. Ho C, Conner DA, Pollak MR, et al. 1995 A mouse model of human familial

hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. 11:389-94

- 13. **Brown AJ, Ritter CS, Finch JL, Slatopolsky EA** 1999 Decreased calciumsensing receptor expression in hyperplastic parathyroid glands of uremic rats: role of dietary phosphate. Kidney International 55:1284-92
- 14. Fukuda N, Tanaka H, Tominaga Y, Fukagawa M, Kurokawa K, Seino Y 1993 Decreased 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor density is associated with a more severe form of parathyroid hyperplasia in chronic uremic patients. Journal of Clinical Investigation 92:1436-43
- Denda M, Finch J, Brown AJ, Nishii Y, Kubodera N, Slatopolsky E 1996
 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and 22-oxacalcitriol prevent the decrease in vitamin D receptor content in the parathyroid glands of uremic rats. Kidney International 50:34-9
- 16. **Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH** 1986 Calcium metabolism in essential hypertension: relationship to altered renin system activity. Federation Proceedings 45:2739-45
- 17. Lewanczuk RZ 1992 Evidence for a parathyroid-dependent circulating hypertensive factor and its role in essential hypertension Medical Sciences (Medicine). University of Alberta, Edmonton, p 188
- Merke J, Lucas PA, Szabo A, et al. 1989 Hyperparathyroidism and abnormal calcitriol metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension 13:233-42
- 19. Kaneko T, Ohtani R, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1989 A novel cell type in the parathyroid glands of spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:549-52
- 20. **Pang PK, Shan JJ, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** 1996 Parathyroid hypertensive factor and intracellular calcium regulation. Journal of Hypertension 14:1053-60
- 21. **Sutherland SK, Nemere I, Benishin CG** 2003 Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by vitamin D3 analogs in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats. submitted
- 22. **Sutherland SK, Benishin CG** 2003 Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular Ca2+ by parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats. submitted
- 23. Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan JJ, Pang PK 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion from subcultured spontaneously hypertensive rat parathyroid cells. American Journal of Hypertension 12:1260-3

- Sakaguchi K, Santora A, Zimering M, Curcio F, Aurbach GD, Brandi ML
 1987 Functional epithelial cell line cloned from rat parathyroid glands.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America
 84:3269-73
- 25. **Hamet P, Hadrava V, Kruppa U, Tremblay J** 1988 Vascular smooth muscle cell hyper-responsiveness to growth factors in hypertension. Journal of Hypertension Supplement. 6:S36-9
- 26. Sakaguchi K, Ikeda K, Curcio F, Aurbach GD, Brandi ML 1990 Subclones of a rat parathyroid cell line (PT-r): regulation of growth and production of parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHRP). Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5:863-9
- 27. **Drueke TB** 2000 Cell biology of parathyroid gland hyperplasia in chronic renal failure. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 11:1141-52
- 28. **Jara A, Gonzalez S, Felsenfeld AJ, et al.** 2001 Failure of high doses of calcitriol and hypercalcaemia to induce apoptosis in hyperplastic parathyroid glands of azotaemic rats. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation 16:506-12
- 29. Uda S, Yoshimura A, Sugenoya Y, et al. 1996 [Role of apoptosis in the progression of secondary hyperparathyroidism]. Nippon Jinzo Gakkai Shi. Japanese Journal of Nephrology 38:323-8
- 30. **Sutherland SK, Benishin CG** 2002 Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular Ca2+ by parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats. submitted
- Ishimi Y, Russell J, Sherwood LM 1990 Regulation by calcium and 1,25-(OH)2D3 of cell proliferation and function of bovine parathyroid cells in culture. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5:755-60
- 32. Mithal A, Kifor O, Kifor I, et al. 1995 The reduced responsiveness of cultured bovine parathyroid cells to extracellular Ca2+ is associated with marked reduction in the expression of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein. Endocrinology 136:3087-92
- 33. **Roussanne MC, Gogusev J, Hory B, et al.** 1998 Persistence of Ca2+-sensing receptor expression in functionally active, long-term human parathyroid cell cultures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 13:354-62
- 34. **Canalejo A, Almaden Y, Torregrosa V, et al.** 2000 The in vitro effect of calcitriol on parathyroid cell proliferation and apoptosis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 11:1865-72
- 35. Nemere I, Schwartz Z, Pedrozo H, Sylvia VL, Dean DD, Boyan BD 1998 Identification of a membrane receptor for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 which

mediates rapid activation of protein kinase C. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 13:1353-9

- 36. **Sutherland SK, Nemere I, Benishin CG** 2002 Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by vitamin D3 analogs in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats. submitted
- 37. **Farach-Carson MC, Sergeev I, Norman AW** 1991 Nongenomic actions of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in rat osteosarcoma cells: structure-function studies using ligand analogs. Endocrinology 129:1876-84

Chapter 3

Basal secretion of parathyroid hypertensive factor

and immunolocalization in parathyroid cells^1

¹ Portions of this chapter have been submitted to Endocrinology for publication as: Sutherland, S. K. and C. G. Benishin. Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular calcium in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats.

3 BASAL SECRETION OF PHF AND PARATHYROID IMMUNOLOCALIZATION

3.1 Introduction

PHF was shown to be elevated in the plasma of SHR (1), and in low-renin rat models such hypertensive salt-sensitive Dahl rats and DOCA-NaCl hypertensive rats (2, 3) as well as in low-renin hypertensive humans (4). In addition, release of PHF from intact parathyroid organ cultures was detected in cultures derived from SHR, but not the normotensive genetic control WKY rats (5). Parathyroid cell culture experiments also suggested increased PHF release by cells derived from SHR (unpublished observations) versus WKY. However, since these experiments were designed primarily for the purpose of purifying large quantities of PHF rather than comparing production between the two strains, variables such as cell number in culture were not held constant. This makes it somewhat difficult to draw conclusions regarding differential basal PHF secretion between SHR and WKY cultured parathyroid cells. As well, the PHF blood pressure bioassay used as a PHF detection method, in addition to being cumbersome to perform, displayed significant variation and thus was only appropriate for measuring relatively large differences in PHF secretion by parathyroid cells. The recent development of both polyclonal (6) and monoclonal (7) anti-PHF antibodies has allowed for PHF detection using immunochemical methods, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA) and immunocytochemistry. The development of these techniques has simplified the detection and quantification of PHF and has improved the reliability and sensitivity of PHF measurement in secretion studies. To test the hypothesis

that SHR parathyroid cells produce PHF at a greater basal rate than WKY parathyroid cells, both immunocytochemistry and the PHF ELISA were utilized.

3.2 Materials & Methods

3.2.1 Materials

Mouse anti-PHF polyclonal antibody (IgM-3A), standard semi-pure PHF, PHFhorseradish peroxidase conjugate (PHF-HRP) and mouse monoclonal anti-PHF antibody (B2) was prepared as described previously (6, 7). Vectashield was obtained from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA). All other chemicals were purchased from either Sigma/Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) or Fisher chemicals (Fairlawn, NJ, USA). SHR and WKY rats were obtained from Charles River (St. Constant, Quebec, Canada).

3.2.2 Detection of PHF in Culture Medium and Cross-reactivity Studies

A competitive ELISA for PHF quantification in human plasma (6) has recently been developed and was used to detect PHF in parathyroid cell culture media with some modifications. Polyclonal anti-PHF antibody (IgM-3A)-coated 96-well microtiter plates (MTP) (1-4 μ g/ml in 0.15 M potassium phosphate buffer; 100 μ l/well) were incubated overnight at 4 °C, followed by 2 hours at 37 °C. Samples were either collected (20 μ l/well) and pipetted directly into a blank MTP or collected on ice and frozen at -70 °C until ready for analysis in ELISA. PHF standard in blank cell culture medium (Ham's F12 medium containing various concentrations of Ca²⁺, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, or ethanol vehicle depending on the experiment, supplemented with 5% FBS) and unknown samples were diluted 1:20 in PBS (pH 7.4) and added in duplicate or triplicate wells (50 μ l/well) to washed IgM-3A-coated MTP followed by addition of 50 μ l/well of PHF-HRP in PBS containing 1% BSA and 0.05% Tween 20 (at various dilutions ranging from 1:4000 to 1:50 000 depending on PHF-HRP conjugate lot used) and incubated for 2 hours at 37 °C. The chromogenic peroxidase substrate tetramethyl benzidine (Sigma) was prepared according to manufacturer's specifications, added to washed ELISA MTP (100 μ l/well), and incubated in darkness for 30 minutes on a shaker. The reaction was stopped by addition of 2M H₂SO₄ (50 μ l/well) and absorbance of oxidized substrate read at 450 nm using a Labsystem Multiskan MCC microplate reader.

A variety of substances were tested in order to demonstrate the specificity of the monoclonal anti-PHF antibodies. The method of competitive ELISA described above was adapted for the cross-reactivity study, with minor changes in the second step of the assay. During the second step, triplicates of each PHF standard in PBS or tested analyte (50 μ l/well) were pipetted and PHF-HRP conjugate (50 μ l/well; 1:4000 dilution with the incubation buffer) was added and the mixture was incubated for 2 hours at 37 C. The other steps of the ELISA were similar to those described above. The results of the ELISA were calculated using the program Microsoft Excel. The percentage of inhibition was calculated as the following:

% inhibition = $100 - (A - A^b)/(A_0 - A_0^b) \times 100$

where A is the mean of the signal corresponding to tested analyte on the plate with monoclonal antibody, A_0 is the mean of the signal corresponding to negative control (PBS) on the plate with monoclonal antibody, A^b is the mean of the signal corresponding to tested analyte on the plate without monoclonal antibody (background), A_0^b is the mean

of the signal corresponding to the negative control (PBS) on the plate without monoclonal antibody (background). The concentration of PHF corresponding to the response of the highest concentration of cross-reactive analyte used in ELISA was calculated using Microplate Manager/PC software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada). The percentage of cross-reactivity was reported as the ratios of the concentration of the analyzed cross-reactive substance yielding the same response in ELISA multiplied by 100.

3.2.3 Immunocytochemistry for PHF in parathyroid cells

Parathyroid cell cultures were obtained as described previously (8). Cultured parathyroid cells were re-suspended in DMEM containing 10% FBS and seeded onto sterile glass coverslips at 1 x 10^4 cells/coverslip and allowed a 48 hour attachment period at 37 °C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂. Cultures were then washed once with room temperature PBS (pH 7.4) and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde containing 0.5% Tween-20 (to allow permeabilization of antibodies) for 10 minutes. Fixed cultures were then immediately washed in PBS 3 times for 10 minutes to remove residual fixative. All subsequent incubations with reagents were performed in a humidified chamber. Nonspecific antibody binding sites were then blocked with 4% BSA in PBS for 1 hour at 37 °C. Anti-PHF monoclonal antibody B2 (100 μ g/ml), alone or pre-absorbed with partially purified PHF, or PBS alone were then incubated with the cells overnight at 4 °C. Cultures were washed 3 times 5 minutes in PBS and exposed to 1:100 anti-mouse IgM-FITC for 30 minutes at 37 °C in darkness. Cultures were again washed 3 times 5 minutes in PBS and exposed to 1:100 anti-mouse IgM-FITC for 30 minutes on slides using Vectashield mounting medium. Slides were photographed

using an Olympus BX-40 fluorescence microscope and images obtained with a SPOT-2 digital camera and images were processed using Microsoft PictureIt.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 ELISA for PHF in Culture Media

PHF secretion studies necessitated the development of an ELISA for PHF detection in cell culture media. This was accomplished through modification of an existing ELISA for PHF detection in human plasma (6). These modifications were required in order to detect very low concentrations of PHF and allow determination of basal PHF secretion rates for time periods as short as 10 minutes. Many substances found in normal human plasma and known vasoactive materials were tested for cross-reactivity with the monoclonal antibody at a variety of concentrations. The results are shown in Table 3-1 and indicate that no cross-reactivity was observed with any of the substances tested (Krylova, unpublished results) (6). Figure 3-1 demonstrates the absorbancesuppressing effects of 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 culture medium containing 5% FBS and typical PHF standard curves. For experiments testing the effect of EC Ca²⁺, standard curves were initially constructed using both low (0.5 mM) and normal (1.5 mM) Ca^{2+} Ham's F12 culture medium containing 5% FBS and samples compared to the appropriate standard curve. A similar protocol was performed when testing the effect of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release. This was done in order to determine whether Ca²⁺ or 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ contained in the samples was capable of shifting the PHF standard curve resulting in false PHF determinations. Figures 3-2 and 3-3 show that the standard curves

were not significantly different for the different concentrations of EC Ca²⁺ or the high (1 μ M) concentration of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ respectively. As well, in order to determine an optimal concentration of PHF-HRP to use in ELISA, various dilutions ranging from 1:4000 to 1:50 000 (depending on the lot of PHF-HRP) were tested. A negative relationship between PHF-HRP dilution and optical density is shown in Fig. 3-4. For most of the PHF secretion studies described in this thesis, PHF-HRP was used at either 1:8000 or 1:50 000 for two different conjugate lots. The limit of detection for this assay was 0.002 Units of PHF/ml and intra- and inter- assay coefficients of variance were 8.2 and 13 % respectively.

3.3.2 Basal Secretion of PHF

Using this assay, PHF release was consistently shown to be increased in parathyroid cells derived from SHR versus WKY rats. Typical results of cumulative PHF release into 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 culture medium supplemented with 5% FBS after 72 hours are shown in Figure 3-5. The PHF secretion shown here is from parathyroid cell cultures that are in the plateau phase of cell growth for both SHR and WKY cells. This represents the most stable/quiescent period, therefore was deemed the most appropriate for comparison between SHR and WKY parathyroid cell cultures.

3.3.3 Immunocytochemistry for PHF in parathyroid cells

The immunocytochemical results for PHF in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells are shown in Figure 3-6. Cytoplasmic staining was observed using monoclonal anti-PHF antibody B2 for SHR (Fig. 3-6a), and to a lesser extent, WKY (Fig. 3-6b) parathyroid cells. Minimal background staining was seen in cells exposed to PBS alone (Fig. 3-6e

and Fig. 3-6f) and a diminished signal was seen in cells exposed to antibody pre-absorbed with PHF (Fig. 3-6c and Fig. 3-6d).

3.4 Discussion

These results indicate that the ELISA for detection of PHF in culture medium is a specific and sensitive method for quantifying PHF secretion by parathyroid cells. Using this ELISA, secretion of PHF was shown to be enhanced in SHR cultured parathyroid cells under basal conditions. As well, the immunocytochemical staining for PHF in SHR parathyroid cells appears to be increased versus WKY parathyroid cells. This may partially account for the elevated plasma PHF observed in SHR (1). The stimulus for increased basal production in sub-cultured SHR parathyroid cells is unknown but may indicate that SHR cells have undergone a transformation to a phenotype with an increased basal synthesis and release of PHF. If novel cells, as suggested previously (9), are indeed responsible for the excess secretion of PHF in the SHR, it is possible that they may be the major cell type represented in parathyroid sub-cultures. These data provide specific evidence of increased PHF storage and secretion in parathyroid cell cultures derived from the SHR versus WKY rats.

Substance	C40D21B2
5-hydroxytryptamine	n.d.
Acetyl coenzyme A	n.d.
Adenosine triphosphate	n.d.
Alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone	n.d.
Angiotensin I	n.d.
Angiotensin II	n.d.
Bradykinin	n.d.
Calcitonin (salmon)	n.d.
Calcitonin-gene-related peptide	n.d.
Calcitriol	n.d.
Cholecystokinin	n.d.
Cytochrome C	n.d.
Dopamine	n.d.
Endothelin-1	n.d.
Endothelin-3	n.d.
Estrogen	n.d.
Guanosine triphosphate	n.d.
Hemoglobin	n.d.
Human Parathyroid hormone (1-84)	n.d.
Insulin	n.d.
Insulin-like growth factor-I	n.d.
Insulin-like growth factor-II	n.d.
Lysophosphatidyl choline	n.d.
Lysophosphatidyl ethanolamine	n.d.
Lysophosphatidyl inositol	n.d.
Lysophosphatidyl serine	n.d.
Melatonin	n.d.
Nerve growth factor	n.d.
Noradrenaline	n.d.
Ouabain	n.d.
Parathyroid hormone (bovine, 1-34)	n.d.
Parathyroid hormone (rat, 1-34)	n.d.
Platelet-activating factor	n.d.
Progesterone	n.d.
Prostaglandin E_2	n.d.
Secretin	n.d.
Spermidine	n.d.
Thrombin	n.d.
Thyroglobulin	n.d.
Vasopressin	n.d.

Table 3-1—Cross-reactivity of monoclonal anti-PHF antibody B2 with various substances in the PHF ELISA. None of the indicated substances demonstrated detectable cross-reactivity with the monoclonal anti-PHF antibody B2. n.d. indicates not-detectable. (Krylova, unpublished results).



Figure 3-1—Effect of culture medium on standard curves for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples. The effect of 10, 20, and 50 times (unshaded square, shaded square, and open circle symbols respectively) diluted culture medium in PBS vs PBS alone (shaded circle symbols) on the PHF standard curve final absorbance at 450 nm is shown.



Figure 3-2—Effect of calcium concentration on standard curves for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples. The effect of 0.5 and 1.5 mM Ca^{2+} (unshaded square and shaded square symbols respectively) Ham's F12 medium supplemented with 5% on the PHF standard curve final absorbance at 450 nm is shown.



Figure 3-3—Effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on standard curves for the ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples. PHF standard curves were constructed in 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 medium supplemented with 5% FBS containing either 1 μ M 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ or ethanol vehicle (shaded square and un-shaded square symbols respectively).



Figure 3-4—Effect of PHF-HRP conjugate dilution on final absorbance at 450 nm in ELISA for PHF detection in culture media samples. Various concentrations of PHF-HRP were incubated in ELISA with PBS containing 5% culture medium (Ham's F12 medium adjusted to 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ and supplemented with 5% FBS) and the optical density at 450 nm measured.



Figure 3-5—Secretion of PHF by cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Cumulative PHF release into 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 culture medium (supplemented with 5% FBS) after 72 hours by cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells was measured by ELISA. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM PHF values for 3 separate experiments with 6 culture dishes for each cell type. *Indicates significantly increased versus WKY parathyroid cell cultures (P < 0.05; t-test)



Figure 3-6—Immunolocalization of PHF in cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Cultured SHR (a,c,e) and WKY (b,d,f) parathyroid cells were incubated with monoclonal anti-PHF antibody B2 (a,b), B2 pre-absorbed with PHF (c,d), and PBS alone (e,f).

3.5 REFERENCES

- 1. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK** 1991 Purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from plasma of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:6372-6
- 2. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1991 Parathyroid hypertensive factor is present in DOCA-salt but not two-kidney-one-clip hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 4:802-5
- 3. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 The occurrence of parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF) in Dahl rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:758-62
- 4. **Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Laragh JH, Pang PK** 1993 Parathyroid hypertensive factor-like activity in human essential hypertension: relationship to plasma renin activity and dietary salt sensitivity. Journal of Hypertension 11:1235-41
- 5. Benishin CG, Labedz T, Guo DD, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Identification and purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from organ culture of parathyroid glands from spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:134-40
- 6. **Krylova SM, Pang PK, Shan J, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** 2000 Quantitative determination of parathyroid hypertensive factor by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. American Journal of Hypertension 13:1173-9
- 7. **Krylova SM, Labedz T, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** Generation, characterization, and use of monoclonal antibodies against parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Clinical Chemistry submitted
- 8. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan JJ, Pang PK** 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion from subcultured spontaneously hypertensive rat parathyroid cells. American Journal of Hypertension 12:1260-3
- 9. Kaneko T, Ohtani R, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1989 A novel cell type in the parathyroid glands of spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:549-52
Chapter 4

Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular calcium in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive

rats¹

¹ Portions of this chapter have been submitted to Endocrinology for publication as: Sutherland, S. K. and C. G. Benishin. Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular calcium in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats.

4 EFFECT OF EC Ca²⁺ ON PHF SECRETION

4.1 Introduction

Extracellular ionized calcium (EC Ca^{2+}) regulates the activity of many diverse cell types including skeletal, cardiac, and vascular smooth muscle cells; neurons; endocrine and exocrine secretory cells; and many others (1). In most systems EC Ca^{2+} stimulates secretory activity, however, due to the physiological role of the PTG in maintaining plasma calcium homeostasis, EC Ca^{2+} has atypical effects on the parathyroid cell (2). The PTG secrete PTH in response to low serum ionized calcium which then acts upon the classical PTH target sites, the kidneys and bone, to counteract the fall in plasma Ca^{2+} . The endocrine axis is completed with negative feedback effects of calcium on the parathyroid including inhibition of PTH synthesis and secretion (3-6) as well as effects on proliferation (7, 8). The mechanism of action of EC Ca^{2+} in the parathyroid has been reviewed elsewhere (9), but Ca^{2+} appears to act as a first messenger upon the G-proteincoupled CaR (10).

Abnormalities in parathyroid function, including hyperparathyroidism, may be associated with conditions not typically involved in calcium homeostasis. One such condition is hypertension. Furthermore, when hypertensive patients are classified according to plasma renin activity, the low-renin subset (representing approximately 30-40%) exhibits a plasma calcium deficit accompanied by appropriate shifting of the calcium-regulating hormones resulting in increased plasma PTH, elevated 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃, and suppressed calcitonin (11). In addition to the association of hyperparathyroidism with low-renin hypertension, parathyroidectomy (12, 13) and

parathyroid cross-transplantation studies in SHR have demonstrated parathyroid involvement in hypertension (12). Several dietary studies have also addressed the role of calcium balance in hypertension, but the results have been inconsistent and confusing. However, when plasma renin profile is taken into account, a high calcium diet has been shown to ameliorate hypertension in both low-renin hypertensive rat models (14, 15) and human hypertension (11, 16, 17). Surprisingly, Ca²⁺ channel blockers have also exhibited anti-hypertensive effects in low-renin hypertension (18). This is a paradox since one treatment elevates Ca²⁺ availability to cells, but the other prevents its entry into cells.

This paradox may be resolved by the Parathyroid Hypertensive Factor (PHF) (for review see (19)). PHF was originally discovered and isolated from the plasma of SHR (20) and later found to be elevated in other low-renin rat models of hypertension (21, 22), as well as in primary hyperparathyroid (13) and low-renin hypertensive humans (23). Subsequently, lower levels of PHF have been detected in plasma of normotensive humans (unpublished observations). The hypertensive mechanism of action of PHF involves the potentiation of the effects of classical vasoconstrictors by increasing Ca²⁺ influx into vascular smooth muscle cells through L-type Ca²⁺ channels thereby accounting for the efficacy of Ca²⁺ channel blockers (24). The beneficial effects of dietary calcium may then be explained by the fact that the major source of PHF is the PTG (12, 25, 26), a tissue which is negatively regulated by plasma Ca²⁺.

The regulation of PHF synthesis and secretion is poorly understood, however initial studies have indicated that higher levels of EC Ca^{2+} , as for PTH, appear to suppress PHF release. Increased dietary calcium intake was associated with lower PHF levels in both low-renin rat models (27, 28) and human hypertensives (29) and a reduction in

culture media Ca^{2+} concentration enhanced PHF detected by the blood pressure bioassay in parathyroid organ cultures derived from SHR (25). Here we have investigated the effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF secretion in low-renin hypertension and normotension by utilizing a continuous SHR and WKY parathyroid cell culture system (26). As well, the role of the CaR in mediating the effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release was also examined.

4.2 Materials & Methods

4.2.1 Materials

Mouse anti-PHF polyclonal antibody (IgM-3A), standard semi-pure PHF, and PHF-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (PHF-HRP) were prepared as described previously (30). Polyclonal rabbit anti-CaR IgG (PA1-934) and control CaR neutralizing peptide (PA1-934) were purchased from Affinity Bioreagents (Golden, CO, USA). All cell culture media were obtained from Gibco/BRL (Burlington, ON). Acrylamide bis, temed, ammonium persulfate, and kaleidoscope molecular weight standards were all purchased from BioRad (Hercules, CA, USA). Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection reagents for Western blot analysis were obtained from Amersham (Arlington Heights, IL, USA). WST-1 cell proliferation reagent was obtained from Roche Biochemicals (Mannheim, Germany). All other chemicals were purchased from either Sigma/Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) or Fisher chemicals (Fairlawn, NJ, USA). SHR and WKY rats were obtained from Charles River (St. Constant, Quebec, Canada).

4.2.2 Detection of PHF in Culture Medium

PHF detection in culture medium was performed as described in section 3.2.2.

4.2.3 Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF Secretion

Continuous parathyroid cell cultures were established as described previously (26). Cultured parathyroid cells were seeded and allowed a 48 hour attachment period in DMEM containing 10% FBS and then exposed to Ham's F12 medium adjusted with CaCl₂ to contain various concentrations of Ca²⁺ and supplemented with 5% FBS for the indicated time periods. Aliquots were removed and processed for PHF analysis in ELISA as indicated above and the cells processed for the WST-1 cell viability assay. For experiments involving parathyroid organ culture, glands were isolated from SHR and WKY rats as described previously (26) and placed in 24-well culture dishes (2 glands/well) containing 250 μ l/well Ham's F12 medium adjusted to contain either low (0.5 mM) or normal (1.5 mM) Ca²⁺ and supplemented with 5% FBS. Aliquots of 10 μ l were removed at various time points for PHF determination as described above. Use of animals was according to CCAC guidelines, and reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee.

4.2.4 Determination of Parathyroid Cell Number

Parathyroid cell number was determined by using either the trypan blue exclusion method or the WST-1 cell proliferation assay. For cell number determination on 96-well culture plates, 10 μ l WST-1 reagent was added to each well (containing 100 μ l of phenol red-free 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS) and the plates incubated 2 hours at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. Optical density at 450 nm (with reference wavelength of 650 nm) was then measured by a 96-well spectrophotometer. Absorbance was compared to a cell

standard curve prepared just prior to addition of WST-1, with cell number determined by the trypan blue exclusion method. For all other experiments, parathyroid cell suspensions were obtained by trypsin treatment and cell viability determined using the trypan blue exclusion method.

4.2.5 Western Blots for CaR protein

Preparation of parathyroid cell lysates and detection of the CaR protein was performed as previously described (31) with a few modifications. Parathyroid cells cultured in 6-well plates were washed twice with PBS containing 1 mM EDTA and a lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM PMSF, 5 μ g/ml pepstatin, 5 μ g/ml leupeptin, 1% SDS, pH 7.4) pre-heated to 65 °C was added. The cell lysate was harvested and incubated for 5 minutes at 65 °C and aliquots were frozen at -70 °C until Western blot analysis. Protein content of the samples was measured using the BCA method (Pierce Chemical Company) and samples were diluted 1:1 in non-reducing SDS-Laemmli sample buffer and 5 μ g electrophoresed by SDS-PAGE on 7 or 8% polyacrylamide gels. Proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane by electroblotting at 75 V for 1 hour in transfer buffer (19 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM glycine, 20% methanol) and the membrane equilibrated in Tris-buffered saline + 1% Tween-20 (TBST). Non-specific binding sites were blocked with 5% skim milk in TBST for 2 hours at room temperature followed by incubation with 1:1000 rabbit polyclonal anti-CaR IgG overnight at 4 °C. Blots were then washed (three times 10 minutes in TBST) and incubated with 1:2000 goat anti-rabbit IgG-HRP in TBST (30 minutes in darkness at room temperature). Membranes were washed (three times 10 minutes in TBST) and the specific proteins visualized using the enhanced

chemiluminescence (ECL) detection system.

4.2.6 Role of the CaR in effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release

SHR parathyroid cells were seeded at $0.5 \ge 10^4$ cells/well and WKY cells were seeded at $1.0 \ge 10^4$ cells/well in 96-well plates and allowed to attach/grow in 5% FBS DMEM for 48 hours. This was done to compensate for different growth rates of cells from the two strains such that approximately the same density for both strains existed prior to initiation of the experiment. Cells were incubated with PBS containing BSA (1.4 μ g/ml) primary anti-CaR antibodies (raised against a control CaR peptide of the Nterminus of the CaR) alone (1.4 μ g/ml) or previously pre-absorbed (1 hour, 37 °C; equal concentrations by weight of antibody and control CaR peptide) anti-CaR antibody were incubated on cells for 60 minutes at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Cells were washed with HBSS and media replaced with either low (0.5) or normal (1.5) mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS for 60 minutes and samples collected for PHF analysis in ELISA.

4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

ELISA standard curves and unknown values were determined using the Microplate Manager/PC software (BioRad Laboratories). Results are expressed as the mean \pm SEM and statistical evaluation for differences between treatment groups was performed using either t-tests or ANOVA where appropriate.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF Secretion

Experiments on both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells were initially performed at similar cell densities, with the assumption that PHF release would be standardized by expressing PHF/cell. However, subsequent experiments demonstrated that the extent of the effect of calcium on parathyroid cells varied greatly with cell density in culture. Therefore, the effect of EC Ca^{2+} on rate of PHF secretion was examined at various time points after seeding SHR and WKY parathyroid cells at a low cell density. Experiments were performed over a three week period thus allowing a wide range of cell densities to be examined. During the early phase of cell growth the rate of PHF secretion decreased and there was no effect of low EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release. However, by 8 days for SHR parathyroid cells (Figure 4-1a) and 15 days for WKY parathyroid cells (Figure 4-1b), low $EC Ca^{2+}$ had a significant and rapid stimulatory effect PHF release. Interestingly, these two time points for SHR and WKY parathyroid cells represent similar densities ($\sim 2 \times 10^4$ cells/well). PHF secretory rate rapidly declined and the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release disappeared when cells became quiescent or began to die after approximately 3 weeks in culture. Taken together, these results suggest that regulation of PHF release by EC Ca²⁺ has either a time or cell culture density dependency or combination of both.

To examine whether cells exposed to low EC Ca^{2+} could be further stimulated to secrete PHF after treatment periods longer than 60 minutes, cumulative PHF release after 4, 24 and 48 hours was examined. When parathyroid cells at an intermediate density (representing the same density in which low EC Ca^{2+} stimulated PHF release in the above experiments), were exposed to either low (0.5 mM) or normal (1.5 mM) EC Ca^{2+} for 4-48 hours, cells were initially stimulated to secrete PHF in the low (0.5 mM) treatment group

(45% increase versus the 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ group, P < 0.05 after 4 hours) however the effect disappeared after 24 hours of stimulation in SHR parathyroid cell cultures (Figure 4-2a). Similar results were observed for WKY parathyroid cell cultures (66% increase versus the 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ group, P < 0.05 after 4 hours) (Figure 4-2b). Interestingly, PHF in the 0.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ group detected at 48 hours was significantly decreased versus 24 and 4 hour PHF release in WKY parathyroid cell cultures. This trend was also observed in SHR parathyroid cell cultures, but was not significant (P = 0.07). These results suggest a decrease in sensitivity to EC Ca²⁺ after exposure times greater than 48 hours and a possible degradation/internalization of secreted PHF by parathyroid cells under low EC Ca²⁺ conditions.

In order to establish the validity of our parathyroid cell culture model in studying the mechanisms controlling PHF release, the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release was examined in cultured intact PTG derived from both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells (Figure 4-3). Intact PTG in culture displayed similar regulation by Ca²⁺; low EC Ca²⁺ stimulated PHF secretion from both SHR and WKY PTG and, as seen in parathyroid cell culture, the effect of calcium disappeared after 24 hours. SHR PTG also displayed enhanced secretion of PHF in response to low Ca²⁺ versus WKY parathyroids at both the 4 hour (66.8-fold versus 23.9-fold increase above basal) and 24 hour (5.39-fold versus 2.46-fold increase above basal). The stimulation of PHF release by low EC Ca²⁺ was also substantially greater for intact PTG than for sub-cultured parathyroid cells for both SHR and WKY cultures.

4.3.2 Regulation of CaR protein expression

Reports of downregulation of the CaR in cultured bovine parathyroid cells (32) and the observation that sensitivity of PHF secretion to EC Ca²⁺ occurred only after shorter exposure times or higher cell densities in our own model prompted the examination of expression of the CaR under various experimental conditions. Figure 4-4 shows a 121 and 128 kDa doublet presumably representing the unglycosylated monomeric form of the CaR, a 160 kDa form which likely represents the glycosylated monomeric form of the CaR, several higher MW bands greater than 210 kDa representing CaR dimers (33), and several low MW fragments that are likely degraded CaR fragments. The band greater than 210 kDa is consistently increased in SHR vs WKY parathyroid cells that have been cultured at the same cell density. Figure 4-5 shows that CaR protein (the 121 and 128 kDa doublet) increases in both strains over time in culture and that CaR expression was also upregulated in response to 1.5 mM versus 0.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ in SHR parathyroid cells (Figure 4-5a) and this upregulation was observed by 24 hours. However in WKY parathyroid cells (Figure 4-5b), the cells exposed to 0.5 mM EC Ca^{2+} for 24 hours had increased CaR protein (indicated by increased bands greater than 210 kDa, and to a lesser extent, increased 121 and 128 kDa doublet protein) vs 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺. Figure 4-6 shows that higher cell density culture conditions are associated with greater expression of CaR protein (expressed relative to total cellular protein) for both SHR (Figure 4-6a) and WKY (Figure 4-6b) parathyroid cultures. Taken together, these results show that CaR expression is both EC Ca²⁺- and cell density-regulated and is elevated in cultured SHR parathyroid cells.

4.3.3 Role of the CaR in mediating the effects of Ca^{2+} on PHF Secretion

The effect of anti-CaR IgG antibodies on PHF release under both low (0.5 mM) and normal (1.5 mM) EC Ca²⁺ is shown in Figure 4-7. Pre-incubation of anti-CaR antibodies with parathyroid cells prevented the inhibitory effect of 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release from SHR parathyroid cells and restored PHF secretion to levels comparable with those observed in all 0.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ treatment groups whereas anti-CaR antibodies which had been pre-absorbed with the control CaR peptide had no effect. Anti-CaR antibodies incubated with WKY parathyroid cells however not only restored, but stimulated PHF release in the 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ treatment group. As well, anti-CaR antibodies prevented the stimulatory effect of low (0.5 mM) EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release. These data suggest that the CaR has an important role in mediating the effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF secretion.

4.4 Discussion

In this study, parathyroid cells derived from the hypertensive model SHR, which exhibits some features of secondary hyperparathyroidism, were compared to cells derived from the normotensive control strain, WKY and the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on secretion of parathyroid hypertensive factor was examined. Based on previous studies utilizing the PHF blood pressure bioassay and the observed suppressed plasma Ca²⁺ and elevated plasma PHF in the SHR, our hypothesis was that low EC Ca²⁺ would directly stimulate PHF secretion via the CaR. This study confirmed and further characterized the inhibitory effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release and validated the parathyroid cell culture system for the study of PHF secretion. This is also the first report of PHF release from parathyroid cells derived from normotensive animals (WKY rats). This has the important implication that PHF may be present physiologically. The physiological function is unclear, however it is tempting to speculate that PHF may play a role in the maintenance of intracellular Ca^{2+} in the face of suppressed plasma Ca^{2+} (19). Furthermore, the CaR was shown to be an important mediator of the effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF secretion and its expression was regulated by both EC Ca^{2+} and cell density in parathyroid cell culture. These data support the idea that hypocalcemia contributes to the elevated PHF status of the SHR.

Previous *in vivo* studies have demonstrated a negative relationship between plasma calcium or calcium intake and plasma PHF levels (27, 28). Furthermore, one *in vitro* study of intact PTG organ cultures showed that reduced Ca^{2+} in the culture medium resulted in enhanced PHF release (25). In these studies, PHF was measured by the only available assay at the time, a semi-quantitative blood pressure bioassay. The development of an ELISA for detection of PHF in culture media has enabled more precise studies of the direct effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release including a more relevant Ca^{2+} concentration range, acute and sub-acute time points, and secretion from both PTG organ and cell culture. Modification of the existing ELISA for detection of PHF in human plasma (30) has resulted in increased sensitivity allowing for PHF detection after incubation periods as short as ten minutes.

In this study, the relationship between both basal and calcium-modulated PHF secretion rate and parathyroid cell growth was examined. The results indicated that initially, EC Ca²⁺ had no significant effect on the rate of PHF secretion. As well, PHF secretion rate during this early growth period was negatively correlated with parathyroid cell number up to approximately four days in culture for both SHR and WKY derived parathyroid cells. This is not particularly surprising since many endocrine cells, when not

in the quiescent G_0 phase of the cell cycle, are not in an active secretory state. At relatively higher cell densities when cell growth was nearing a plateau however, EC Ca²⁺ had direct inhibitory effects on PHF secretion which were first apparent by 8 days for SHR and 15 days for WKY parathyroid cells. Interestingly, these two time points occur at similar densities which suggest that a critical cell density may be necessary for EC Ca²⁺ sensitivity in these cultured parathyroid cells. For both cell lines, parathyroid cell death after approximately 3 weeks in culture was accompanied by a diminished PHF secretion rate and abolished regulation by EC Ca²⁺.

Parathyroid response to EC Ca^{2+} was also dependent on the incubation time. When both parathyroid cells and intact PTG in culture were exposed to low EC Ca^{2+} for up to 48 hours, PHF secretion was only stimulated at the 4 hour, and to a lesser extent, the 24 hour time points. This does not correlate with expression of the CaR since CaR protein was shown to increase over time in cultured parathyroid cells. The cause of this loss of sensitivity is unknown but may indicate that low EC Ca^{2+} triggers rapid release of a stored pool of PHF which is exhausted and not replaced by 48 hours. It is also possible that EC Ca^{2+} induces the release of autocrine/paracrine factors which may counteract the direct effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release. Interestingly, exposure to low EC Ca^{2+} was also shown to result in reduced CaR protein expression in both SHR and WKY (after 48 hours exposure only) parathyroid cells versus the normal (1.5 mM) EC Ca^{2+} implying that reduced CaR expression in the low EC Ca^{2+} group may contribute to the loss of sensitivity with respect to PHF release. A decrease in detectable PHF in the low Ca^{2+} group by 48 hours in both the parathyroid organ and cell culture experiments was also observed suggesting that PHF is metabolized or internalized after it is released.

Although bovine parathyroid cells lose the ability to be regulated by EC Ca^{2+} (32) related to downregulation of the CaR, several other long-term parathyroid cell culture systems in addition to our own model, have successfully retained regulation by EC Ca^{2+} , and when examined, expression of the CaR (34-36). At least one other rat parathyroid culture model has been developed which retains sensitivity to EC Ca²⁺ (PT-r clonal cell line) (34), although these cells were found to secrete PTHrP rather than PTH. Here we have shown that sub-cultured primary parathyroid cells derived from both normotensive WKY rats and the low-renin hypertensive model, SHR, are regulated by EC Ca^{2+} , although to a much lesser extent than intact parathyroid organ cultures. Furthermore, sub-cultured WKY parathyroid cells, and to a greater extent SHR parathyroid cells, express several forms of the CaR protein, including the native unglycosylated monomer (approximately 120 kDa), the glycosylated monomer (approximately 160 kDa), and dimers (greater than 210 kDa) (33). Since the SHR is characterized by hypocalcemia and we have shown that EC Ca²⁺ upregulates the CaR in SHR parathyroid cells, we would expect reduced expression of the CaR. Furthermore, we have also shown that CaR expression is reduced in proliferating parathyroid cells and previous data indicate that the SHR parathyroid cells proliferate at a much faster rate than the WKY parathyroid cells (unpublished observations) which suggests that there may be some dysregulation in the expression of the CaR in SHR parathyroid tissue.

These alterations in the expression of the CaR are particularly relevant since the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF secretion appears to be mediated by the CaR. In parathyroid cells derived from normotensive WKY rats, pre-incubation with anti-CaR antibodies directed against an N-terminus peptide sequence of the CaR not only restored, but

stimulated PHF release in the 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ treatment group above and beyond the stimulation by 0.5 mM EC Ca^{2+} in the control groups. This indicates that the CaR is responsible for mediating the suppressive effects of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release. The stimulation by anti-CaR antibodies may suggest that even low levels of EC Ca^{2+} may exert some suppression of PHF release via the CaR. Interestingly, anti-CaR antibodies also prevented the stimulatory effect of low (0.5 mM) EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release indicating that the CaR is also responsible for mediating specific stimulatory signals of low EC Ca^{2+} . This is not unusual if EC Ca^{2+} -mediated signaling is viewed as analogous to peptide-based signaling in which it is common for low doses of a peptide to activate different signaling pathways than those activated by high doses through the same receptor. Since the SHR parathyroid cells were found to express greater amounts of CaR protein and had increased responses to stimulation of PHF release by low EC Ca^{2+} , it was anticipated that the CaR would mediate both high and low EC Ca²⁺-induced effects on PHF secretion. However, in parallel experiments performed in SHR-derived parathyroid cells, the CaR appeared to mediate the inhibitory effect of 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release, but not the stimulatory effect of 0.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release. This has the important implication that the CaR of the SHR parathyroid may be modified or alternatively, other EC Ca²⁺-sensing receptors may be involved in regulation of PHF release.

Since the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release was shown to be cell density dependent and involved the CaR, we investigated expression of the CaR at different densities in cell culture. The pivotal role of the CaR in regulation of proliferation of parathyroid cells is demonstrated by the parathyroid hyperplasia in pathologies involving

mutations in the CaR, such as familial hypercalcemia hypercalciuria (FHH), neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism (NSHPT) (37), autosomal dominant hypocalcemia (38), as well as by the CaR mouse knockout model (39). In our cell culture model, EC Ca^{2+} first exerted significant effects on the rate of PHF secretion at similar cell densities for both SHR and WKY derived parathyroid cells. This property may be explained by the observation that expression of the CaR is up-regulated under higher cell density culture conditions. At first glance, this is somewhat unexpected since several studies have shown reduced parathyroid expression of the CaR in both primary (40, 41) and secondary hyperparathyroidism (42); conditions which are characterized by parathyroid cell overproliferation. For example, Brown et al concluded that downregulation of the CaR is not related to uremia per se, but to parathyroid proliferation in a study of phosphateinduced hyperparathyroidism concurrent with 5/6 nephrectomy (42). However perhaps the higher cell density/plateau phase of cell growth in our culture model is not represented in the pathological hyperplastic parathyroid tissue. The hyperplasia of hyperparathyroidism is probably more accurately represented by the early, low density phase of our culture system in which CaR expression is continually reduced. This CaR downregulation could account for the lack of the effect of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release during the early parathyroid growth phases of our models.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that secretion of PHF by parathyroid cells derived from both SHR and WKY rats is stimulated by exposure to low EC Ca^{2+} . Furthermore, these effects were shown to be mediated by the CaR and largely dependent on cell density which may at least partially account for the strain differences in the PHF response to EC Ca^{2+} . Taken together, these results provide support for the idea that the

low plasma Ca^{2+} observed in SHR may contribute to the elevated PHF secretion observed in this model.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 4-1-Rapid effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release by subcultured parathyroid cells. For investigation of the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on rate of PHF release/60 minute at various growth stages of SHR (a) and WKY (b) parathyroid cells, cell suspensions in Ham's F12 medium supplemented with 5% FBS were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 0.2×10^4 cells/well (Day 0). At the indicated time points, medium was gently aspirated and replaced with either 0.5 or 1.5 mM Ca2+ Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS (100 µl/well) and incubated for 60 minutes at 37 °C. Aliquots of 50 µl/well were then collected and processed for PHF analysis, media aspirated and replaced with fresh 1.5 mM Ca2+ Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS (100 µl/well) and analyzed for cell viability. Culture medium was replaced every three days with fresh growth medium. Data points represent mean PHF \pm SEM of four experiments with 6 culture wells for each treatment group. The open and filled symbols indicate 0.5 or 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ groups respectively. *Value is significantly different (P < 0.05; t-test) from 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ data point at the indicated time point.



Figure 4-2—Time course for effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release by subcultured parathyroid cells. For investigation of the sub-acute (4-48 hour) effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release, parathyroid cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS were plated at 4 x 10⁵ cells/well in 6-well dishes for 48 hours to allow complete attachment of cells to the substratum. Culture medium was then changed to low (0.5 mM; open symbols) or normal (1.5 mM; filled symbols) Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS and aliquots taken and assayed for PHF by ELISA at the indicated time points. Time courses for PHF secretion in different EC Ca²⁺ conditions are shown for both SHR (a) and WKY (b) parathyroid cells. Data points represent mean PHF \pm SEM of four separate experiments each with 6 culture dishes/treatment group. *Value is significantly different (*P*<0.05; t-test) from 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ data point at the indicated time point.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 4-3—Time course for effect of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release in parathyroid organ culture. Parathyroids were harvested from SHR and WKY rats and placed in 24-well culture plates (two glands from one rat/well) containing either low (0.5 mM; open symbols) or normal (1.5 mM; filled symbols) Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS. Aliquots were taken and assayed for PHF by ELISA at the indicated time points. Time courses for PHF secretion under different EC Ca²⁺ conditions are shown for both SHR (circular symbols) and WKY (triangle symbols) parathyroid cells. Data points represent mean PHF ± SEM of 4 culture wells representing 4 animals for each of the experimental conditions. * Indicates significantly different vs corresponding 1.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ at the indicated time point (P<0.05; one-way ANOVA); ** indicates significantly different vs 0.5 mM EC Ca²⁺ WKY PTG group (P<0.05; one-way ANOVA).





Figure 4-4—CaR protein in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Western blots for CaR were performed on 2.5 μ g whole parathyroid cell extracts for both SHR (S) and WKY (W) parathyroid cells at the same cell density (representing approximately 60-70% confluency) and compared within the same blots. Results shown are of 3 separate experiments.







а

b



Figure 4-6—Effect of parathyroid cell culture density on CaR protein expression. Parathyroid cells derived from both SHR (S) and WKY (W) were seeded at either a low (5 x 10^4 cells/55 x 10 cm culture dish) or high (2.5 x 10^5 cells/55 x 10 cm culture dish) density and allowed to attach for 48 hours in DMEM containing 5% FBS. Cell lysates were then collected after a further 24 hours of growth in 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 and analyzed for CaR protein by Western blotting.



Figure 4-7—Role of the CaR in effects of extracellular Ca²⁺ on PHF release. Parathyroid cells derived from SHR (a) and WKY (b) rats were exposed to PBS containing BSA (1.4 µg/ml) (solid bars) or primary anti-CaR antibody alone (1.4 µg/ml) (hatched bars) or previously pre-absorbed (with control CaR peptide) anti-CaR antibody (unshaded bars) for 60 minutes. Cells were then washed and media replaced with either low (0.5) or normal (1.5) mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS for 60 minutes and samples collected for PHF analysis in ELISA. Results shown indicate the mean PHF ± SEM for 3 separate experiments. * Indicates significantly different from control 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ group (P < 0.05; t-test); # indicates significantly increased vs control 0.5 mM Ca²⁺ group (P < 0.05; t-test); + indicates significantly decreased vs control 0.5 mM Ca²⁺ group with (P < 0.05; t-test).

4.5 REFERENCES

- 1. **Rubin RP** 1970 The role of calcium in the release of neurotransmitter substances and hormones. Pharmacological Reviews 22:389-428
- 2. **Wallace J, Scarpa A** 1982 Regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion in vitro by divalent cations and cellular metabolism. Journal of Biological Chemistry 257:10613-6
- 3. Sherwood LM, Mayer GP, Ramberg CF, Kronfeld DS, Aurbach GD, Potts JT 1968 Regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion: proportional control by calcium, lack of effect of phosphate. Endocrinology 83:1043-51
- 4. **Hamilton JW, Cohn DV** 1969 Studies on the biosynthesis in vitro of parathyroid hormone. I. Synthesis of parathyroid hormone by bovine-parathyroid gland slices and its control by calcium. Journal of Biological Chemistry 244:5421-9
- 5. **Tohme JF, Bilezikian JP, Clemens TL, Silverberg SJ, Shane E, Lindsay R** 1990 Suppression of parathyroid hormone secretion with oral calcium in normal subjects and patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 70:951-6
- 6. Wagner PK, Knuth A, Krause U, Gabbert H, Scharfe T, Rothmund M 1982 An in vitro model for the study of human parathyroid gland tissue: single cell suspensions and monolayer cultures. Research in Experimental Medicine 181:147-54
- 7. Wang Q, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM 1996 Parathyroid cell proliferation in the rat: effect of age and of phosphate administration and recovery. Endocrinology 137:4558-62
- 8. **Naveh-Many T, Rahamimov R, Livni N, Silver J** 1995 Parathyroid cell proliferation in normal and chronic renal failure rats. The effects of calcium, phosphate, and vitamin D. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:1786-93
- 9. **Brown EM** 1991 Extracellular Ca2+ sensing, regulation of parathyroid cell function, and role of Ca2+ and other ions as extracellular (first) messengers. Physiological Reviews 71:371-411
- 10. **Brown EM, Pollak M, Chou YH, Seidman CE, Seidman JG, Hebert SC** 1995 Cloning and functional characterization of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptors from parathyroid and kidney. Bone 17:7S-11S
- 11. **Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH** 1986 Calcium metabolism in essential hypertension: relationship to altered renin system activity. Federation Proceedings 45:2739-45

- 12. **Pang PK, Lewanczuk RZ** 1989 Parathyroid origin of a new circulating hypertensive factor in spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:898-902
- 13. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Expression of parathyroid hypertensive factor in hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients. Blood Pressure 2:22-7
- 14. **Ayachi S** 1979 Increased dietary calcium lowers blood pressure in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental 28:1234-8
- 15. **Berthelot A, Gairard A, Goyault M, Pernot F** 1980 Relation between calcium and cardiovascular reactivity in mineralocorticoid-induced hypertension in the rat. British Journal of Pharmacology 70:301-6
- 16. **Bukoski RD, McCarron DA** 1986 Altered aortic reactivity and lowered blood pressure associated with high calcium intake. American Journal of Physiology 251:H976-83
- 17. **Tabuchi Y, Ogihara T, Hashizume K, Saito H, Kumahara Y** 1986 Hypotensive effect of long-term oral calcium supplementation in elderly patients with essential hypertension. Journal of Clinical Hypertension 2:254-62
- 18. **Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH** 1988 The antihypertensive effects of calcium channel blockade: role of sodium and calcium metabolism. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 12:S114-6
- Pang PK, Shan JJ, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG 1996 Parathyroid hypertensive factor and intracellular calcium regulation. Journal of Hypertension 14:1053-60
- 20. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK** 1991 Purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from plasma of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:6372-6
- 21. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1991 Parathyroid hypertensive factor is present in DOCA-salt but not two-kidney-one-clip hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 4:802-5
- 22. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 The occurrence of parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF) in Dahl rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:758-62
- 23. **Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Laragh JH, Pang PK** 1993 Parathyroid hypertensive factor-like activity in human essential hypertension: relationship to plasma renin activity and dietary salt sensitivity. Journal of Hypertension 11:1235-41
- 24. Shan J, Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1994 Mechanism of the vascular action of parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Cardiovascular

Pharmacology 23:S1-8

- 25. Benishin CG, Labedz T, Guo DD, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Identification and purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from organ culture of parathyroid glands from spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:134-40
- 26. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan JJ, Pang PK** 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion from subcultured spontaneously hypertensive rat parathyroid cells. American Journal of Hypertension 12:1260-3
- 27. Lewanczuk RZ, Chen A, Pang PK 1990 The effects of dietary calcium on blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats may be mediated by parathyroid hypertensive factor. American Journal of Hypertension 3:349-53
- 28. Lin CM, Saito K, Tsujino T, Yokoyama M 1994 Calcium supplementation inhibits the expression of parathyroid hypertensive factor in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 7:201-4
- Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG, Shan J, Pang PK 1994 Clinical aspects of parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology 23:S23-6
- 30. **Krylova SM, Pang PK, Shan J, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** 2000 Quantitative determination of parathyroid hypertensive factor by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. American Journal of Hypertension 13:1173-9
- 31. Yamaguchi T, Olozak I, Chattopadhyay N, et al. 1998 Expression of extracellular calcium (Ca2+o)-sensing receptor in human peripheral blood monocytes. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 246:501-6
- 32. Mithal A, Kifor O, Kifor I, et al. 1995 The reduced responsiveness of cultured bovine parathyroid cells to extracellular Ca2+ is associated with marked reduction in the expression of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein. Endocrinology 136:3087-92
- 33. **Bai M, Trivedi S, Brown EM** 1998 Dimerization of the extracellular calciumsensing receptor (CaR) on the cell surface of CaR-transfected HEK293 cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273:23605-10
- Sakaguchi K, Santora A, Zimering M, Curcio F, Aurbach GD, Brandi ML
 1987 Functional epithelial cell line cloned from rat parathyroid glands.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America
 84:3269-73
- 35. **Brandi ML, Fitzpatrick LA, Coon HG, Aurbach GD** 1986 Bovine parathyroid cells: cultures maintained for more than 140 population doublings. Proceedings of

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 83:1709-13

- 36. **Roussanne MC, Gogusev J, Hory B, et al.** 1998 Persistence of Ca2+-sensing receptor expression in functionally active, long-term human parathyroid cell cultures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 13:354-62
- 37. **Pollak MR, Brown EM, Chou YH, et al.** 1993 Mutations in the human Ca(2+)sensing receptor gene cause familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. Cell 75:1297-303
- 38. **Pollak MR, Brown EM, Estep HL, et al.** 1994 Autosomal dominant hypocalcaemia caused by a Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene mutation. Nature Genetics 8:303-7
- 39. **Ho C, Conner DA, Pollak MR, et al.** 1995 A mouse model of human familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. Nature Genetics 11:389-94
- 40. **Cetani F, Picone A, Cerrai P, et al.** 2000 Parathyroid expression of calciumsensing receptor protein and in vivo parathyroid hormone-Ca(2+) set-point in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. 85:4789-94
- 41. **Ho C, Conner DA, Pollak MR, et al.** 1995 A mouse model of human familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism. 11:389-94
- 42. **Brown AJ, Ritter CS, Finch JL, Slatopolsky EA** 1999 Decreased calciumsensing receptor expression in hyperplastic parathyroid glands of uremic rats: role of dietary phosphate. Kidney International 55:1284-92

Chapter 5

Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by vitamin D3 analogs in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive

rats¹

¹ Portions of this chapter are being submitted to Endocrinology for publication as: Sutherland, S. K., Nemere, I., and C. G. Benishin. Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by vitamin D3 analogs in parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats.

5 EFFECT OF VITAMIN D3 ANALOGS ON PHF SECRETION

5.1 Introduction

The hormonally active form of vitamin D3, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, in concert with PTH, plays a critical role in plasma Ca²⁺ and phosphate homeostasis. Hypocalcemia, directly and indirectly via stimulation of PTH release, stimulates accumulation of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ through activation of kidney 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1 α -hydroxylase (1 α OHase) and hydroxylation of the circulating precursor 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (1-3). $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ functions to increase the pool of available plasma Ca²⁺ by stimulating absorption in the intestine, reabsorption in the kidney, and under low dietary calcium intake conditions, bone remodeling and resorption (1-3). Part of the negative feedback control of this endocrine system occurs in the PTG, where $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ transcriptionally (4) suppresses PTH synthesis, inhibits PTH release, and inhibits parathyroid cell proliferation. In addition to the classical roles of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, there are also many non-calcemic functions. Some of these include antiproliferative and pro-differentiative effects in promyelocyte HL-60 cells (5), keratinocytes (6), and vascular smooth muscle cells (7).

An extensive non-classical role for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has also been defined in the cardiovascular system. Amongst the cardiovascular effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ are positive inotropism in cardiomyocytes (8) and stimulation of L-type Ca²⁺ channel current and increased intracellular Ca²⁺ (9) in vascular smooth muscle cells. Abnormalities in both the cardiovascular function and the plasma levels of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ have implicated a role for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in experimental and human hypertension. Plasma $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has

been shown to be elevated in low-renin and salt-sensitive human hypertension (10) as well as in several rat models of low-renin hypertension (11-13). Furthermore, several studies have shown that chronic $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ administration potentiates induced contractility *in vitro* in vascular tissue (14) and in mesenteric arteries taken from the SHR (15), but not from the genetic control strain, WKY rats. Not surprisingly then, a role for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in blood pressure regulation in hypertension has been suggested (16) and transient effects on systolic blood pressure in male hypertensive patients (but not in normotensives) have been observed (17). However chronic treatment with $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was not shown to exert any significant effect on blood pressure in the SHR (14).

Since $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ does not appear to have chronic effects on blood pressure, it has been suggested that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may modulate other endocrine systems which produce more long-term hypertensive effects. Parathyroid Hypertensive Factor (PHF), a substance of parathyroid origin which may contribute to hypertension by potentiating the intracellular calcium-raising effects of classical vasoconstrictors, was thought to be a potential candidate for regulation by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ (for review see (18)). PHF is elevated in the same subset of hypertensives, i.e. low-renin, salt-sensitive, that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ is found to be elevated (for review see (18)). As the PTG is a known target for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, it was hypothesized that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ would stimulate secretion of PHF.

We report here that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ indeed stimulates PHF release rapidly and subacutely with enhanced sensitivity in parathyroid cells derived from SHR relative to the normotensive control strain. Conversely, the metabolite $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was shown to rapidly and sub-acutely inhibit PHF release with blunted sensitivity in cells derived from SHR. Furthermore, by utilizing the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ -specific agonist analog BT $(1,24(OH)_2)$ -

22-ene-24-cyclopropyl-D₃) which is incapable of inducing the rapid effects of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ observed in some systems (19), we will provide evidence suggesting the rapid effect of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release may be mediated by the newly described 1,25VDR_{mem}.

5.2 Materials & Methods

5.2.1 Materials

Mouse anti-PHF oligoclonal antibody (IgM-3A), standard semi-pure PHF, and PHF-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (PHF-HRP) were prepared as described previously (20). Monoclonal anti-1,25VDR_{nuc} IgG (clone 9A7) was purchased from Affinity Bioreagents Inc. (Golden, CO, USA) and monoclonal anti-Histone H1 IgG (clone AE-4) was purchased from StressGen Biotechnologies Corp. (Victoria, British Columbia, Canada). Anti-1,25VDR_{mem} antisera Ab99 was generated as described previously (21, 22). Vitamin D3 analogs 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 were obtained from Roussell UCLAS and Sigma Aldrich Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO, USA) and 1,24(OH)₂-22-ene-24-cyclopropyl-D₃ (BT) was a generous gift from Leo Pharmaceuticals (Copenhagen, Denmark). All cell culture media were obtained from Gibco/BRL (Burlington, ON). BCA protein assay reagents were obtained from Pierce Chemical Company (Rockford, IL, USA) and acrylamide bis, temed, ammonium persulfate, and kaleidoscope molecular weight standards were all purchased from BioRad (Hercules, CA, USA). Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Immobilon-P) were obtained from Millipore (Bedford, MA, USA) and enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection reagents for Western blot analysis were obtained from Amersham (Arlington Heights, IL, USA). WST-1 cell proliferation reagent was obtained from Roche Molecular Biochemicals (Mannheim, Germany). All other chemicals were purchased from either Sigma/Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) or Fisher chemicals (Fairlawn, NJ, USA). SHR and WKY rats were obtained from Charles River (St. Constant, Quebec, Canada).

5.2.2 PHF Secretion in Response to Vitamin D3 Analogs

For investigation of the effects of different vitamin D3 analogs on PHF secretion, both parathyroid cell and organ culture models were employed. Parathyroid cell suspensions in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS were obtained as previously described (23), seeded in 96-well plates for approximately 48 hours to achieve a final cell density of 1.0×10^4 cells/well. Fresh solutions of vitamin D3 analogs were prepared in ethanol, followed by dilution in culture medium (Ham's F12 adjusted to 1.5 mM Ca^{2+} and supplemented with 5% FBS) so that the final concentration of ethanol was less than 0.05% (v/v). Media were then gently aspirated and replaced with media containing vitamin D3 analog or vehicle alone and incubated for either 30 minutes or 48 hours at 37 C. Aliquots of 20-50 µl/well were then collected and processed for PHF analysis as previously described (24), media aspirated and replaced with phenol red-free fresh culture medium (100 µl/well) and analyzed for cell viability as described below. For experiments involving parathyroid organ culture, glands were isolated from SHR and WKY rats as described previously (23) and placed in 24-well culture dishes (2 glands/well) containing 250 µl/well culture medium containing

1,25-(OH)₂D₃ prepared as described above. Aliquots of 10 μ l were removed at various time points for PHF detection (24). Use of animals was according to CCAC guidelines, and reviewed and approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee.

5.2.3 Sub-cellular Fractionation and Western Blots for 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein

Parathyroid cells cultured in 150 x 10 mm tissue culture dishes were washed twice with Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) and 400 μ l of a lysis buffer (15 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 2 mM PMSF, 2 µg/ml pepstatin, 2 µg/ml leupeptin, pH 7.4) was added. For whole cell extracts, the lysis buffer also contained 0.5 % NP-40 and the cell lysate was harvested and frozen at -70 C. To obtain sub-cellular fractions, cell lysate was homogenized and sonicated for 5 minutes, then nuclei and cell debris were pelleted by centrifugation at 750 x g for 5 minutes and reconstituted with lysis buffer containing 0.5% NP-40 after the supernatant was collected. The supernatant was ultracentrifuged for 30 minutes at 100 000 x g and 4 C and the resulting supernatant representing the cytosolic fraction was decanted and the plasma membrane pellet washed two times with PBS and solubilized with lysis buffer containing 0.5% NP-40. Aliquots of all three sub-cellular fractions were frozen at -70 C until Western blot analysis. Protein content of the samples was measured using the BCA protein assay (Pierce) and samples were diluted in reducing treatment sample buffer and separated on 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gels as previously described by Laemmli (25). Proteins were transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane by electroblotting at

75 V for 1.5 hours in transfer buffer (19 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM glycine, 20% methanol) and immunodetection of specific bands carried out according to the Western blotting protocol supplied by Millipore with the PVDF membranes. Primary antibody concentrations were 1:1000 for rabbit anti-1,25VDR_{mem} IgG (Ab99), 1:1000 for rat anti-1,25VDR_{nuc} IgG (9A7), or 1:500 mouse anti-histone H1 (AE-4). All appropriate secondary antibodies were used at a dilution of 1:2000 and specific proteins were visualized using the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection system.

5.2.4 Statistical Analysis

ELISA standard curves and unknown values were determined using the Microplate Manager/PC software (BioRad Laboratories). Results are expressed as the mean \pm SEM and statistical evaluation for differences between treatment groups was performed using either one-way ANOVA (Student-Newman-Keuls test) unless indicated otherwise. P <0.05 was taken to be significant.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF Secretion

The rapid and sub-acute effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release from cultured parathyroid cells are shown in Figure 5-1. Exposure to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ for 30 minutes resulted in a dose-dependent stimulation of PHF release from parathyroid cells derived from both SHR (Fig. 5-1a) and WKY (Fig. 5-1b) rats. The dose-response curves followed a sigmoidal pattern and the SHR parathyroid cells displayed increased sensitivity to 1,25 $(OH)_2D_3$ as indicated by the lower EC50 (1.52 x 10⁻⁸ M versus 9.64 x 10⁻⁸ M for WKY) and the leftward shift of the dose-response curve. Extension of the incubation time to 48 hours resulted in maintained dose-dependent stimulation of PHF secretion by 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$, although there was no difference in the sensitivity between strains as both SHR (Fig. 5-1c) and WKY (Fig. 5-1d) dose response curves yielded similar EC50s (SHR PTC: 1.14 x 10⁻⁷ M versus WKY PTC: 1.04 x 10⁻⁷ M for WKY).

Figure 5-2 shows the effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release from intact PTG organ culture. $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ stimulated PHF secretion from SHR and WKY PTG in a similar manner as for cultured parathyroid cells. PTG were rapidly stimulated by 1 μ M $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ to secrete PHF after 4 hours exposure for both SHR and WKY PTG cultures (Fig. 5-2a). However after 48 hours, although mean PHF was increased, 1 μ M $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ did not significantly stimulate PHF release for SHR and WKY PTG cultures (Fig. 5-2b).

Taken together, these results indicate that $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ rapidly and sub-acutely stimulates PHF release from parathyroid cells and that sensitivity is enhanced in parathyroid cells derived from SHR animals.

5.3.2 Effect of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF Secretion

To determine whether effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release were vitamin D3 analog specific, the effect of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on basal PHF secretion was examined. In contrast to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, exposure to $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ for 30 minutes resulted in a dosedependent inhibition of basal PHF release from parathyroid cells derived from both SHR (Fig. 5-3a) and WKY (Fig. 5-3b) rats. The SHR PTC dose-response curve followed a
sigmoidal pattern with an IC50 of 5.06×10^{-9} M, however the WKY PTC dose-response curve revealed an unusual logarithmic relationship between $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ concentration and PHF secretion which indicated increased sensitivity to $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ relative to the SHR PTC. Extension of the incubation time to 48 hours resulted in maintained dosedependent inhibition of PHF secretion by $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$, although at this point, the doseresponse curve for SHR PTC (Fig. 5-3c) displayed the unusual logarithmic pattern and the WKY PTC (Fig. 5-3d) dose response curve followed the expected sigmoidal pattern and yielded an IC50 of 4.70×10^{-10} M.

Taken together, these results indicate that $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ rapidly and sub-acutely inhibits basal PHF release from parathyroid cells and that sensitivity may be decreased in parathyroid cells derived from SHR animals.

5.3.3 VDR protein expression

Because parathyroid cells derived from either SHR or WKY rats displayed differential regulation of PHF release by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, we examined the parathyroid expression of the classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ as well as the putative $1,25VDR_{mem}$. Figure 5-4a shows $1,25VDR_{mem}$ protein expression, indicated by a single band at approximately 66 kDa, is enhanced in sub-cultured SHR parathyroid cells versus cells derived from the normotensive strain, WKY. However, WKY parathyroid cells were shown to have slightly increased or equivalent levels of $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ protein versus SHR parathyroid cells (Figure 5-4b). Further characterization of the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ in SHR and WKY PTC according to sub-cellular localization is shown in Figure 5-5a. The $1,25VDR_{mem}$ seemed to represent a similar proportion of total protein in nuclear, cytosolic, and plasma

membrane fractions prepared from whole parathyroid cell lysates for both SHR and WKY PTC except for a reduction in band intensity for the plasma membrane fraction of WKY PTC. Figure 5-5b shows that the sub-cellular distribution of the nuclear marker, Histone H1, is nuclear and cytosolic indicating the plasma membrane fraction is largely free of nuclear protein contaminants.

Earlier studies have reported that the Ab99 does not cross-react with recombinant $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ (26). We have confirmed this observation by running duplicate samples and purified $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ on 8% SDS-PAGE gels and Western blotting half of the blot with anti- $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ (9A7) and the other to anti- $1,25VDR_{mem}$ (Ab99). The result is shown in Figure 5-6. Antibody 9A7 was shown to recognize two bands, one at approximately 66 kDa and another at the expected MW of 53 kDa. Probing with the anti- $1,25VDR_{mem}$ antisera resulted in only a 66 kDa visible band. Excess pure recombinant $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ was not recognized by Ab99. These data suggest that the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ and $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ are of different molecular weights and that Ab99 recognizes an epitope of the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ which is either not present or is masked in the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$.

5.3.4 Role of the VDRs in mediating the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF Secretion

To examine the extent of involvement of the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ and classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ in mediating the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release, the vitamin D3 analog $1,24(OH)_2$ -22-ene-24-cyclopropyl-D₃ (BT) was used. This vitamin D3 analog has high affinity for the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$, but was shown to be ineffective in stimulating a variety of rapid, non-genomic effects in other systems (19). Exposure of SHR and WKY PTC to

100 nM BT had no effect on PHF release after either 30 minutes (Fig. 5-7a) or 48 hours (Figure 5-7b) in culture. These results strongly suggest that the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ is not involved in mediating the rapid and sub-acute effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF secretion from SHR or WKY parathyroid cells.

5.4 Discussion

In this study, the role of different vitamin D3 analogs in regulation of secretion of PHF from both physiological and pathological parathyroid tissue was examined. 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ was considered an obvious candidate hypothesized to directly stimulate PHF secretion based on the plasma profile of elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and PHF in low-renin hypertension, and the classical role of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in regulation of the PTG. In addition, parathyroid cells derived from the hypertensive model, SHR, were predicted to display enhanced sensitivity to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$. This study characterized the rapid and subacute stimulatory effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and inhibitory effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release and revealed that SHR parathyroid cells displayed enhanced sensitivity to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and reduced sensitivity to 24,25-(OH)₂D₃. This is also the first demonstration of the parathyroid expression of the newly described 1,25VDR_{mem}. Furthermore, PHF secretion studies using the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} agonist BT revealed that the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ was not likely to be mediating the stimulatory effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF release, leaving open the possibility of the 1,25VDR_{mem} mediating these rapid effects in the parathyroid. These data support the idea that vitamin D3 metabolites and altered sensitivity to them with respect to PHF secretion contributes to the elevated

PHF status of the SHR.

The original focus of this work was to examine and characterize the potential role of the biologically active vitamin D3 metabolite, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, in regulation of PHF release. Both parathyroid cultured cells and intact glands were more responsive to rapid regulation, as opposed to sub-acute regulation, of PHF secretion by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$. In SHR parathyroid cell cultures, enhanced sensitivity to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ was observed at 30 minutes versus the 48 hour time point suggesting that the primary effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release occurs rapidly and that the lingering effects of this rapid release are maintained by 48 hours. Conversely, sensitivity to inhibition of PHF release by 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ was unchanged in 30 minutes versus 48 hours for SHR parathyroid cells; however, WKY parathyroid cells displayed increased sensitivity after 30 minutes versus 48 hours exposure to $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$. Similar results were observed for parathyroid organ cultures with significant effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ after 4, but not 48 hours. Other regulators such as EC Ca^{2+} (24) have also been shown to exert only rapid effects on PHF release which suggests that PHF may be stored, and that regulation of release largely occurs post-transcriptionally through modulation of the secretory pathway rather than by altering PHF synthesis.

Rapid effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (and other steroids) have been described in many systems and cancerous cell lines and is reviewed elsewhere (27). In parathyroid cells, rapid responses to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ such as increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ (28) and phospholipid metabolism (29) have been described. It is possible that these effects may be mediated by the classical nuclear vitamin D3 receptor, which is expressed in PTG (30, 31) and maintained in sub-cultured parathyroid cells (32). However, it is more likely that the

putative 1,25VDR_{mem}, which has been shown to mediate other rapid effects of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ such as stimulation of PKC and antiproliferative effects in growth zone chondrocytes (21, 33), is involved. The effects of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ on parathyroid cytosolic Ca^{2+} were insensitive to either diltiazem or verapamil which led the authors to conclude that 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ may be affecting Ca^{2+} entry through direct interaction with the cell plasma membrane and not through modulation of voltage-sensitive Ca^{2+} channels (28). This suggests that a receptor-operated Ca^{2+} channel, possibly involving the 1,25VDR_{mem}, may be involved in mediating the rapid 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ -induced Ca^{2+} entry.

To eliminate the possibility that the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ is involved in regulation of PHF secretion, we employed the vitamin D3 analog BT, a classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ agonist which is incapable of exerting the rapid effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ observed in some systems (19). It is not known if BT can bind the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ or act as an agonist for this receptor, however the lack of effect of BT on PHF release suggests a $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ -independent mechanism of action for $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ regulation of PHF secretion. This leaves open the possibility of the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ for transduction of these rapid effects.

Parathyroid cells derived from SHR appeared to display increased sensitivity to stimulation of PHF secretion by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ after 30 minutes versus cells derived from the normotensive WKY strain. There are several possible explanations for either differences in maximal response or sensitivity to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ between the strains with respect to PHF release. Enhanced sensitivity in SHR parathyroid cell cultures may indicate altered post-vitamin D3 receptor signal transduction pathways. Western blot analysis showed increased $1,25VDR_{mem}$ in SHR parathyroid cells compared to WKY, but no differences or even slightly decreased expression of the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ protein. This may

account for the increased PHF secretory response to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in SHR parathyroid cells if the 1,25VDR_{mem} in fact mediates the stimulatory effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF release. If this expression pattern is also observed *in vivo* this could at least partly account for the elevated plasma PHF observed in SHR. Earlier 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ binding studies showed increased maximal specific binding capacity for calcitriol in SHR parathyroid tissue suggesting increased receptor expression (34). Since we have shown that expression of the 1,25VDR_{nuc} is unchanged between strains or slightly reduced for SHR parathyroid cells, it is likely that the enhanced binding they observed was due to the 1,25VDR_{mem}. A second explanation for enhanced sensitivity to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ in the SHR parathyroid may be due to a prolonged half-life due to either alterations in $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ release from vitamin D3 binding proteins or decreased activity of cytochrome P450 hydroxylases which are known to metabolically inactivate free $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in parathyroid cells (32). A final possibility is that alterations in the calcitriol receptor involved in mediating these effects or the downstream signaling pathways, if the effects are indeed receptor-mediated, may be responsible for enhanced sensitivity of SHR parathyroid tissue to $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$.

The observation that the 1,25VDR_{mem}, but not the 1,25VDR_{nuc} was differentially expressed in the SHR versus WKY parathyroid led us to investigate some of the characteristics of the 1,25VDR_{mem} protein. Western blotting analysis indicated that the 1,25VDR_{mem} is slighter larger than the 1,25VDR_{nuc} (66 kDa versus 53 kDa). Furthermore, as previously reported (26, 33), anti-1,25VDR_{mem} antisera does not crossreact with excess pure 1,25VDR_{nuc} indicating the antibody recognizes an epitope not present or possibly not exposed in the native 1,25VDR_{nuc}. This may mean that the

1,25VDR_{mem} is a novel protein unrelated to the 1,25VDR_{nuc} and arises from a distinct gene, or that it is a modified 1,25VDR_{nuc} or alternative splicing product from the 1,25VDR_{nuc} gene which contains a sequence not found or not conformationally exposed in the 1,25VDR_{nuc}. However, the anti-1,25VDR_{nuc} antibody recognizes a protein of approximately the same molecular weight as the 1,25VDR_{mem} in parathyroid extracts suggesting that the 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc} may be related. The parathyroid subcellular distribution of the 1,25VDR_{mem} was also briefly investigated. In chick enterocytes, Nemere et al found predominant localization of the 1,25VDR_{mem} in basolateral membranes, followed by endoplasmic reticulum (26), however, we observed roughly equal proportions of the 1,25VDR_{mem}/total protein in crude nuclear, cytosolic, and cell plasma membrane preparations. This may indicate different stages of receptor processing or may be related to our method of purification. This method allowed for any unlysed cells and cell debris to be pelleted and included with the nuclear fraction and cytosolic fractions were also found to contain a significant amount of nuclear-derived protein. However, the cell plasma membrane fraction was found to be free of nuclearderived protein (histone H1). Therefore 1,25VDR_{mem} detected in this fraction likely originated in the cell plasma membrane.

In this study, we also found that $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has rapid effects on PHF secretion from both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Unlike $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, the effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release were inhibitory. Opposing effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ and $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ have often been described for several tissues where these steroids have been found to exert rapid effects (35, 36). It is not known whether the effects of $24,25-(OH)_2D_3$ (OH)_2D_3 on PHF release observed here are receptor-mediated, but a novel membrane

receptor for 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ (24,25VDR_{mem}) distinct from the 1,25VDR_{mem} (37), has been identified and characterized in chondrocytes (33, 37), osteoblasts (37), and enterocytes (38). To our knowledge, a specific antibody to this receptor is not yet available but it will be interesting to examine expression of this putative receptor in the parathyroid of both SHR and WKY rats. It is also possible that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ exerts its effects via a calcitriol receptor or that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ acts through a non-receptor-mediated pathway perhaps by altering membrane composition or signaling via lipid rafts.

The dose-response curves for regulation of PHF secretion by 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ exhibited some irregular features. After 30 minutes exposure, the dose-response curve for WKY, but not SHR, parathyroid cells displayed an unusual non-sigmoidal logarithmic pattern, whereas after 48 hours, SHR, but not WKY parathyroid cells responded in this unusual manner. This may indicate the involvement of multiple receptors such as those mentioned above. These receptors may be differentially expressed between strains and/or may have temporal component to their expression patterns. It is possible that high concentrations of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ can activate the 1,25VDR_{mem} resulting in stimulation of PHF release. Combined inhibitory and stimulatory effects in response to high concentrations of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ could account for the absence of a plateau in this concentration range. Alternatively, 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ may modulate autocrine/paracrine regulators of PHF release resulting in a non-classical dose-response curve. A third, but less likely, possibility is that 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ is converted to 1,24,25-(OH)₃D₃ by parathyroid cytochrome P450 hydroxylases and this metabolite can modulate PHF secretion.

The regulation of PHF release by vitamin D3 metabolites and the abnormalities in

parathyroid sensitivity to these metabolites in the SHR may play a significant role in the etiology of hypertension in this strain, and the findings may possibly extend to low-renin hypertension. When hypertensive patients are classified according to plasma renin activity, the low-renin subset (representing approximately 30-40% of essential hypertension) exhibits, concurrent with elevated PHF, a plasma calcium deficit accompanied by appropriate shifting of the calcium-regulating hormones resulting in increased plasma PTH, elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, and suppressed calcitonin (39). In the Dahl-salt sensitive rat (12), elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ precedes the onset of hypertension. In the SHR, a model of hypertension which has been reported to exhibit low plasma renin activity (40), the 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ status appears to depend on a variety of factors (41). Nonetheless, there have been several reports of elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ coincident with (42) or preceding the development of hypertension (42, 43); although there appears to be an age-related decline in 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (44). Taken together, these findings suggest that vitamin D3 metabolites and altered sensitivity to them in the PTG may play a key role in the development of hypertension in the SHR through abnormal regulation of PHF release.



Figure 5-1—Effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF secretion from sub-cultured parathyroid cells. For investigation of the effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on cumulative PHF release after 30 minutes (a, b) and 48 hours (c,d), parathyroid cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of approximately 1 x 10⁴ cells/well. After a 48 hour attachment period, media were replaced with 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS containing the indicated concentrations of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ or ethanol vehicle (control) and incubated for 30 minutes or 48 hours at 37 °C. Aliquots were then collected and processed for PHF analysis, media aspirated and replaced with fresh 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS and analyzed for cell viability. Results shown are for SHR (a, c) and WKY (b, d) parathyroid cells and are presented as the mean ± SEM of 3 experiments with at least 6 replicate wells per treatment group for each experiment.







Figure 5-3— Effect of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF secretion from sub-cultured parathyroid cells. For investigation of the effect of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ on cumulative PHF release after 30 minutes (a, b) and 48 hours (c, d), SHR (a, c) and WKY (b, d) parathyroid cell suspensions in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of approximately 1 x 10⁴ cells/well. After a 48 hour attachment period, media were replaced with 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 supplemented with 5% FBS containing the indicated concentrations of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ or ethanol vehicle (control) and incubated for 30 minutes or 48 hours at 37 °C. Aliquots were then collected and processed for PHF analysis, media aspirated and replaced with fresh 1.5 mM Ca²⁺ Ham's F12 medium + 5% FBS (100 µl/well) and analyzed for cell viability. Results shown are presented as the mean ± SEM of 3 experiments with at least 6 replicate wells per treatment group for each experiment.



Figure 5-4—1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Western blots for the 1,25VDR_{mem} (a) and 1,25VDR_{nuc} (b) were performed on 1.25 μ g of whole parathyroid cell extracts for both SHR (S) and WKY (W) parathyroid cells and positive (+) control purified recombinant 1,25VDR_{nuc} (10 ng) electrophoresed by SDS-PAGE on 10% gels. Result shown is a representative blot of 3 identical experiments yielding similar results.



Figure 5-5—Sub-cellular distribution of the 1,25VDR_{mem} in parathyroid cells. Cells were seeded at an intermediate density and allowed to attach for 48 hours DMEM containing 5% FBS (until approximately 60-70% confluent) before cell lysates were obtained and subjected to sub-cellular fractionation. Shown are nuclear (Nuc), cytosolic (Cyto) and cell plasma membrane (PM) fractions (3 μ g/lane) derived from SHR (S) and WKY (W) parathyroid cells which have been analyzed for either 1,25VDR_{mem} protein (Fig. 5a) or the nuclear marker, histone H1 (Fig. 5b), by Western blotting. Results shown are representative blots of 3 identical experiments yielding similar results.

а



Figure 5-6—Comparison of the 1,25VDR_{mem} and 1,25VDR_{nuc}. Parathyroid cells derived from both SHR (S) and WKY (W) were seeded at either at an intermediate density and allowed to attach for 48 hours in DMEM containing 5% FBS under approximately 60-70% confluent. Cell lysates were then collected and run on the same gel (1.25 μ g), along with positive (+) control purified recombinant 1,25VDR_{nuc} (10 ng) in duplicate and one half of the gel analyzed for 1,25VDR_{mem} protein and the other half for 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein by Western blotting. Result shown is a representative blot of 3 identical experiments yielding similar results.



Figure 5-7—Role of the 1,25VDR_{nuc} in mediating effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF release. Parathyroid cells derived from SHR (unshaded bars) and WKY (solid bars) rats were exposed to 100 nM 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3), 100 nM analog BT (BT), or ethanol vehicle alone (control) for 30 minutes (a) or 48 hours (b) and media samples collected for PHF analysis in ELISA. Results shown indicate the mean PHF \pm SEM for 3 separate experiments. * Indicates significantly different from the control group for the same rat strain (P < 0.05; t-test).

5.5 REFERENCES

- 1. **DeLuca HF** 1974 Vitamin D: the vitamin and the hormone. Federation Proceedings 33:2211-9
- 2. **DeLuca HF** 1979 The vitamin D system in the regulation of calcium and phosphorus metabolism. Nutrition Reviews 37:161-93
- 3. **DeLuca HF** 1988 The vitamin D story: a collaborative effort of basic science and clinical medicine. FASEB Journal 2:224-36
- 4. **Demay MB, Kiernan MS, DeLuca HF, Kronenberg HM** 1992 Sequences in the human parathyroid hormone gene that bind the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and mediate transcriptional repression in response to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89:8097-101
- 5. **Tanaka H, Abe E, Miyaura C, et al.** 1982 1 alpha,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol and a human myeloid leukaemia cell line (HL-60). Biochemical Journal 204:713-9
- 6. **Hosomi J, Hosoi J, Abe E, Suda T, Kuroki T** 1983 Regulation of terminal differentiation of cultured mouse epidermal cells by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Endocrinology 113:1950-7
- 7. **Dokoh S, Donaldson CA, Marion SL, Pike JW, Haussler MR** 1983 The ovary: a target organ for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Endocrinology 112:200-6
- 8. Jahn H, Schohn D, Omichi A, Miller R 1991 Effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 on cardiovascular function. Contributions to Nephrology 90:79-87
- 9. Shan J, Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Karpinski E, Li B, Pang PK 1993 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D as a cardiovascular hormone. Effects on calcium current and cytosolic free calcium in vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Hypertens 6:983-8
- 10. **Resnick LM** 1986 Alterations of dietary calcium intake as a therapeutic modality in essential hypertension. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 64:803-7
- 11. **DiPette DJ, Greilich PE, Nickols GA, et al.** 1990 Effect of dietary calcium supplementation on blood pressure and calciotropic hormones in mineralocorticoid-salt hypertension. J Hypertens 8:515-20
- 12. Kotchen TA, Ott CE, Whitescarver SA, Resnick LM, Gertner JM, Blehschmidt NG 1990 Calcium, parathyroid hormone, and vitamin D in the "prehypertensive" Dahl salt-sensitive rat. Am J Hypertens 3:167S-170S
- 13. Wu X, Vieth R, Milojevic S, Sonnenberg H, Melo LG 2000 Regulation of sodium, calcium and vitamin D metabolism in Dahl rats on a high-salt/low-

potassium diet: genetic and neural influences. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 27:378-83

- 14. **Hatton DC, Xue H, DeMerritt JA, McCarron DA** 1994 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3induced alterations in vascular reactivity in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Am J Med Sci 307 Suppl 1:S154-8
- 15. **Bukoski RD, DeWan P, McCarron DA** 1989 1,25 (OH)2 vitamin D3 modifies growth and contractile function of vascular smooth muscle of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Hypertens 2:553-6
- 16. **Tabuchi Y, Ogihara T, Hashizume K, Saito H, Kumahara Y** 1986 Hypotensive effect of long-term oral calcium supplementation in elderly patients with essential hypertension. J Clin Hypertens 2:254-62
- 17. Jespersen B, Randlov A, Abrahamsen J, Fogh-Andersen N, Olsen NV, Kanstrup IL 1998 Acute cardiovascular effect of 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol in essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens 11:659-66
- Pang PK, Shan JJ, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG 1996 Parathyroid hypertensive factor and intracellular calcium regulation. Journal of Hypertension 14:1053-60
- 19. Farach-Carson MC, Sergeev I, Norman AW 1991 Nongenomic actions of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in rat osteosarcoma cells: structure-function studies using ligand analogs. Endocrinology 129:1876-84
- 20. Krylova SM, Pang PK, Shan J, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG 2000 Quantitative determination of parathyroid hypertensive factor by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. American Journal of Hypertension 13:1173-9
- 21. Nemere I, Schwartz Z, Pedrozo H, Sylvia VL, Dean DD, Boyan BD 1998 Identification of a membrane receptor for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 which mediates rapid activation of protein kinase C. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 13:1353-9
- 22. Nemere I, Dormanen MC, Hammond MW, Okamura WH, Norman AW 1994 Identification of a specific binding protein for 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in basal-lateral membranes of chick intestinal epithelium and relationship to transcaltachia. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269:23750-6
- 23. Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Shan JJ, Pang PK 1999 Parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion from subcultured spontaneously hypertensive rat parathyroid cells. American Journal of Hypertension 12:1260-3
- 24. **Sutherland SK, Benishin CG** 2002 Regulation of parathyroid hypertensive factor secretion by extracellular Ca2+ by parathyroid cells derived from spontaneously

hypertensive rats. submitted

- 25. **Laemmli UK** 1970 Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680-5
- 26. Nemere I, Ray R, McManus W 2000 Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1, 25(OH)(2)D(3). I. Chick intestine. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology & Metabolism 278:E1104-14
- 27. Norman AW 1998 Receptors for 1alpha,25(OH)2D3: past, present, and future. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 13:1360-9
- 28. **Sugimoto T, Ritter C, Ried I, Morrissey J, Slatopolsky E** 1988 Effect of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 on cytosolic calcium in dispersed parathyroid cells. Kidney International 33:850-4
- 29. **Bourdeau A, Atmani F, Grosse B, Lieberherr M** 1990 Rapid effects of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 and extracellular Ca2+ on phospholipid metabolism in dispersed porcine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 127:2738-43
- Henry HL, Norman AW 1975 Studies on the mechanism of action of calciferol VII. Localization of 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3 in chick parathyroid glands. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 62:781-8
- 31. **Hughes MR, Haussler MR** 1978 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors in parathyroid glands. Preliminary characterization of cytoplasmic and nuclear binding components. Journal of Biological Chemistry 253:1065-73
- 32. **Brown AJ, Berkoben M, Ritter CS, Slatopolsky E** 1992 Binding and metabolism of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in cultured bovine parathyroid cells. Endocrinology 130:276-81
- 33. **Pedrozo HA, Schwartz Z, Rimes S, et al.** 1999 Physiological importance of the 1,25(OH)2D3 membrane receptor and evidence for a membrane receptor specific for 24,25(OH)2D3. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 14:856-67
- 34. Merke J, Lucas PA, Szabo A, et al. 1989 Hyperparathyroidism and abnormal calcitriol metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension 13:233-42
- 35. **Shan JJ, Li B, Taniguchi N, Pang PK** 1996 Inhibition of membrane L-type calcium channel activity and intracellular calcium concentration by 24R, 25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in vascular smooth muscle. Steroids 61:657-63
- 36. **Khoury RS, Weber J, Farach-Carson MC** 1995 Vitamin D metabolites modulate osteoblast activity by Ca+2 influx-independent genomic and Ca+2 influx-dependent nongenomic pathways. Journal of Nutrition 125:1699S-1703S

- 37. **Boyan BD, Bonewald LF, Sylvia VL, et al.** 2002 Evidence for distinct membrane receptors for 1 alpha,25-(OH)(2)D(3) and 24R,25-(OH)(2)D(3) in osteoblasts. Steroids. 67:235-46
- 38. Nemere I, Yazzie-Atkinson D, Johns DO, Larsson D 2002 Biochemical characterization and purification of a binding protein for 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 from chick intestine. Journal of Endocrinology. 172:211-9
- Resnick LM, Nicholson JP, Laragh JH 1986 Calcium metabolism in essential hypertension: relationship to altered renin system activity. Federation Proceedings 45:2739-45
- 40. Lewanczuk RZ 1992 Evidence for a parathyroid-dependent circulating hypertensive factor and its role in essential hypertension Medical Sciences (Medicine). University of Alberta, Edmonton, p 188
- 41. Schedl HP, Wilson HD, Horst RL 1988 Calcium transport and vitamin D in three breeds of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 12:310-6
- 42. **Kawashima H, Sokabe H** 1986 Altered vitamin D metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Hypertens Suppl 4:S287-9
- 43. Lau K, Langman CB, Gafter U, Dudeja PK, Brasitus TA 1986 Increased calcium absorption in prehypertensive spontaneously hypertensive rat. Role of serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 levels and intestinal brush border membrane fluidity. J Clin Invest 78:1083-90
- 44. **Bourgouin P, Lucas P, Roullet C, et al.** 1990 Developmental changes of Ca2+, PO4, and calcitriol metabolism in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 259:F104-10

Chapter 6

Discussion

6 **DISCUSSION**

6.1 Summary

The focus of this work has been on the factors which contribute to regulation of PHF secretion in normotensive and hypertensive animal models. These include indirect factors such as parathyroid cell number, and direct regulators of PHF secretion such as EC Ca²⁺ and vitamin D3 metabolites. The experimental system used consisted of parathyroid cell and organ cultures derived from the hypertensive model, SHR, and the normotensive genetic control strain, WKY rats. Parathyroid cell cultures were found to be an adequate system as both SHR and WKY parathyroid cell cultures retained the ability to secrete PHF and displayed consistent growth properties over several passages. A model of the regulation of PHF secretion by vitamin D3 metabolites and EC Ca²⁺ in both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells is presented in Figure 6-1.

Cell growth and death properties and regulation thereof by EC Ca²⁺ and vitamin D3 metabolites were investigated in parathyroid cell cultures derived from SHR and WKY rats. Parathyroid cells derived from SHR animals may exhibit increased activity of the mitochondrial enzymes involved in cellular respiration, suggested by enhanced metabolism of the dye WST-1, and an increased proliferation rate relative to WKY parathyroid cells. The differences between the two strains in the responses of the parathyroid cells to regulators such as EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ appeared to be related to the different rates of proliferation or cell densities in culture. EC Ca²⁺ was shown to enhance parathyroid cell death at high cell densities. The role of the CaR in mediating this effect was not investigated; however, it is interesting to note that CaR protein

expression was increased with increasing cell density in culture for both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Conversely, the biologically active vitamin D3 metabolite, 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$, enhanced parathyroid cell viability and did so in a manner that suggested that 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ slowed the progression to high cell density-induced death by inhibiting proliferation in growing populations. Furthermore, the 1,25VDR_{nuc} agonist, BT, was also equally capable of enhancing parathyroid cell viability suggesting that modulation of parathyroid cell proliferation occurred in a 1,25VDR_{nuc}-dependent manner.

PHF synthesis and secretion was also examined in both SHR and WKY parathyroid cell and organ cultures. Previous studies which utilized the blood pressure bioassay for PHF detection were unable to detect PHF production in WKY parathyroid cultures. However, the recent development of polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies to PHF (1, 2) has allowed immunochemical techniques for measurement of PHF synthesis/storage and secretion to be developed. Immunocytochemistry and ELISA of PHF showed that SHR parathyroid cells synthesized and secreted more PHF than WKY parathyroid cells under basal conditions.

Studies examining the effect of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF release confirmed the direct inhibitory effect of EC Ca^{2+} on PHF secretion suggested by previous work in the lab (3). Although the effect of EC Ca^{2+} was greatly reduced in parathyroid cell versus organ cultures, the cell culture system was deemed an adequate model for studying PHF secretion dynamics. This conclusion is based on similar observations in PHF secretory dynamics for both parathyroid cell and organ cultures. An example of a property which is exhibited by both cell and organ cultures is the suppression of PHF release by EC Ca^{2+} only at acute exposure time points. The development of a cell culture system for studying

PHF secretion is important as it vastly simplifies experimental design, in addition to reducing cost and time requirements. Utilizing parathyroid cell cultures, significant inhibition of PHF release by EC Ca²⁺ was seen only at cell densities greater than approximately 2 x 10⁴ cells/well for both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. This may have been related to the upregulation of the CaR under high density culture conditions mentioned above, since the effect of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release appeared to be mediated by the CaR. The results obtained also suggested the possibility of two distinct post-CaR signaling pathways, one mediating a specific stimulatory signal from low EC Ca²⁺, the other mediating an inhibitory signal from high EC Ca²⁺. SHR parathyroid tissue appeared to be more sensitive to the stimulatory signal from low EC Ca²⁺, possibly related to increased CaR protein observed in these cells. Interestingly, exposure to low EC Ca²⁺ for 48 hours resulted in decreased levels of CaR protein, although the significance of this result is not clear.

The effect of different vitamin D3 metabolites on PHF release was also examined. The biologically active metabolite, 1,25-(OH)₂D₃, stimulated PHF release in a dosedependent manner with enhanced sensitivity in parathyroid cells derived from SHR animals observed at rapid time points (30 minutes) as evidenced by a shift in the EC50 to the left, but not at sub-acute time points (48 hours). In contrast, 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ inhibited PHF release, again in a dose-dependent manner, but with decreased sensitivity in SHR parathyroid cells at rapid time points. Both metabolites appeared to be more active at rapid versus sub-acute time points. Since rapid effects of vitamin D3 metabolites were observed, parathyroid expression of the newly described 1,25memVDR was examined. This receptor was recently characterized in both chick intestine (4) and rat chondrocytes and has been found to mediate some of the rapid, non-genomic effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in these tissues (5, 6). Here, we report for the first time expression of the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ in parathyroid cells. In addition, we show that the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ is elevated in SHR parathyroid cells. In contrast, there was no significant difference in parathyroid expression of the classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ between strains. Furthermore, the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ did not appear to be mediating the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release as suggested by the absence of effects of the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ agonist, vitamin D3 analog BT.

This study confirms several aspects of the hypothesis presented in section 1.6. Parathyroid cells derived from SHR were hypothesized to exhibit several cellular features consistent with the hyperplastic parathyroid of hyperparathyroidism and to secrete more PHF than WKY parathyroid cells. SHR parathyroid cells were indeed found to have abnormal cellular features, such as an increased proliferation rate and growth to a higher plateau density in cell culture. In addition, SHR parathyroid cells were shown to synthesize and secrete PHF to a greater extent than WKY parathyroid cells. Furthermore, release of PHF was hypothesized to be inhibited by EC Ca^{2+} and stimulated by 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and the SHR PTG predicted to display increased sensitivity to stimulation by low EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ due to differential expression of the key receptors, CaR, $1,25VDR_{mem}$, and the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$. This hypothesis was also supported as both low EC Ca^{2+} and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ were found to stimulate PHF release and did so to a greater extent in parathyroid tissue derived from SHR animals. As well, expression of the CaR and $1,25VDR_{mem}$ were increased in SHR parathyroid cells whereas expression of the classical $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ was unchanged. These studies should stimulate research into potential antagonists of PHF secretion for application in hypertension, and possibly other

conditions in which plasma PHF is inappropriately elevated.

6.2 Abnormalities in SHR parathyroid cells

One of the few previous studies to address abnormalities in SHR parathyroid proliferation showed that PTG derived from SHR animals had a greater wet weight than glands derived from their genetic control, WKY rats (7). The authors suggested that the glands were enlarged due to hyperplasia rather than hypertrophy; however there was no direct examination of parathyroid cell biology. Here, the growth features of primary parathyroid cell cultures derived from SHR and WKY rats were characterized. The results of these studies showed that SHR parathyroid cells proliferated at a much faster rate and to a greater saturation density than WKY parathyroid cells. Furthermore, they exhibited slightly reduced apoptosis during normal growth conditions, but no change in apoptosis induced by serum starvation versus WKY parathyroid cells.

These results bring up the important question of whether SHR parathyroid cells exhibit a pre-cancerous phenotype. There are several features which suggest that these cells indeed are transformed. The higher proliferation rates and lower death rate under normal culture conditions are two features. Another is the reduced contact-inhibition in SHR parathyroid cells indicated by the higher saturation density achieved in culture. Finally, the increased breakdown of the dye WST-1 by the metabolic respiratory enzymes in SHR parathyroid cells suggests an increased basal metabolic rate of these cells and progression towards a cancerous phenotype. However, there are also several lines of evidence which indicate that these cells are not completely transformed. First, the cells

are not immortal and will die after existing at saturation density for approximately one week. As well, the calculated doubling time of SHR parathyroid cells, although somewhat comparable with the hyperplastic clonal rat parathyroid (PT-r) cell lines (8), was greater than would be expected from a fully transformed cancerous cell line. Finally, the primary hyperparathyroidism associated with low-renin hypertension is mostly characterized by benign parathyroid hyperplasia. Reports of parathyroid carcinoma in low-renin hypertension would be expected to occur more frequently if the parathyroid cells were indeed cancerous.

This also brings up the important question of whether the defect in the SHR parathyroid is primary or secondary in nature. That is, are the abnormalities in the SHR PTG due to some genetic mutation(s) or arising as a response to shifts in plasma regulators of PTG activity? Because an enhanced proliferation rate was retained even after several passages of SHR parathyroid cells in culture, despite exposure to normal serum and normal concentrations of EC Ca²⁺, the defect must represent some permanent cellular feature. Persistent alterations in certain cellular features and proteins may be expected to exist in SHR parathyroid cells for a relatively short period of time, depending on the growth rate of primary cultured cells. However, once the cell population is largely composed of cells "born" *in vitro*, it is less likely that these alterations in cellular proteins which are seen *in vivo* would be upheld unless there is some genetic basis for the parathyroid defects. In the case of enhanced SHR parathyroid proliferation therefore, activation of an oncogene or mutation of a tumor suppressor gene may be expected.

The genetic abnormalities of the SHR parathyroid have been examined by Tremblay et al (9). RNA from SHR parathyroid cells was screened using degenerate

primers generated from a putative amino acid sequence of PHF. A sequence was ultimately cloned and identified and named hypertension-related calcium-regulated gene (HCaRG) based on the observations that it was elevated in a subset of SHR tissues and negatively regulated by EC Ca²⁺. HCaRG protein was shown to possess both EF-hand and nuclear receptor binding motifs and was localized to nuclei prompting the authors to conclude that HCaRG may be a transcription factor. A role for HCaRG in proliferation has been suggested based on a negative relationship between inhibition of cell proliferation in HCaRG-transfected HEK293 cells, decreased HCaRG mRNA in the compensatory proliferation of kidney epithelial cells after ischemia-reperfusion, and decreased HCaRG in cancer cell lines and developmental tissues. Whether HCaRG plays an active role in suppression of proliferation or is merely downregulated in association with proliferation under physiological conditions in parathyroid cells is unknown. In parathyroid tissue specifically, HCaRG protein has been reported to be increased in SHR. However, since elevated proliferation of SHR parathyroid cells is reported here and the SHR and WKY parathyroid cell culture model used by Tremblay et al was the same one used in my studies, one would expect a decrease in SHR parathyroid HCaRG. Since this is apparently not the case, it is possible that HCaRG may be elevated in the SHR PTG as part of a compensatory response to an already enhanced growth rate. Clearly, more work needs to be done to elucidate the function of HCaRG in the PTG and the role of HCaRG in hypertension.

The discovery of "novel" cells in the SHR PTG (10) also raised many questions such as whether these cells represent areas of hyperplasia. The nuclear morphology of novel cells is consistent with a transformed phenotype and the fact that these cells were

arranged in clusters is suggestive of parathyroid hyperplasia being localized to novel cells. This question could be addressed by performing immunohistochemistry for cell proliferating antigens, such as proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), Ki-67 or others, with the hypothesis that staining would be greater in novel cells. Unfortunately, this is not possible since novel cells can only be visualized with stains, such as hemotoxylin and eosin, which are incompatible with immunohistochemistry.

6.3 Is PHF a hormone?

PHF has, up until recently, only been detected in hypertensive models such as SHR (11), Dahl-SS, and DOCA-NaCl rats (12, 13), as well as in hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid (14) and low-renin hypertensive patients (15). However, development of the ELISA for PHF detection in human plasma has substantially improved the limit of detection and sensitivity for PHF quantification over the previous blood pressure bioassay method of determination of PHF levels. This has enabled detection of PHF in plasma samples of normotensive humans. The data reported here have also shown that parathyroid cell and organ cultures derived from normotensive WKY rats secrete PHF. These recent findings have the important implication that PHF may be a hormone.

There has been much speculation on the putative physiological role of PHF. The suggestion has been made that PHF represents the only known circulating regulator of steady-state intracellular Ca^{2+} levels (16). That is, PHF is a hormone which is released in response to reduced plasma Ca^{2+} and functions to increase availability of Ca^{2+} to all cells during hypocalcemia. Given the vast importance of Ca^{2+} in cellular functions, it's not

surprising that a system for conserving intracellular Ca^{2+} in the face of hypocalcemia would have evolved along with a system for conserving EC Ca^{2+} . The PTG would then have a more global function in the regulation of Ca^{2+} metabolism which would apply not only to EC Ca^{2+} , but also to cytosolic Ca^{2+} .

A second possible physiological role for PHF was postulated in the PhD thesis of Richard Lewanczuk (17). Given that PHF has relatively acute pressor activity, it is possible that PHF may play a role in the maintenance of adequate blood pressure in conditions associated with hypotension, such as circulatory shock. The rationale for this hypothesis is that hypocalcemia and elevated plasma PTH, two features which are often accompanied by elevated PHF, are described in patients with circulatory shock (18).

6.4 PHF release characteristics

As mentioned above, the SHR PTG contains clusters of novel cells. However, it is not known whether these cells represent sites of synthesis and/or secretion of PHF. Unfortunately, since the structure of PHF is unknown, the only available method for localizing PHF involves immunocytochemistry which is not compatible with novel cell identification techniques. Certainly the correlation of the percentage of these cells in parathyroid tissue with plasma PHF levels in the SHR suggests that they may indeed represent the PHF-producing cells. However, since WKY parathyroid cells were shown to secrete PHF in this study, the lack of novel cells in WKY would argue against this cell type as the PHF-releasing cell. It is probably more likely that most parathyroid cells secrete PHF at a basal or physiological rate, and novel cells simply secrete PHF more aggressively. Abnormalities in PHF release by novel cells of the SHR PTG would be expected if novel cells were indeed the hyperplastic parathyroid cells as suggested above.

PHF release also displayed some features which suggested a relationship with cell cycle. During the low density phase of cell growth, both WKY and SHR parathyroid cells secreted PHF at a low basal level in normal EC Ca^{2+} media which was not correlated with cell number. However, exposure of the cells to low EC Ca^{2+} resulted in a PHF secretion pattern which was inversely related to cell number. As the cell population grew, this inverse pattern changed to a direct positive correlation of PHF with cell number. This may indicate that PHF release may be not be a priority during proliferation, however when the cells become quiescent, more energy may be devoted to secretory functions.

Another consistent observation with respect to PHF release was rapid responses to various regulators. EC Ca²⁺ and 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ rapidly inhibited secretion, whereas 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ rapidly stimulated secretion. Furthermore, the lack of an effect for the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} agonist, BT, suggests that 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ does not transcriptionally regulate synthesis of PHF and only affects PHF secretion during post-transcriptional or post-translational phases. Sub-acute (i.e. greater than 24 hours exposure) effects on PHF release were also not observed for EC Ca²⁺, suggesting that low EC Ca²⁺ rapidly stimulates release of pre-synthesized/stored PHF. If the release characteristics of PHF are similar to PTH, which exhibits a transit time through the secretory pathway of approximately 30 minutes (19, 20), then the effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and 24,25-(OH)₂D₃, and probably also EC Ca²⁺, are post-translational and therefore non-genomic.

6.5 Regulation by EC Ca^{2+}

Dispersed bovine parathyroid cells in culture have been shown to be unresponsive to regulation by EC Ca²⁺ due to the disappearance of the CaR (21). However, long-term retention of regulation by EC Ca²⁺ has been reported in both rat and human parathyroid cell culture systems (22-24). In the human parathyroid cells, expression of the CaR was also retained. These findings are consistent with the data presented here in which continuous SHR and WKY parathyroid sub-cultures maintained both regulation by EC Ca²⁺ and expression of the CaR. The CaR appeared to be functional and responsible for transducing the effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release. In addition, the data suggested that there may be at least two distinct post-CaR signaling pathways: one mediating low EC Ca²⁺ stimulation of PHF release, the other mediating high EC Ca²⁺ suppression of PHF release. Since low EC Ca²⁺ was associated with enhanced PHF release in SHR intact PTG organ cultures, and the CaR protein is elevated in SHR parathyroid cells, it is possible that the low EC Ca²⁺-activated post-CaR signaling pathway is the most active in regulating PHF secretion in SHR PTG.

A relationship between the cell density in culture and expression of the CaR was also observed for both SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. High cell density cultures, which represented the plateau cell density and therefore can be expected to be composed of a greater proportion of quiescent (non-proliferating) cells than lower density cultures, were associated with increased CaR protein expression. Another way to view this result is that lower density populations of proliferating cells have reduced expression of the CaR protein. This is consistent with *in vivo* observations in hyperparathyroidism which suggest downregulation of the CaR in association with proliferation in the parathyroid

(25). Since EC Ca²⁺ was shown to play a role in either inducing or enhancing cell death at higher cell densities in the system used here, it would be completely appropriate to have increased CaR expression with increased cell density. The relevance of this finding to the *in vivo* situation however, is not known. Hypocalcemia can stimulate increased parathyroid cell proliferation *in vivo* (23, 26-28), however, there have been no reports of EC Ca²⁺ directly inducing/enhancing parathyroid cell death. None-the-less, the fact that differences in CaR protein expression are observed between the two strains (increased in SHR versus WKY parathyroid cells) suggests that our cell culture system may still reflect the *in vivo* characteristics of parathyroid cells which pertain to the CaR and EC Ca²⁺.

The significance of these studies in low-renin hypertension is the confirmation of direct, CaR-mediated effects of EC Ca²⁺ on PHF release. The observation of EC Ca²⁺- regulation of PHF secretion in parathyroid tissue derived from not only hypertensive, but also normotensive rats indicates a physiological role for EC Ca²⁺ in control of PHF release. As well, these studies are the first report of an inverse relationship between proliferation and parathyroid expression of the CaR. Finally, increased expression of the CaR in the SHR and the observation of an enhanced PHF response to stimulation by low EC Ca²⁺ may indicate that suppressed plasma Ca²⁺ is an important contributor to the elevated plasma PHF in the SHR. CaR modulators that suppress the low EC Ca²⁺ induced inhibition of PHF secretion may then be useful therapeutic agents in low-renin hypertension. An attempt was made to obtain the calcimimetics NPS-R467 and NPS-R568, however they were unavailable for use in basic research. These compounds have proven useful in the treatment of secondary hyperparathyroidism of

chronic renal failure (29).

6.6 Regulation by vitamin D3 metabolites

SHR parathyroid cells were shown to be more sensitive to regulation by 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ and less sensitive to regulation by 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ than WKY parathyroid cells with respect to PHF secretion. Since both metabolites were shown to exhibit rapid effects on PHF release, it is likely that the effects are transduced through the newly described steroid plasma membrane receptors, 1,25VDR_{mem} (5) and 24,25VDR_{mem} (30). If this were the case, increased levels of the 1,25VDR_{mem} and decreased levels of the 24,25VDR_{mem} would be one way to account for the differences in the magnitude of the response to vitamin D3 metabolites between SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. In this study, the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} agonist BT had no effect on PHF release suggesting a possible 1.25VDR_{mem}-dependent mechanism of action for stimulation of PHF release by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$. Furthermore, the $1,25VDR_{mem}$ was shown to be increased in SHR parathyroid cells. Although $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ is known to upregulate the $1,25VDR_{nuc}$ in parathyroid tissue, the effects on the 1,25VDR_{mem} are unknown (31). Expression of the 24,25VDR_{mem} in parathyroid cells has not been examined and to our knowledge, an antibody to the 24,25VDR_{mem} has yet to be developed. Therefore whether the parathyroid cells of SHR and WKY rats differentially express the 24,25VDR_{mem} is unknown. As well, whether the effects of 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ are mediated by a 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ receptor or a specific 24,25-(OH)₂D₃ receptor, or possibly through a receptor-independent mechanism, remains to be determined.

 $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was also shown to exert uncharacteristic effects on cultured SHR and WKY parathyroid cell viability. The classical effect of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on parathyroid tissue is suppression of proliferation (32), however, rather than the expected inhibition of a cell number increase, exposure to 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ for 48 hours was associated with an increase in the number of viable parathyroid cells. An increase in the parathyroid cell number may be due to either increased parathyroid cell proliferation or decreased parathyroid cell death. Since 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ has well known anti-proliferative effects on parathyroid cells, it is unlikely that the increase in parathyroid cell number seen here is due to increased proliferation. More likely is that the actions of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ may be viewed as "putting on the brakes" on proliferation and preventing overgrowth and high density-induced cell death. In this view, significant anti-cell death effects of 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ can be viewed after a short period of time in populations which are undergoing a great deal of growth and are either in a high density condition for a short period of time, or after a longer period of time, in cultures that are approaching a high density condition. This would explain why effects were observed in the rapidly proliferating higher density SHR and WKY parathyroid cultures after only 4 hours exposure, and in both SHR and WKY low and intermediate density cultures after 48 hours exposure. This theory is also consistent with the observation that inhibition of proliferation with cytosine-arabinoside prevented the effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$. Unlike the effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on PHF release, the effect of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ on parathyroid cell viability appeared to involve the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc} as the analog BT was capable of exerting similar effects on parathyroid cell viability.

The importance of the studies involving vitamin D3 metabolites comes from not

only the identification of two physiological regulators of PHF release, but the observation of abnormal regulation by these regulators in SHR parathyroid cells. Since plasma PHF is also elevated in human low-renin hypertensive patients (15) and hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients (14), it is possible that vitamin D3 metabolites may play a role in regulation of PHF secretion in these conditions as well. Furthermore the discovery of altered protein expression of the 1,25VDR_{mem} and the suggestion of a membranemediated effect for 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ stimulation of PHF secretion opens the door for investigation of the detailed signal transduction pathway and identification of potential sites of therapeutic modulation in hypertension.

6.7 Pathophysiology of PHF in hypertension

Several scenarios may be used to explain pathologically elevated PHF secretion in low-renin hypertension. Assuming that the novel cells indeed represent the PHFsecreting and hyperplastic population of parathyroid cells, the first scenario would involve a mutation in an oncogene, tumor-suppressor gene, or other genes important in the development of the novel cell phenotype. In this situation, the mutation (or mutations) would lead to novel cell development, along with the enhanced capacity to secrete PHF as a major feature of novel cells. Increased novel cell hyperplasia and parathyroid mass would contribute to enhanced maximal PHF secretion thus partially accounting for enhanced PHF release by novel cells. Furthermore, the low EC Ca²⁺ and elevated 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ accompanying low-renin hypertension would be partial contributors to the enhanced PHF release. This scenario is probably not completely accurate since it would mean that a single mutation (or multiple mutations) would result
in a single cell giving rise to monoclonal novel cell growth. However, as shown in Figure 1-2, novel cells are fairly well dispersed throughout the outer regions of the PTG and don't appear to represent areas of massive overgrowth.

A second scenario would involve a greater role for EC Ca^{2+} and vitamin D3 metabolites and perhaps other factors in the development of increased PHF secretory capacity in hypertension. An initial defect in Ca^{2+} handling would lead to suppressed plasma Ca²⁺ and compensatory alterations in the calcium-regulating hormones, such as increased $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$, which would directly stimulate PHF release from normal parathyroid tissue. Suppressed plasma Ca^{2+} and increased 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ may also act in concert to modify parathyroid tissue. For example, EC Ca²⁺ can up-regulate 1,25VDR_{nuc} protein in both chick (33) and rat (34) parathyroid tissue and similarly, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ has been shown to up-regulate CaR protein (35). However, chronic exposure to these conditions would somehow alter the normal PTG causing excessive PHF secretion. This may be accomplished through alterations in key regulatory receptors, such as the CaR, the 1,25VDR_{mem}, and the putative 24,25VDR_{mem}. Alternatively, it is possible that low EC Ca²⁺ and/or 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ may function to stimulate differentiation or transformation of normal parathyroid cells to the novel cell phenotype. $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in particular has been shown to be pro-differentiative for a variety of cell types including keratinocytes (36), chondrocytes (37), osteoclasts (38), and leukemic and other cancer cells (36). However, in light of the results reported in these studies, this scenario cannot account for the retention of EC Ca²⁺- and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃-regulating abnormalities in cultured SHR parathyroid cells. It is probably more likely that enhanced PHF release is ultimately the result of genetic mutations in unknown target genes.

6.8 Clinical implications

The relative importance of hypocalcemia and elevated plasma PTH and 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ in the genesis of low-renin hypertension is not clear. In models of secondary hyperparathyroidism, such as 1,25VDR_{nuc} null mice (39) and rats made vitamin D3deficient, hypocalcemia and hyperparathyroidism develops, but hypertension does not. This would suggest that aberrant parathyroid growth and calcium deficiency alone are not sufficient to induce hypertension. This is not to say that these conditions would not cause or contribute to elevated PHF; plasma PHF levels have not been determined in secondary hyperparathyroid models or patients. It is possible that these patients and experimental models, hypertension does not develop despite elevated plasma PHF due to decreased tissue sensitivity to PHF. The conditions of secondary hyperparathyroidism of chronic renal insufficiency are similar to that observed in the SHR with the notable exception that there are increased plasma levels of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in the young SHR (40, 41), followed by a relative $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ deficiency (42). This may suggest that a spike in 1,25- $(OH)_2D_3$ is important for the pathogenesis of hypertension in the SHR, possibly through modification of the parathyroid and development of novel cells and stimulation of PHF secretion.

If this were indeed the case, suppression of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ synthesis or antagonism of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ at the PTG would be viable therapeutic approaches to treating/preventing low-renin hypertension in early stages of the condition. In this study, $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ was shown to have rapid stimulatory effects on PHF release which were

not mediated by the classical 1,25VDR_{nuc}. Since the 1,25VDR_{mem} mediates rapid effects of $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ in other tissues, and was shown here to be elevated in SHR PTC, it is quite possible, if not likely, that the 1,25VDR_{mem} mediates the rapid stimulation of PHF secretion reported here. Multiple vitamin D3 analogs have been developed, some with exquisite $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ receptor sub-type specificity, which could be potential 1,25VDR_{mem} antagonists (43, 44). Norman et al have established that 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ analogs which exhibit the modified 6-s-trans (bowl-shape) conformation interact with the 1,25VDR_{nuc}, whereas 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ analogs with the planar 6-s-cis conformation interact specifically with the 1,25VDR_{mem} (for review see (45)). An example of an analog which behaves as a antagonist of the non-genomic but not genomic effects of 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ is 1β ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (46). Many of these analogs have also been shown to be non-calcemic, making them ideal for in vivo treatment of conditions with pathological alterations in non-calcium-regulating $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ activity, such as seen in low-renin hypertension. As well, some of these analogs are resistant to metabolism by 24-OHase (47) making them good candidates for *in vivo* use. Limited success has been achieved using non-calcemic 1,25VDR_{nuc} analogs such as 22-oxacalcitriol and calcipotriol for suppression of PTH (48). However, stimulation of PHF release by $1,25-(OH)_2D_3$ appears to occur through a non-1,25VDR_{nuc}-dependent mechanism therefore a different set of vitamin D3 analogs should be examined for antagonistic effects on PHF secretion. Ideal candidates would be non-calcemic analogs which had a high binding affinity and specificity for the 1,25VDR_{mem} but were incapable of inducing rapid responses in parathyroid cells. Clearly more studies will be required to determine whether any of these analogs can alter plasma levels of PHF in experimental models of hypertension.

6.9 Future directions

The potential studies arising from this body of work are endless and may extend in several directions.

Parathyroid expression of cell cycle-related antigens, cell death-associated proteins, oncogenes, or tumor suppressor genes should be examined. Although the CaR would seem to be a good candidate owing to its apparent relationship with cell proliferation, in both primary (parathyroid adenoma, carcinoma, and primary hyperplasias) and secondary hyperparathyroidism (secondary hyperplasias), no somatic mutations in the CaR have been detected (49). However, activating mutations in proto-oncogenes such as PRAD/cyclin D1 in primary hyperparathyroidism have been discovered (49). It is possible that SHR parathyroid cells may have a similar disruption in the cell life/death balance which is related to one or more mutations in pertinent genes. The role of the newly described HCaRG in the SHR parathyroid should also be investigated including potential regulation by EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃.

An obvious direction is the testing of various vitamin D3 analogs and calciumsensing receptor agonists for efficacy in suppressing PHF secretion both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Upon identification of the 1,25VDR_{mem} and the 24,25VDR_{mem} as the key receptors mediating the effects of vitamin D3 metabolites, a variety of analogs which would be predicted to suppress PHF secretion could be tested. Similarly, the CaR agonists NPS-R467 and NPS-R568 should also be examined for PHF-suppressing activity.

As well, the relationship between novel cells and PHF-secreting cells should be

clarified. If novel cells are indeed the PHF-secreting population, the stimuli for development of this cell type should be investigated. A good model in which to examine this relationship would be the Dahl-SS or DOCA-NaCl hypertensive rats as these models have clear "before and after" hypertension phases. For example, could blockage of the vitamin D3 signaling pathway prevent the development of novel cells and enhanced PHF release in these models? As well, elucidation of the genetic sequence of PHF would allow for identification of promoter/regulatory sequences upstream of the PHF gene. In addition, sequence determination may allow many molecular techniques to be performed, some of which may be compatible with novel cell staining technique, which could elucidate whether novel cells are the major parathyroid cell type synthesizing PHF.

Pending the identification of the structure/sequence of PHF, studies should also be performed addressing the effects of EC Ca²⁺ and 1,25-(OH)₂D₃ on PHF synthesis. However, since predominantly rapid effects were observed in our system, it is not clear whether any effects on synthesis can be predicted. None-the-less, these are crucial studies pertaining to the regulation of PHF in both normotension and hypertension as they may allow for identification of regulatory sequences upstream of the PHF gene. Ultimately, obtaining the structure and genetic sequence of PHF will open up many doors and allow more specific information regarding the regulation of PHF to be collected.



Developing SHR

WKY



Figure 6-1—Model for regulation of PHF secretion in SHR and WKY parathyroid cells. Solid lines indicate activation or stimulatory effects and dashed lines indicate inhibitory effects.

6.10 REFERENCES

- 1. **Krylova SM, Pang PK, Shan J, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** 2000 Quantitative determination of parathyroid hypertensive factor by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. American Journal of Hypertension 13:1173-9
- 2. **Krylova SM, Labedz T, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** Generation, characterization, and use of monoclonal antibodies against parathyroid hypertensive factor. Journal of Clinical Chemistry submitted
- 3. Benishin CG, Labedz T, Guo DD, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Identification and purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from organ culture of parathyroid glands from spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:134-40
- 4. **Nemere I, Ray R, McManus W** 2000 Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1, 25(OH)(2)D(3). I. Chick intestine. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology & Metabolism 278:E1104-14
- 5. Nemere I, Schwartz Z, Pedrozo H, Sylvia VL, Dean DD, Boyan BD 1998 Identification of a membrane receptor for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 which mediates rapid activation of protein kinase C. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 13:1353-9
- 6. **Pedrozo HA, Schwartz Z, Rimes S, et al.** 1999 Physiological importance of the 1,25(OH)2D3 membrane receptor and evidence for a membrane receptor specific for 24,25(OH)2D3. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research. 14:856-67
- Merke J, Lucas PA, Szabo A, et al. 1989 Hyperparathyroidism and abnormal calcitriol metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension 13:233-42
- 8. Sakaguchi K, Ikeda K, Curcio F, Aurbach GD, Brandi ML 1990 Subclones of a rat parathyroid cell line (PT-r): regulation of growth and production of parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHRP). Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 5:863-9
- 9. Solban N, Jia HP, Richard S, et al. 2000 HCaRG, a novel calcium-regulated gene coding for a nuclear protein, is potentially involved in the regulation of cell proliferation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275:32234-43
- 10. Kaneko T, Ohtani R, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1989 A novel cell type in the parathyroid glands of spontaneously hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 2:549-52
- 11. **Benishin CG, Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK** 1991 Purification of parathyroid hypertensive factor from plasma of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proceedings

of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:6372-6

- 12. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1991 Parathyroid hypertensive factor is present in DOCA-salt but not two-kidney-one-clip hypertensive rats. American Journal of Hypertension 4:802-5
- 13. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 The occurrence of parathyroid hypertensive factor (PHF) in Dahl rats. American Journal of Hypertension 6:758-62
- 14. Lewanczuk RZ, Pang PK 1993 Expression of parathyroid hypertensive factor in hypertensive primary hyperparathyroid patients. Blood Pressure 2:22-7
- 15. **Resnick LM, Lewanczuk RZ, Laragh JH, Pang PK** 1993 Parathyroid hypertensive factor-like activity in human essential hypertension: relationship to plasma renin activity and dietary salt sensitivity. Journal of Hypertension 11:1235-41
- 16. **Pang PK, Shan JJ, Lewanczuk RZ, Benishin CG** 1996 Parathyroid hypertensive factor and intracellular calcium regulation. Journal of Hypertension 14:1053-60
- 17. Lewanczuk RZ 1992 Evidence for a parathyroid-dependent circulating hypertensive factor and its role in essential hypertension Medical Sciences (Medicine). University of Alberta, Edmonton, p 188
- Zaloga GP 1989 Calcium homeostasis in the critically ill patient. Magnesium 8:190-200
- 19. Habener JF, Amherdt M, Ravazzola M, Orci L 1979 Parathyroid hormone biosynthesis. Correlation of conversion of biosynthetic precursors with intracellular protein migration as determined by electron microscope autoradiography. Journal of Cell Biology 80:715-31
- 20. **Habener JF** 1981 Regulation of parathyroid hormone secretion and biosynthesis. Annual Review of Physiology 43:211-23
- 21. **Mithal A, Kifor O, Kifor I, et al.** 1995 The reduced responsiveness of cultured bovine parathyroid cells to extracellular Ca2+ is associated with marked reduction in the expression of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein. Endocrinology 136:3087-92
- 22. Sakaguchi K, Santora A, Zimering M, Curcio F, Aurbach GD, Brandi ML 1987 Functional epithelial cell line cloned from rat parathyroid glands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84:3269-73
- 23. **Brandi ML, Fitzpatrick LA, Coon HG, Aurbach GD** 1986 Bovine parathyroid cells: cultures maintained for more than 140 population doublings. Proceedings of

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 83:1709-13

- 24. **Roussanne MC, Gogusev J, Hory B, et al.** 1998 Persistence of Ca2+-sensing receptor expression in functionally active, long-term human parathyroid cell cultures. Journal of Bone & Mineral Research 13:354-62
- 25. **Brown AJ, Ritter CS, Finch JL, Slatopolsky EA** 1999 Decreased calciumsensing receptor expression in hyperplastic parathyroid glands of uremic rats: role of dietary phosphate. Kidney International 55:1284-92
- 26. Sakaguchi K 1992 Acidic fibroblast growth factor autocrine system as a mediator of calcium-regulated parathyroid cell growth. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:24554-62
- 27. Naveh-Many T, Rahamimov R, Livni N, Silver J 1995 Parathyroid cell proliferation in normal and chronic renal failure rats. The effects of calcium, phosphate, and vitamin D. Journal of Clinical Investigation 96:1786-93
- 28. Wang Q, Palnitkar S, Parfitt AM 1996 Parathyroid cell proliferation in the rat: effect of age and of phosphate administration and recovery. Endocrinology 137:4558-62
- 29. Olgaard K, Lewin E 2001 Prevention of uremic bone disease using calcimimetic compounds. Annual Review of Medicine 52:203-20
- 30. **Boyan BD, Bonewald LF, Sylvia VL, et al.** 2002 Evidence for distinct membrane receptors for 1 alpha,25-(OH)(2)D(3) and 24R,25-(OH)(2)D(3) in osteoblasts. Steroids. 67:235-46
- 31. Naveh-Many T, Marx R, Keshet E, Pike JW, Silver J 1990 Regulation of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor gene expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the parathyroid in vivo. Journal of Clinical Investigation 86:1968-75
- 32. Nygren P, Larsson R, Johansson H, Ljunghall S, Rastad J, Akerstrom G 1988 1,25(OH)2D3 inhibits hormone secretion and proliferation but not functional dedifferentiation of cultured bovine parathyroid cells. Calcified Tissue International 43:213-8
- 33. **Russell J, Bar A, Sherwood LM, Hurwitz S** 1993 Interaction between calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the regulation of preproparathyroid hormone and vitamin D receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in avian parathyroids. Endocrinology 132:2639-44
- 34. **Brown AJ, Zhong M, Finch J, Ritter C, Slatopolsky E** 1995 The roles of calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the regulation of vitamin D receptor expression by rat parathyroid glands. Endocrinology 136:1419-25
- 35. Brown AJ, Zhong M, Finch J, et al. 1996 Rat calcium-sensing receptor is

regulated by vitamin D but not by calcium. American Journal of Physiology 270:F454-60

- 36. Verstuyf A, Segaert S, Verlinden L, Bouillon R, Mathieu C 2000 Recent developments in the use of vitamin D analogues. Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs 9:443-55
- 37. **Sanchez CP** 2000 Modulation of endochondral bone formation: roles of growth hormone, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and hyperparathyroidism. Pediatric Nephrology 14:646-9
- 38. **Bar-Shavit Z, Teitelbaum SL, Reitsma P, et al.** 1983 Induction of monocytic differentiation and bone resorption by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 80:5907-11
- 39. Kato S, Takeyama K, Kitanaka S, Murayama A, Sekine K, Yoshizawa T 1999 In vivo function of VDR in gene expression-VDR knock-out mice. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology. 69:247-51
- 40. **Kawashima H, Sokabe H** 1986 Altered vitamin D metabolism in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Hypertens Suppl 4:S287-9
- 41. Lau K, Langman CB, Gafter U, Dudeja PK, Brasitus TA 1986 Increased calcium absorption in prehypertensive spontaneously hypertensive rat. Role of serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 levels and intestinal brush border membrane fluidity. J Clin Invest 78:1083-90
- 42. **Bourgouin P, Lucas P, Roullet C, et al.** 1990 Developmental changes of Ca2+, PO4, and calcitriol metabolism in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 259:F104-10
- 43. Norman AW, Ishizuka S, Okamura WH 2001 Ligands for the vitamin D endocrine system: different shapes function as agonists and antagonists for genomic and rapid response receptors or as a ligand for the plasma vitamin D binding protein. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 76:49-59
- 44. **Dormanen MC, Bishop JE, Hammond MW, Okamura WH, Nemere I,** Norman AW 1994 Nonnuclear effects of the steroid hormone 1 alpha,25(OH)2vitamin D3: analogs are able to functionally differentiate between nuclear and membrane receptors. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 201:394-401
- 45. Norman AW, Henry HL, Bishop JE, Song XD, Bula C, Okamura WH 2001 Different shapes of the steroid hormone 1alpha,25(OH)(2)-vitamin D(3) act as agonists for two different receptors in the vitamin D endocrine system to mediate genomic and rapid responses. Steroids 66:147-58
- 46. Norman AW, Bouillon R, Farach-Carson MC, et al. 1993 Demonstration that 1

beta,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is an antagonist of the nongenomic but not genomic biological responses and biological profile of the three A-ring diastereomers of 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268:20022-30

- 47. Uskokovic MR, Norman AW, Manchand PS, et al. 2001 Highly active analogs of 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) that resist metabolism through C-24 oxidation and C-3 epimerization pathways. Steroids 66:463-71
- 48. **Naveh-Many T, Silver J** 1993 Effects of calcitriol, 22-oxacalcitriol, and calcipotriol on serum calcium and parathyroid hormone gene expression. Endocrinology 133:2724-8
- 49. **Hosokawa Y, Pollak MR, Brown EM, Arnold A** 1995 Mutational analysis of the extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene in human parathyroid tumors. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 80:3107-10